

Part No. 15

14 April 2010

Laws and Regulations

Summary

Table of Contents Coming into force of Acts Regulations and other Acts **Draft Regulations** Index

Legal deposit - 1st Quarter 1968 Bibliothèque nationale du Québec © Éditeur officiel du Québec, 2010

All rights reserved in all countries. No part of this publication may be translated, used or reproduced for commercial purposes by any means, whether electronic or mechanical, including micro-reproduction, without the written authorization of the Québec Official Publisher.

NOTICE TO USERS

The Gazette officielle du Québec is the means by which the Québec Government makes its decisions official. It is published in two separate editions under the authority of the Act respecting the Centre de services partagés du Québec (R.S.Q., c. C-8.1.1) and the Regulation respecting the Gazette officielle du Québec (Order in Council 1259-97 dated 24 September 1997), amended by the Regulation to amend the Regulation respecting the Gazette officielle du Québec (Order in Council 264-2004 dated 24 March 2004 (2004, G.O. 2, 1176). Partie 1, entitled "Avis juridiques", is published at least every Saturday. If a Saturday is a legal holiday, the Official Publisher is authorized to publish it on the preceding day or on the following Monday. Partie 2, entitled "Lois et règlements", and the English edition, Part 2 "Laws and Regulations", are published at least every Wednesday. If a Wednesday is a legal holiday, the Official Publisher is authorized to publish tien on the preceding day or on the Thursday following such holiday.

Part 2 – LAWS AND REGULATIONS

Internet

The *Gazette officielle du Québec* Part 2 will be available on the Internet at noon each Wednesday at the following address:

www.publicationsduquebec.gouv.qc.ca

Contents

Part 2 contains:

(1) Acts assented to, before their publication in the annual collection of statutes;

(2) proclamations of Acts;

(3) regulations made by the Government, a minister or a group of ministers and of Government agencies and semipublic agencies described by the Charter of the French language (R.S.Q., c. C-11), which before coming into force must be approved by the Government, a minister or a group of ministers;

(4) decisions of the Conseil du trésor and ministers' orders whose publications in the *Gazette officielle du Québec* is required by law or by the Government;

(5) regulations and rules made by a Government agency which do no require approval by the Government, a minister or a group of ministers to come into force, but whose publication in the *Gazette officielle du Québec* is required by law;

(6) rules of practice made by judicial courts and quasijudicial tribunals;

(7) drafts of the texts mentioned in paragraph 3 whose publication in the *Gazette officielle du Québec* is required by law before their adoption or approval by the Government.

French edition

In addition to the documents referred to in paragraphs 1 to 7 above, the French version of the *Gazette officielle du Québec* contains the orders in council of the Government.

Rates*

1. Annual subscription:

-	Printed version	Internet
Partie 1 "Avis juridiques":	\$185	\$163
Partie 2 "Lois et règlements":	\$253	\$219
Part 2 "Laws and Regulations":	\$253	\$219

2. Acquisition of a printed issue of the *Gazette officielle du Québec*: \$9.54 per copy.

3. Downloading of documents from the Internet version of the *Gazette officielle du Québec* Part 2: \$6.74.

4. Publication of a notice in Partie 1: \$1.29 per agate line.

5. Publication of a notice in Part 2: \$0.85 per agate line. A minimum rate of \$186 is applied, however, in the case of a publication of fewer than 220 agate lines.

* Taxes not included.

General conditions

The Division of the *Gazette officielle du Québec* must receive manuscripts, **at the latest**, **by 11:00 a.m. on the Monday** preceding the week of publication. Requests received after that time will appear in the following edition. All requests must be accompanied by a signed manuscript. In addition, the electronic version of each notice to be published must be provided by e-mail, to the following address: gazette.officielle@cspq.gouv.qc.ca

For information concerning the publication of notices, please call :

Gazette officielle du Québec 1000, route de l'Église, bureau 500 Québec (Québec) G1V 3V9 Telephone: 418 644-7794 Fax: 418 644-7813 Internet: gazette.officielle@cspq.gouv.qc.ca

Subscriptions

Internet: www.publicationsduquebec.gouv.qc.ca

Printed:

Les Publications du Québec

Customer service – Subscriptions 1000, route de l'Église, bureau 500 Québec (Québec) G1V 3V9 Telephone: 418 643-5150 Toll free: 1 800 463-2100

Fax: 418 643-6177 Toll free: 1 800 561-3479

All claims must be reported to us within 20 days of the shipping date.

Page

Table of Contents

Coming into force of Acts

9
9

Regulations and other Acts

295-2010	Real Estate Brokerage Act — Issue of broker's and agency licences	811
296-2010	Real Estate Brokerage Act — Records, books and registers, trust accounting and inspection	
	of brokers and agencies	820
297-2010	Real Estate Brokerage Act — Disciplinary proceedings of the Organisme	
	d'autoréglementation du courtage immobilier du Québec	829
298-2010	Real Estate Brokerage Act — Real Estate Indemnity Fund and determination of	
	the professional liability insurance premium	835
299-2010	Real Estate Brokerage Act — Brokerage requirements, professional conduct of brokers	
	and advertising	837
300-2010	Real Estate Brokerage Act — Contracts and forms	850
301-2010	Real Estate Brokerage Act — Enact transitional measures for the application of the Act	852
303-2010	Ratification of the Agreement on social security between the Gouvernement du Québec and	
	the Government of the Kingdom of Morocco, signed in Rabat on 25 May 2000, and making	
	of the Regulation respecting the implementation of that agreement	857
305-2010	Conservation and development of wildlife, An Act respecting the — Fees to be paid	
	under section 106.6 of the Act (Amend.)	865
318-2010	Labour standards (Amend.)	866
319-2010	Labour standards specific to certain sectors of the clothing industry (Amend.)	867
320-2010	Collective agreement decrees, An Act respecting — Solid waste removal	
	– Montréal (Amend.)	867
321-2010	Collective agreement decrees, An Act respecting — Security guards (Amend.)	868

Draft Regulations

Professional Code — Pharmacists — Professional activities that may be engaged in by persons	
other than pharmacists	871
Transportation services by taxi	872

Coming into force of Acts

Gouvernement du Québec

O.C. 283-2010, 31 March 2010

An Act to amend various legislative provisions concerning pension plans in the public sector (2007, c. 43) — Coming into force of certain provisions of the Act

COMING INTO FORCE of certain provisions of the Act to amend various legislative provisions concerning pension plans in the public sector

WHEREAS the Act to amend various legislative provisions concerning pension plans in the public sector (2007, c. 43) was assented to on 21 December 2007;

WHEREAS, under section 190 of the Act, the Act came into force on 21 December 2007, except

(1) sections 1 to 3, 14 to 16, 18 to 22, 30, 31, 32, 44 to 46, 48 to 52, paragraphs 2 and 3 of section 55 and sections 56, 57, 95, 97, 102, 103, 108, 109, 111 to 113, 118, 122 to 124, 127, 130, 132 to 134, 136 to 139, 141 to 143, 155, 156 and 166, which came into force on 1 January 2008;

(2) sections 84 and 85, which came into force on 1 January 2009;

(3) sections 4, 6 to 9, 11, 13, 23 to 25, paragraph 2 of section 26, sections 27 to 29, 33 to 37, paragraph 2 of section 39, sections 40, 41, 53, 54, 59 to 64, 68, 71, 75, 76, paragraph 2 of section 77, sections 80, 81, paragraphs 2 to 4 of section 82, sections 83, 89 to 91, 94, 98, 100, 101, 104 to 107, 110, 115, 117, 119 to 121, 125, 126, 128, 129, 140, 144 to 153, paragraph 2 of section 154, and sections 157 to 161 and 167 to 170, which come into force on the date or dates to be set by the Government;

WHEREAS Order in Council 301-2008 dated 2 April 2008 set 2 April 2008 as the date of coming into force of sections 40, 81 and 158 of the Act;

WHEREAS Order in Council 394-2008 dated 23 April 2008 set 7 May 2008 as the date of coming into force of sections 7, 9, 11, 33, 34, 36, paragraph 2 of section 39 to the extent it concerns paragraph 7.3.2, sections 59 to 62, paragraph 2 of section 82, sections 104 to 107, 110, 117, 119 to 121, 128, 144 to 147 and paragraph 1 of section 159 of the Act;

WHEREAS it is expedient to set the date of coming into force of certain other provisions of the Act;

IT IS ORDERED, therefore, on the recommendation of the Minister responsible for Government Administration and Chair of the Conseil du trésor:

THAT 1 April 2010 be set as the date of coming into force of sections 4, 13, 23, 24, 27 to 29, 53, 54, 68, 75, 76, 89, 94, 98, 100, 101, 115, 125, 126, 129, 140, 150, 151, 160 and 169 of the Act to amend various legislative provisions concerning pension plans in the public sector (2007, c. 43);

THAT 7 June 2010 be set as the date of coming into force of sections 6, 8, 25, paragraph 2 of section 26, sections 35, 37, paragraph 2 of section 39 to the extent it concerns paragraph 7.3.1 of section 130 of the Act respecting the Pension Plan of Peace Officers in Correctional Services, sections 41, 63, 64, 71, paragraph 2 of section 77, section 80, paragraphs 3 and 4 of section 82 and sections 83, 90, 91, 148, 149, 152, 153, paragraph 2 of section 154, section 157, paragraph 2 of section 159 and sections 161, 167, 168 and 170 of the Act to amend various legislative provisions concerning pension plans in the public sector.

GÉRARD BIBEAU, Clerk of the Conseil exécutif

9755

Gouvernement du Québec

O.C. 294-2010, 31 March 2010

Real Estate Brokerage Act (2008, c. 9) An Act to amend the Securities Act and other legislative provisions (2009, c. 25) An Act to amend various legislative provisions principally to tighten the regulation of the financial sector (2009, c. 58) — Coming into force of certain provisions

COMING INTO FORCE of certain provisions of the Real Estate Brokerage Act (2008, c. 9) and certain provisions of the Act to amend the Securities Act and other legislative provisions (2009, c. 25), as well as the Act to amend various legislative provisions principally to tighten the regulation of the financial sector (2009, c. 58) WHEREAS the Real Estate Brokerage Act (2008, c. 9) was assented to on 28 May 2008;

WHEREAS, under section 162 of the Act, the provisions of the Act come into force on the date or dates set by the Government;

WHEREAS it is expedient that the provisions of the Act come into force on 1 May 2010, except paragraph 14 of section 3, section 129 and the second paragraph of section 161;

WHEREAS the Act to amend the Securities Act and other legislative provisions (2009, c. 25) was assented to on 17 June 2009;

WHEREAS, under section 137 of that Act, the provisions of the Act come into force on 17 June 2009, except sections 1 to 3, 5, 6, 8 to 32, 34 to 46, 48 to 58, 60, 62, 63, 65 to 75, 77, 79 to 113 and 115 to 135, which come into force on the date or dates to be set by the Government;

WHEREAS, by Order in Council 961-2009 dated 2 September 2009, sections 1 to 3, 5, 8 to 32, 34 to 46, 52 to 58, 60, 62, 63, 65 to 75, 77, 79 to 104, 106 to 112, 115 and 117 to 135 of that Act came into force on 28 September 2009;

WHEREAS it is expedient that section 113 of that Act come into force on 1 May 2010;

WHEREAS the Act to amend various legislative provisions principally to tighten the regulation of the financial sector (2009, c. 58) was assented to on 4 December 2009;

WHEREAS, under section 187 of that Act, the Act comes into force on 4 December 2009, except sections 28 to 31, which came into force on 1 January 2010, and paragraph 1 of section 5, section 13, section 18 to the extent that it enacts the second paragraph of section 40.2.1 of the Deposit Insurance Act (R.S.Q., c. A-26), sections 75, 91, 92, 100, 111, paragraph 2 of section 138 and sections 139 to 153, 158, 159 and 177, which come into force on the date or dates to be set by the Government;

WHEREAS it is expedient that sections 139 to 153 of that Act come into force on 1 May 2010;

IT IS ORDERED, therefore, on the recommendation of the Minister of Finance:

THAT the provisions of the Real Estate Brokerage Act (2008, c. 9), except paragraph 14 of section 3, section 129 and the second paragraph of section 161 of the Act, as well as section 113 of the Act to amend the Securities Act and other legislative provisions (2009, c. 25) and sections 139 to 153 of the Act to amend various legislative provision principally to tighten the regulation of the financial sector (2009, c. 58) come into force on 1 May 2010.

GÉRARD BIBEAU, Clerk of the Conseil exécutif

9756

Regulations and other Acts

Gouvernement du Québec

O.C. 295-2010, 31 March 2010

Real Estate Brokerage Act (2008, c. 9)

Issue of broker's and agency licences

Regulation respecting the issue of broker's and agency licences

WHEREAS section 7 of the Real Estate Brokerage Act (2008, c. 9) provides that the Organisme d'autoréglementation du courtage immobilier du Québec (the Organization) determines, by regulation, the period for which a broker, when new to the occupation, must carry on brokerage activities for an agency before the broker may work for the broker's own account or become an executive officer of an agency;

WHEREAS section 9 of the Act provides that the Organization determines, by regulation, the conditions permitting a broker to have the suspension of the broker's licence lifted;

WHEREAS section 42 of the Act, amended by section 142 of chapter 58 of the Statutes of 2009, provides that the Organization determines, by regulation, the operating rules of the committee to which the Organization delegates its functions and powers, and the rules concerning decision-making;

WHEREAS section 44.1 of the Act, enacted by section 144 of chapter 58 of the Statutes of 2009, provides that the Organization determines, by regulation, the terms and conditions for making public decisions of the Organization to suspend or revoke a licence or to impose conditions or restrictions on a licence;

WHEREAS paragraph 1 of section 46 of the Act provides that, in addition to its regulatory powers under the Act, the Organization may determine, by regulation, rules governing the training required to become a broker and the examinations to be taken by prospective brokers; WHEREAS paragraph 2 of section 46 of the Act, amended by paragraph 1 of section 145 of chapter 58 of the Statutes of 2009, provides that, in addition to its regulatory powers under the Act, the Organization may determine, by regulation, rules governing additional training and the specific circumstances under which such training is compulsory for all or some of an agency's brokers or executive officers;

WHEREAS paragraphs 3, 4, 6, 7, 11 and 12 of section 46 of the Act provide that, in addition to its regulatory powers under the Act, the Organization may determine, by regulation, the terms and conditions governing the issue, suspension or revocation of a licence, and the cases in which restrictions or conditions may be imposed on a licence, the licence fees to be paid, the information and documents to be provided by a prospective broker, a broker or an agency, the particulars a licence must contain, the brokerage transactions that, with special authorization, may be engaged in occasionally or from time to time, the persons, partnerships or groups of persons or partnerships, other than brokers and agencies, that may engage in such transactions and the terms and conditions governing and the fees chargeable for such transactions, and the qualifications required of executive officers of an agency;

WHEREAS, in accordance with sections 10 and 11 of the Regulations Act (R.S.Q., c. R-18.1), a draft of the Regulation respecting the issue of broker's and agency licences was published in Part 2 of the *Gazette officielle du Québec* of 13 January 2010 with a notice that it could be submitted to the Government for approval on the expiry of 45 days following that publication;

WHEREAS it is expedient to approve the Regulation with amendments in order to clarify certain regulatory provisions or correct references;

IT IS ORDERED, therefore, on the recommendation of the Minister of Finance:

THAT the Regulation respecting the issue of broker's and agency licences, attached to this Order in Council, be approved.

GÉRARD BIBEAU, Clerk of the Conseil exécutif

Part 2

Regulation respecting the issue of broker's and agency licences

Real Estate Brokerage Act (S.Q. 2008, c. 9, ss. 7, 9, 42, 44.1, and 46, pars. 1 to 4, 6, 7, 11 and 12; 2009, c. 58, ss. 142, 144 and 145)

CHAPTER I

BROKER'S AND AGENCY LICENCES

DIVISION I TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR LICENCE ISSUE

§1. Real estate and mortgage broker's licences

1. A real estate or mortgage broker's licence is issued to a natural person at least 18 years of age who makes an application to that effect to the Organisme d'auto-réglementation du courtage immobilier du Québec (the "Organization") and, in addition to meeting the requirements set out in the Real Estate Brokerage Act (2008, c. 9),

(1) is a Canadian citizen, has the status of permanent resident or has a work permit issued by Canadian immigration authorities;

(2) has passed the examination under Division VII, no more than 12 months before the licence application;

(3) if applicable, has passed all the courses or completed all the training programs required by the inspection committee under the third paragraph of section 75 of the Real Estate Brokerage Act or by the discipline committee under subparagraph 7 of the first paragraph of section 98 of that Act, or taken as a consequence of a voluntary commitment on the person's part;

(4) has demonstrated a working knowledge of the official language of Québec in accordance with section 35 of the Charter of the French language (R.S.Q., c. C-11), or meets one of the following requirements that apply to knowledge of French:

(a) has passed the examination referred to in subparagraph 2, in French;

(b) has received, full time, not less than three years of secondary or post-secondary instruction in French; or

(c) has passed the fourth or fifth year secondarylevel examinations in French as a first language;

(5) has paid all fees required under this Regulation, all amounts payable to the insurance fund and the fee to be paid into the Real Estate Indemnity Fund; (6) if applicable, has reimbursed the Organization for any indemnity amount paid pursuant to a decision of the indemnity committee concerning the person;

(7) if applicable, has not failed to comply with an order of the discipline committee or court made in connection with a disciplinary action or a remedy referred to in sections 35 and 128 of the Real Estate Brokerage Act, or has not failed to pay any fine and any interest, costs and charges owing to the Organization pursuant to a decision of the discipline committee or a judgment;

(8) if applicable, has remitted, where applicable, the sum of money to the person or partnership entitled to it, in compliance with a final judgment imposing such a penalty under subparagraph 4 of the first paragraph of section 98 of the Real Estate Brokerage Act; and

(9) if applicable, has paid every sum of money to the party to whom it is owing as a consequence of a commitment entered into during mediation or conciliation, or an arbitration award, pursuant to section 34 of the Real Estate Brokerage Act.

A person who applies for a broker's licence within 12 months after the date of a licence revocation or suspension is exempted from the requirements of subparagraphs 2 and 4 of the first paragraph if the person has completed all additional training required by the Organization since that date.

A person who applies for a real estate broker's licence within three years after his or her real estate broker's licence is replaced by a mortgage broker's licence or a real estate broker's licence with a restriction described in section 2 or after the revocation of the real estate broker's licence and who, following the revocation, held a mortgage broker's licence or a real estate broker's licence with a restriction, is also exempted from the requirements of subparagraphs 2 and 4 of the first paragraph provided that, following the replacement or revocation, the licence has not been revoked or suspended for a period of 12 months or more and the person has completed all additional training required by the Organization of holders of a real estate broker's licence.

2. A real estate broker's licence may be restricted

- (1) to residential brokerage; or
- (2) to commercial brokerage.

A restricted licence is issued to a natural person who makes a licence application in accordance with section 1 and passes the required examination prepared by the Organization for the particular restriction. A licence holder who passes the required examination may have the restricted licence modified to include a second restriction or to have it become a real estate broker's licence with no restriction.

3. A real estate broker's licence restricted to residential brokerage authorizes its holder to act as an intermediary for the purchase, sale, lease or exchange of

(1) part or all of a chiefly residential immovable comprising less than five dwellings, or a vacant residential lot; and

(2) a fraction of a residential immovable that is the subject of an agreement or declaration under articles 1009 to 1109 of the Civil Code.

The licence also authorizes its holder to give a client the name and contact information of a person or partnership offering loans secured by immovable hypothec or to otherwise put them in contact with one another.

4. A real estate broker's licence restricted to commercial brokerage authorizes its holder

(1) to engage in the brokerage activities described in subparagraphs 1, 2 and 3 of the first paragraph of section 1 of the Real Estate Brokerage Act, including activities involving a vacant commercial lot, but excluding activities involving a chiefly residential immovable comprising less than five dwellings, or a vacant residential lot or a fraction of a residential immovable that is the subject of an agreement or declaration under articles 1009 to 1109 of the Civil Code;

(2) to engage in the brokerage activities described in subparagraph 5 of the first paragraph of section 1 of the Real Estate Brokerage Act; and

(3) to give a client the name and contact information of a person or partnership offering loans secured by immovable hypothec or to otherwise put them in contact with one another.

5. A broker's licence application must be filed with the following information and documents pertaining to the prospective broker if they are not already in the Organization's possession:

(1) if the prospective broker is a Canadian citizen, his or her act or certificate of birth or Canadian Citizenship Certificate; (2) if the prospective broker is not a Canadian citizen, the document issued by Canadian immigration authorities attesting status of permanent resident, or the work permit issued by those authorities;

(3) the address of his or her establishment, including postal code, telephone and fax numbers and those of other communication devices and, if any, e-mail and website addresses. In the absence of an e-mail address, the applicant must ask the Organization to furnish one;

(4) the prospective broker's domicile address including postal code and telephone number;

(5) unless the prospective broker has passed the examination referred to in subparagraph a of subparagraph 4 of the first paragraph of section 1 in French, documents showing the applicant meets one of the requirements of subparagraph 4;

(6) a colour photograph taken not more than six months preceding the application, on a white background showing the person from the shoulders up and with the face uncovered, submitted using any medium enabling the date on which it was taken to be ascertained;

(7) the name and licence number of the agency for which the prospective broker undertakes to carry on brokerage activities or, if applicable, a mention that the prospective broker will be carrying on activities for his or her own account;

(8) where applicable, a document from the executive officer of the agency for which the prospective broker will be carrying on brokerage activities to the effect that the agency undertakes to employ or authorize the person to act for the agency once he or she has been licensed;

(9) if the prospective broker has held a licence that has been revoked, suspended or made subject to restrictions or conditions by the discipline committee or by a body in Québec responsible for overseeing and monitoring real estate brokerage, or by such a body in another province or State, the relevant documents;

(10) if the prospective broker has made an assignment of property or has been placed under a receiving order pursuant to the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act (R.S.C. 1985, c. B-3), the relevant documents;

(11) if the prospective broker has previously been convicted by a court of, or has pleaded guilty to, an offence or act, the relevant documents; and

(12) if the prospective broker has been assigned a tutor, curator or adviser, the relevant documents.

§2. Real estate and mortgage broker agency licences

6. A real estate agency licence or a mortgage broker agency licence is issued by the Organization to a person or partnership making an application to that effect if, in addition to meeting the requirements set out in the Real Estate Brokerage Act,

(1) in the case of a natural person, the person holds a real estate broker's licence or a mortgage broker's licence, and acts as the executive officer of the agency;

(2) the directors or executive officers of the agency have passed all courses or completed all other training programs required by the inspection or discipline committee or taken as a consequence of a voluntary commitment on their part;

(3) the executive officer has the qualifications required to act in that capacity;

(4) if applicable, all fees required under this Regulation and all amounts owing to the insurance fund and the fee to be paid into the Real Estate Indemnity Fund have been paid;

(5) the person or partnership, and each of its partners in the case of a partnership or directors in the case of a legal person,

(a) has reimbursed the Organization for any indemnity amount paid pursuant to a decision of the indemnity committee concerning them;

(b) has not failed to respect an order of the discipline committee or court made in connection with a disciplinary action or a remedy referred to in sections 35 and 128 of the Real Estate Brokerage Act, or has not failed to pay any fine and any interest, costs and charges owing to the Organization pursuant to a decision of the discipline committee or a judgment;

(c) where applicable, has remitted the sum of money to the person or partnership entitled to it, in compliance with a final judgment imposing such a penalty under subparagraph 4 of the first paragraph of section 98 of the Real Estate Brokerage Act; and

(d) has paid every sum of money to the party to whom it is owing as a consequence of a commitment entered into during mediation or conciliation or an arbitration award, pursuant to section 34 of the Real Estate Brokerage Act. **7.** An agency licence application must be filed with the following information and documents pertaining to the applicant if they are not already in the Organization's possession:

(1) the name of the person or partnership and, in the case of a natural person, the person's broker's licence number;

(2) the name under which the agency will be carrying on brokerage activities, which name must not suggest that the agency has not been licensed by the Organization;

(3) the address of the applicant's principal establishment and other establishments, if any, including postal code, telephone and fax numbers and those of other communication devices, and e-mail and website addresses;

(4) a statement of the current information on the person or partnership as published in the register of sole proprietorships, partnerships and legal persons;

(5) in the case of a legal person or a partnership, the name of the agency's executive officer and his or her broker's licence number;

(6) the names of the brokers through whom the applicant will be carrying on brokerage activities;

(7) if the applicant has already held a licence that has been revoked, suspended or made subject to restrictions or conditions by the discipline committee or by a body in Québec responsible for overseeing and monitoring real estate brokerage, or by such a body in another province or State, the relevant documents;

(8) if the applicant has made an assignment of property or has been placed under a receiving order pursuant to the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act, the relevant documents;

(9) if the applicant has previously been convicted by a court of or has pleaded guilty to an offence or act, the relevant documents; and

(10) if the applicant has been assigned a tutor, curator or adviser, the relevant documents.

§3. Special provisions applying to applications

8. A licence application is considered to be received only once all the information and documents required by this Division have been furnished along with all fees payable.

9. An application for the issue of a licence made within three years after a decision under section 37 or 38 of the Real Estate Brokerage Act must set out new facts that may warrant a different decision.

DIVISION II

UPDATING OF INFORMATION AND LICENCE PARTICULARS

10. A licence holder must send any change in information or in a document required by the Real Estate Brokerage Act or this Regulation to the Organization without delay.

In addition, within 10 days of becoming aware of it, a licence holder must inform the Organization of any professional liability claim filed with the holder's insurer, and inform the Organization without delay of any notice of loss the holder files with the insurer in relation to professional liability.

11. A licence holder must reply to any request regarding the updating of information concerning the holder within the time and according to the terms and conditions set by the Organization.

12. Five years after an application has been made and every five years thereafter, a holder of a broker's licence must send the Organization a new photograph dated not more than six months previous using a medium enabling the date on which it was taken to be ascertained. A broker's licence bears the most recent photograph furnished by its holder.

13. A licence contains the following particulars:

(1) the name of the licence holder;

(2) the licence number and date of issue;

(3) a mention that the holder is a real estate or mortgage broker agency or a real estate or mortgage broker;

(4) the licence restrictions under section 2 of this Regulation, if any;

(5) the name of the agency for which the broker carries on activities, if applicable;

(6) the address and telephone number of the licence holder's establishment;

(7) a mention that the broker is certified to be an agency executive officer, if applicable.

At the request of the holder, the licence may specify the name by which the applicant is commonly known but in that case, the holder must have supplied the Organization with a sworn declaration to the effect that the name is generally known in the holder's professional and social life, or any other document establishing that fact.

DIVISION III

LICENCE SUSPENSION AND REVOCATION

14. The licence of a broker who may not carry on activities for his or her own account is suspended if,

(1) the licence of the agency for which the broker carries on activities is suspended or revoked; or

(2) the broker ceases to carry on activities for an agency.

A broker who may carry on activities for his or her account is deemed to do so as of the date on which the licence of the agency for which the broker carries on activities is revoked or suspended.

15. A broker's licence is suspended by the Organization if

(1) the holder fails to pay any sum owing to the insurance fund other than the premium;

(2) the holder fails to take within the prescribed time any course or complete any training program as required by the inspection or discipline committee or taken as a consequence of a voluntary commitment on the holder's part;

(3) the holder fails to take additional training as required by the Organization and, where applicable, to pass the training;

(4) the holder fails to set up and maintain a trust account in accordance with the Regulation respecting records, books and registers, trust accounting and inspection of brokers and agencies approved by Order in Council 296-2010 dated 31 March 2010;

(5) the Organization becomes aware of the broker's failure to update information or a document required under the Real Estate Brokerage Act or this Regulation; or

(6) the holder no longer meets a requirement for the issue or maintenance of the licence, other than the requirement in subparagraph 6 of the first paragraph of section 1, and no specific provision in the Real Estate Brokerage Act or this Regulation deals with such a failure.

Part 2

16. An agency licence is suspended by the Organization if

(1) the agency fails to pay any sum owing to the insurance fund;

(2) the holder or the executive officer of the agency fails to take and pass within the prescribed time any course or complete any training required by the inspection or discipline committee or taken as a consequence of a voluntary commitment on their part;

(3) the holder or the executive officer of the agency fails to take any additional training required by the Organization and, where applicable, to pass the training;

(4) the holder fails to set up and maintain a trust account in accordance with the Regulation respecting records, books and registers, trust accounting and inspection of brokers and agencies;

(5) the Organization becomes aware of the agency's failure to update information or a document required under the Real Estate Brokerage Act or this Regulation;

(6) the holder ceases to have the qualifications required of an agency executive officer or, in the case of a partnership or a legal person, it has not been headed by a person having those qualifications for a period of more than 60 days; or

(7) the holder no longer meets a requirement for the issue or maintenance of the licence, other than the requirement in subparagraph a of paragraph 5 of section 6 of this Regulation, and no specific provision in the Real Estate Brokerage Act or this Regulation deals with such a failure.

17. Once a licence has been suspended, the holder cannot engage in brokerage transactions. The holder may not, in particular, engage in advertising, client solicitation or representation in relation to real estate or mortgage brokerage services, or use the title of broker or agency.

18. Other than in the case in section 104 of the Real Estate Brokerage Act, a person may apply to have a licence suspension lifted if the person establishes that the cause giving rise to the suspension no longer exists.

19. A broker's licence is revoked by the Organization if

(1) the holder requests the revocation;

(2) the holder has, on the due date, failed to make the payments required by section 45 of this Regulation or by section 15 of the Regulation respecting the Real Estate Indemnity Fund and determination of the professional liability insurance premium, approved by Order in Council 298-2010 dated 31 March 2010, for the issue or maintenance of the licence or the fees referred to in the third paragraph of section 109 of the Real Estate Brokerage Act;

(3) the holder, through misrepresentation, obtained the issue or maintenance of the licence or the modification or lifting of the licence or the restrictions or conditions imposed on the licence;

(4) the holder no longer has an establishment in Québec;

(5) the holder no longer is a Canadian citizen or has the status of permanent resident or a work permit issued by Canadian immigration authorities; or

(6) the holder fails

(a) to repay the principal, interest and costs of any amount imposed by a final judgment arising from liability for a cause referred to in section 108 of the Real Estate Brokerage Act or from the exercise of a subrogatory action under section 112 of that Act;

(b) to comply with an order of the disciplinary committee or court made in connection with a disciplinary action or remedy referred to in sections 35 and 128 of the Real Estate Brokerage Act, or fails to pay any fine and any interest, costs and charges owing to the Organization pursuant to a judgment or a decision of the disciplinary committee; or

(c) to pay any amount of money to the party entitled to it arising out of an undertaking made during mediation or conciliation or an arbitration award, pursuant to section 34 of the Real Estate Brokerage Act.

20. A agency licence is revoked by the Organization if

(1) the holder requests the revocation;

(2) the holder has, on the due date, failed to make the payments required by section 45 of this Regulation and section 15 of the Regulation respecting the Real Estate Indemnity Fund and determination of the professional liability insurance premium for the issue or maintenance of the licence or the fees referred to in the third paragraph of section 109 of the Real Estate Brokerage Act;

(3) the holder, through misrepresentation, obtained the issue or maintenance of the licence or the lifting of the suspension or the restrictions or conditions imposed on the licence; (4) the holder no longer has an establishment in Québec;

(5) the holder, partners in the case of a partnership or directors in the case of a legal person,

(a) has or have failed to repay the principal, interest and costs of any amount imposed by a final judgment arising from liability for a cause referred to in section 108 of the Real Estate Brokerage Act or from the exercise of a subrogatory action under section 112 of that Act;

(b) has or have failed to comply with an order of the disciplinary committee or court made in connection with a disciplinary action or remedy referred to in sections 35 and 128 of the Real Estate Brokerage Act, or failed to pay any fine and any interest, costs and charges owing to the Organization pursuant to a judgment or a decision of the disciplinary committee; or

(c) has or have failed to pay any amount of money to the party entitled to it arising out of an undertaking made during mediation or conciliation or an arbitration award, pursuant to section 34 of the Real Estate Brokerage Act; or

(6) in the case of a natural person, the person no longer holds a broker's licence.

21. The licence is suspended or revoked on the date and at the time determined by the Organization.

22. Suspension or revocation of a licence does not give entitlement to a reimbursement of or reduction in the amount of fees payable under the Real Estate Brokerage Act, this Regulation or the Regulation respecting the Real Estate Indemnity Fund and determination of the professional liability insurance premium.

DIVISION IV LICENCE ISSUE AND MAINTENANCE COMMITTEE

23. The licence issue and maintenance committee, as the delegatee of the functions and powers under sections 37 to 39 and 41 of the Real Estate Brokerage Act, is composed of at least three and not more than nine members, including a chair, appointed by the board of directors of the Organization for a term of three years.

The board of directors may appoint one or more vice-chairs.

At the end of their term, the members remain in office until they are replaced, dismissed or reappointed, or until they resign. A matter referred to a committee member who is later replaced or resigns may continue to be dealt with by the member. **24.** If the number of committee members so allows, the committee may sit in two or more divisions composed of three or more members, one of whom is a chair or vice-chair. A division having more than three members must be composed of an odd number of members.

25. The committee members must take the oath of discretion in Schedule A to this Regulation.

26. The notice referred to in section 41 of the Real Estate Brokerage Act must also inform the licence holder or the applicant person or partnership of the possibility of producing documents to complete the file and of the remedy in section 43 of that Act.

27. A decision of the committee is made in writing by a majority of the members and must be signed by the members making it. Reasons must be given for a decision to refuse to issue or a decision to revoke, suspend or impose restrictions or conditions on a licence.

28. The committee may make a decision even if the licence holder, the applicant or the applying partnership fails to reply to the notice sent in accordance with section 41 of the Real Estate Brokerage Act, does not appear at the arranged meeting, has not submitted observations in writing or has not produced the documents necessary to complete the file.

29. The committee is to send a report on its activities to the Organization each year and whenever a request for such a report is made by the Organization.

30. The committee's meetings are held using any device that enables the participants to communicate with one another; the participants are deemed to have attended the meeting.

DIVISION V NOTICE OF DECISION

31. Where the Organization makes a decision that is unfavourable to a person or partnership, it must notify the person or partnership in writing.

It must also notify the agency for which the person carries on or proposed to carry on activities.

32. A decision imposing a licence suspension or revocation or imposing conditions or restrictions on a licence is made public by an entry to that effect in the register of licence holders kept by the Organization.

33. A notice of a final decision made by the licence issue and maintenance committee, the discipline committee or an appeal tribunal that suspends or revokes a broker's or agency licence or imposes conditions or

restrictions on the licence and, where applicable, a notice of a decision that rectifies or revises such a decision is to be published or inserted in an official or regular publication of the Organization or on its website. The notice must specify the name of the broker or agency holding the licence to which the decision applies, the type of licence held, the place of the establishment, the name under which the broker or agency carries on the activities, the broker's or agency's specialty, if any, and the date and a summary of the decision. If the decision is made by the discipline committee, the notice must indicate the date and nature of the offence.

DIVISION VI

QUALIFICATION OF AGENCY EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

34. A person is qualified as an executive officer of a real estate or mortgage broker agency if the person

(1) holds a real estate or mortgage broker's licence that is neither suspended nor subject to restrictions or conditions;

(2) is able to act for his or her own account;

(3) meets either of the following conditions, showing that the person is qualified to manage the professional activities of brokers and agencies:

(a) has passed, in accordance with Division VII, the examination for executive officers of real estate or mortgage broker agencies; or

(b) has qualified as an executive officer of a real estate or mortgage broker agency for three of the last five years; and

(4) after passing the examination referred to in subparagraph a of subparagraph 3, has taken and, where applicable, passed all additional training required for brokers to qualify as agency executive officers.

To maintain qualification, an executive officer of a real estate or mortgage broker agency must continue to meet the requirements of subparagraphs 1, 2 and 4.

DIVISION VII EXAMINATIONS

35. The Organization's examinations deal with the skills a broker must have, according to the licence applied for or licence restrictions, those required of an agency executive officer or of the holder of a specialist's title, in the latter case according to the title applied for.

36. The Organization must make accessible the list of skills tested in the examinations it prepares and send the list to any person who requests it.

37. An examination application must be sent to the Organization before the date set for the examination along with the documents and information required by paragraphs 1, 2, 4 and 6 of section 5, and specify the licence or title for which it is made.

38. A person who fails an examination may apply up to three times for a supplemental examination within 12 months after the date of the initial examination. A person who fails all the supplemental examinations cannot re-apply for an examination for a period of 12 months after the date of the last supplemental examination.

39. The Organization may cancel the examination of a person who makes a false representation in the examination application, or who seriously disrupts the examination in a repeated or continued manner, including by fraud, copying or cheating or by collaborating in such strategies. That person may not sit for any examination for a period of 12 months after the date of the cancellation by the Organization.

CHAPTER II

SPECIAL AUTHORIZATIONS

40. A special 12-month authorization for brokerage transactions described in section 1 of the Real Estate Brokerage Act may be issued to any person, partnership or group of persons or partnerships, other than brokers or agencies, requesting an authorization and that

(1) has made an application for special authorization that contains

(a) the applicant's name and contact information;

(b) if the applicant is a natural person acting for a person, a partnership or a group of persons or partnerships authorized to engage in brokerage transactions described in section 1 of the Real Estate Brokerage Act outside Québec, the name and contact information of that person, partnership or group of persons or partnerships;

(c) a description of the brokerage activities to be engaged in occasionally or from time to time by the applicant in Québec;

(d) an enumeration of the specific purposes for which the application is made;

(e) a statement whereby the applicant undertakes to act within the limits of the special authorization; and

(f) any observation the applicant considers appropriate to make to justify the application for special authorization;

(2) has furnished a certificate from the competent authority attesting that the applicant is authorized to engage in brokerage transactions described in section 1 of the Real Estate Brokerage Act outside Québec;

(3) has paid the fees required by Chapter III;

(4) has paid the fee that must be paid into the Real Estate Indemnity Fund; and

(5) has paid into the insurance fund the civil liability insurance premium set by resolution of the Organization.

41. The special authorization issued by the Organization is valid only to the extent of the limits and conditions specified in the authorization.

42. Special authorization may not be issued to a natural person who acts for a person, a partnership or a group of persons or partnerships unless that person, partnership or group holds special authorization.

43. The holder of special authorization must, throughout the period for which the authorization is valid,

(1) be authorized by the competent authority to engage in brokerage transactions described in section 1 of the Real Estate Brokerage Act outside Québec;

(2) comply with the provisions of the Real Estate Brokerage Act and the regulations made under it as if the holder were licensed by the Organization;

(3) deposit all sums to be held by the holder into a trust account maintained by a holder licensed by the Organization; and

(4) be assisted by a holder licensed or designated by the Organization or chosen by the holder of the special authorization.

The holder of the special authorization must inform the Organization in writing as soon as the authorization to engage in brokerage transactions described in section 1 of the Real Estate Brokerage Act outside Québec ceases or is made subject to restrictions or conditions.

44. In any advertising, client solicitation and representation in relation to brokerage transactions carried on in Québec and described in section 1 of the Real Estate Brokerage Act, the holder of special authorization must ensure that the following particulars appear after the holder's name:

(1) mention of the Canadian province or territory or the State where the holder is legally authorized to engage in brokerage transactions described in section 1 of the Real Estate Brokerage Act; and

(2) mention to the effect that the holder is specially authorized to engage in brokerage transactions described in section 1 of the Real Estate Brokerage Act in Québec.

The holder must also specify the limits on the special authorization.

In addition, the holder of special authorization must without delay inform in writing every person with whom the holder has dealings in connection with brokerage activities in Québec of the special authorization and of its limits.

CHAPTER III FEES

45. The annual licence fees are,

- (1) for a real estate broker's licence: \$850;
- (2) for a mortgage broker's licence: \$850;
- (3) for a real estate agency licence: \$500; and
- (4) for a mortgage broker agency licence: \$500.

The fees are payable on application for the licence and thereafter on 1 May of each year. If the licence is issued for a period of less than 12 months, the fee amount is adjusted pro rata to the number of months left until the annual licence fee due date, including the month of the application.

If a licence holder applies for both the issue of a new licence and the abandoning of a licence already held, the fees for the new licence are reduced by an amount equal to the fees paid for the abandoned licence, pro rata to the number of months left until the next annual licence fee due date, excluding the month of the application.

46. The fees for special authorization are,

(1) for a natural person: \$850; and

(2) for the person, partnership or group of persons or partnerships represented by a natural person: \$500.

47. The fee amounts are adjusted annually on 1 May of each year based on the rate of increase in the general Consumer Price Index for Canada, as determined by Statistics Canada for the 12-month period ending on 31 December of the preceding year.

The adjusted amounts are reduced to the nearest dollar if they contain a fraction of a dollar less than \$0.50; they are increased to the nearest dollar if they contain a fraction of a dollar equal to or greater than \$0.50.

The results of the adjustment are to be published in the *Gazette officielle du Québec*.

CHAPTER IV

ADDITIONAL TRAINING OF BROKERS AND AGENCY EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

48. The purpose of the additional training activities is to enable brokers and agency executive officers to develop, maintain, update, improve and broaden professional skills associated with their activities.

49. The additional training activities to be taken by all or some of the brokers or agency executive officers must deal with the following subject-matters in particular:

(1) general or special legal rules that apply to brokerage transactions described in section 1 of the Real Estate Brokerage Act;

(2) any legislative or regulatory reform that may affect the activities of brokers and agencies;

(3) the content, use and drafting of contracts and forms relating to brokerage transactions described in section 1 of the Real Estate Brokerage Act;

(4) any material, physical or environmental consideration that may affect the object of a brokerage transaction described in section 1 of the Real Estate Brokerage Act;

(5) ethics and professional conduct of brokers and agency executive officers;

(6) management of the professional activities of brokers and agency executive officers;

(7) assessment of the value of an immovable or enterprise;

(8) assessment of the quality and construction features of an immovable;

(9) financial implications of transactions described in section 1 of the Real Estate Brokerage Act; and

(10) financing of transactions described in section 1 of the Real Estate Brokerage Act.

50. For every training activity to which this Chapter applies, the Organization must

(1) approve the content;

(2) set the duration of the activity and time within which it must be taken; and

(3) specify the training personnel, bodies or educational institutions qualified to offer it.

51. This Regulation comes into force on 1 May 2010.

SCHEDULE A

(s. 25)

"OATH OF DISCRETION

I, A.B., swear under oath that I will not, without being so authorized by law, disclose or make known anything whatsoever of which I may take cognizance in the performance of my duties."

9757

Gouvernement du Québec

O.C. 296-2010, 31 March 2010

Real Estate Brokerage Act (2008, c. 9)

Records, books and registers, trust accounting and inspection of brokers and agencies

Regulation respecting records, books and registers, trust accounting and inspection of brokers and agencies

WHEREAS section 10 of the Real Estate Brokerage Act (2008, c. 9) provides that the Organisme d'autoréglementation du courtage immobilier du Québec (the Organization) must, by regulation, prescribe terms and conditions for depositing in a trust account all money received by a broker in the course of the broker's functions that does not belong to the broker, and terms and conditions for paying into the financing fund established by the Organization the non refundable interest earned on unclaimed money held in trust;

WHEREAS paragraph 9 of section 46 of the Act, amended by paragraph 2 of section 145 of chapter 58 of the Statutes of 2009, provides that, in addition to its regulatory powers under the Act, the Organization may determine, by regulation, the nature, form and tenor of the records, books and registers that must be kept by brokers and agencies, as well as rules for the preservation, use and destruction of records, books and registers; WHEREAS paragraph 10 of section 46 of the Act provides that, in addition to its regulatory powers under the Act, the Organization may determine, by regulation, rules for opening and maintaining a trust account, as well as the terms and conditions governing deposits and withdrawals;

WHEREAS paragraph 10.1 of section 46 of the Act, enacted by paragraph 3 of section 145 of chapter 58 of the Statutes of 2009, provides that, in addition to its regulatory powers under the Act, the Organization may determine, by regulation, what measures may be taken to safeguard money entrusted to a licence holder or held in trust, and who may take such measures;

WHEREAS section 47 of the Act provides that the Organization must, by regulation, establish a financing fund made up of the interest earned on the money held in trust, and determine rules for the administration of the fund and the terms of payment of interest into the fund;

WHEREAS section 49 of the Act provides that the Organization may, for the purposes of any regulation, establish special or supplementary rules for real estate brokers, mortgage brokers, real estate agencies or mortgage broker agencies;

WHEREAS section 76 of the Act, amended by section 146 of chapter 58 of the Statutes of 2009, provides that the Organization must, by regulation, set out operating rules for the inspection committee;

WHEREAS, in accordance with sections 10 and 11 of the Regulations Act (R.S.Q., c. R-18.1), a draft of the Regulation respecting records, books and registers, trust accounting and inspection of brokers and agencies was published in Part 2 of the *Gazette officielle du Québec* of 13 January 2010 with a notice that it could be submitted to the Government for approval on the expiry of 45 days following that publication;

WHEREAS it is expedient to approve the Regulation with amendments that clarify certain regulatory provisions or correct references;

IT IS ORDERED, therefore, on the recommendation of the Minister of Finance:

THAT the Regulation respecting records, books and registers, trust accounting and inspection of brokers and agencies, attached to this Order in Council, be approved.

GÉRARD BIBEAU, Clerk of the Conseil exécutif

Regulation respecting records, books and registers, trust accounting and inspection of brokers and agencies

Real Estate Brokerage Act (2008, c. 9, ss. 10, 46, pars. 9 to 10.1, 47, 49 and 76; 2009, c. 58, ss. 145 and 146)

CHAPTER I

REGISTERS AND RECORDS

DIVISION I

GENERAL

1. A broker or agency must keep and maintain the registers and records prescribed by this Chapter.

Where a broker acts for an agency, the obligations related to the keeping of registers and records are delegated to the agency. The broker must send all the information required for that purpose to the agency without delay.

DIVISION II

KEEPING OF REGISTERS

2. A broker or agency must keep the following registers at the establishment:

(1) a register of brokerage contracts;

(2) a register of transactions;

(3) accounting registers on the amounts held in trust by the broker or the agency;

(4) a register of disclosure notices required by section 18 of the Regulation respecting brokerage requirements, professional conduct of brokers and advertising approved by Order in Council 299-2010 dated 31 March 2010;

(5) a register on the accounting of the broker or the agency; and

(6) a register of the brokers acting for the agency.

3. The register of brokerage contracts must provide, in ascending order, the numbers attributed by the licence holder to each brokerage contract. The register contains, for each contract,

(1) where the contract concerns the purchase, sale, lease or exchange of an immovable property or the purchase or sale of an enterprise, the address of the immovable or enterprise covered by the contract or its cadastral description if there is no address; (2) where the contract concerns a loan secured by immovable hypothec, the name and contact information of the person or partnership that awarded the contract;

(3) the date on which the contract was awarded to the licence holder;

(4) the number attributed to the contract from a series of consecutive numbers used only by the licence holder; and

(5) if applicable, the name of the broker acting for the agency for the performance of the contract;

(6) if applicable, the money received in trust as an advance on remuneration or costs.

4. The register of transactions must provide, in ascending order, the numbers attributed to each transaction. The register must contain, for each transaction,

(1) the number attributed to the transaction, from a series of consecutive numbers used only by the licence holder;

(2) the date of acceptance of the transaction proposal;

(3) the address of the immovable or enterprise to which the transaction pertains, or its cadastral description if there is no address;

(4) the sum received in trust, where applicable;

(5) the name of the broker to whom the transaction proposal was awarded; and

(6) the name of the person or partnership with whom the licence holder shares remuneration and, where applicable, the number of the broker's or agency licence or the number of the permit, licence, certificate or any other form of authorization issued outside Québec or under an Act other than the Real Estate Brokerage Act.

5. The accounting register showing the sums held in trust must be integrated into an accounting system kept according to generally accepted accounting principles. The register contains, in chronological order,

(1) in the case of a sum received in trust and deposited into the general trust account:

(a) the number attributed to the transaction by the licence holder, where applicable;

(b) the sum received;

(c) the number of the receipt issued to the depositor for the sum received;

(*d*) the date of deposit with the financial institution;

(e) identification of the depositor; and

(f) the balance of the general trust account;

(2) in the case of a sum received in trust and withdrawn from the general trust account:

(*a*) the number attributed to the transaction by the licence holder, where applicable;

(b) the sum withdrawn;

(c) the number attributed to the cheque, bill of exchange or transfer slip used for the withdrawal;

(d) the name of the recipient of the cheque, bill of exchange or transfer slip used for the withdrawal;

(e) the date appearing on the cheque, bill of exchange or transfer slip used for the withdrawal; and

(f) the balance of the general trust account;

(3) in the case of a sum received in trust and deposited into a special trust account:

(a) the information provided for in paragraph 1;

(b) identification of the special account; and

(c) the name of the financial institution with which the account was opened;

(4) in the case of a sum received in trust and withdrawn from a special trust account:

(a) the information provided for in paragraph 2;

(b) identification of the special account; and

(c) the name of the financial institution with which the account was opened.

6. The register of disclosure notices must provide, in ascending order, the numbers attributed to each disclosure notice. The register contains, for each transaction for which such a notice is required under section 18 of the Regulation respecting brokerage requirements, professional conduct of brokers and advertising,

(1) the name of the licence holder producing the disclosure notice and the holder's licence number;

(2) the object and nature of the transaction;

(3) the nature of the interest that the licence holder has or intends to acquire;

(4) identification of the parties to the transaction;

(5) the sale price accepted or the amount of the loan granted;

(6) the date and time of the drafting of the transaction proposal;

(7) the date and time of the acceptance of the transaction proposal; and

(8) the date and time the notice is received by each prospective contracting party.

7. Each year, before 31 March, and each time the Organisme d'autoréglementation du courtage immobilier du Québec so requests, the licence holder must send a copy of the register of disclosure notices to the Organization.

8. The accounting register of the enterprise must be integrated into an accounting system kept according to generally accepted accounting principles.

9. The register of brokers acting for an agency must contain a complete updated list of the names and licence numbers of the brokers through whom the agency engages in brokerage transactions described in section 1 of the Real Estate Brokerage Act.

DIVISION III

KEEPING OF RECORDS

10. A broker or agency must keep the following records at the establishment:

(1) a record for each brokerage contract;

(2) a record for all the transaction proposals not accepted;

(3) a record for each transaction; and

(4) a record for disclosure notices.

11. The record for a brokerage contract contains

(1) the brokerage contract;

(2) any document currently or previously used in the performance of the contract, including any document used to demonstrate the accuracy of the information provided; and

(3) the content of the record provided for in section 13, where applicable.

12. The record for all the transaction proposals not accepted contains the transaction proposals that were not accepted, in the case where the licence holder is not the licence holder to whom a brokerage contract was awarded.

13. The record for a transaction contains the transaction proposal accepted and any other document used to complete the transaction.

14. The record for all the disclosure notices contains

(1) the disclosure notices required by section 18 of the Regulation respecting brokerage requirements, professional conduct of brokers and advertising, duly completed, and proof of their receipt; and

(2) the transaction proposal accepted and all documents related thereto, unless the documents have been filed in any of the records provided for in paragraphs 2 and 3 of section 10.

DIVISION IV

PRESERVATION, USE AND DESTRUCTION OF REGISTERS AND RECORDS

15. A licence holder must take the measures necessary to prevent the loss or destruction of registers and records and to prevent any falsification of the information and documents contained therein.

16. A licence holder must ensure that registers and records are conserved in such a way that an unauthorized person may not have access thereto.

When the registers and records are conserved on a technological medium, access to the documents contained therein must be limited to the persons employed by or authorized to act for the licence holder, for the information necessary for the carrying on of their activities.

17. A licence holder must conserve the registers and records for at least 6 years following their final closing. After the 6 year period, those registers and records may be destroyed unless they constitute evidence in a civil, disciplinary, penal or criminal action.

18. The destruction of registers and records must be done by taking the measures necessary to protect the confidential nature of the information contained therein.

19. A broker who ceases to practise on his or her account or an agency that ceases to practise must, without delay, turn over registers and records, other than those relating to the accounting for his or her enterprise, to a broker acting on his or her account or to an agency, holding the licence or licences necessary to maintain such registers and records.

The broker or agency receiving the registers and records has the same obligations for preservation, use and destruction as the broker or agency has for their own registers and records.

20. A licence holder receiving the registers and records from another licence holder, in accordance with section 19, must, within 30 days following the date of receipt, so notify the Organization in writing.

21. A licence holder who ceases activities and who has no person to turn over his or her registers and records, in accordance with section 19, must send a notice to the Organization indicating the address where the registers and records are maintained, attesting to the security of the location, with respect in particular to the destruction of the registers and records, and guaranteeing the protection of the confidential information contained therein. Any change of location where the registers and records are maintained must be notified in writing to the Organization.

22. As soon as a licence holder ceases activities, the licence holder must send the Organization

- (1) the register of disclosure notices; and
- (2) the documents provided for in section 38.

23. The registers and records of a licence holder who ceases activities without complying with sections 19 and 21 may be seized and archived by the Organization. All costs incurred must be paid by the licence holder.

CHAPTER II TRUST ACCOUNTS

DIVISION I GENERAL

24. A broker must, in accordance with this Chapter, open and maintain a trust account.

Where a broker acts for an agency, the obligations related to the opening and maintaining of a trust account are delegated to the agency. The broker remains responsible with the agency for the obligations imposed in this Chapter.

An agency may delegate to only one other agency the obligations related to the opening and maintaining of a trust account that were delegated to the agency by the brokers acting for the agency. Those brokers remain responsible for the obligations imposed in this Chapter, with their agency and the agency to which they were delegated. A written notice of the delegation must be sent to the Organization without delay.

This section does not apply to a broker who files a declaration with the Organization to the effect that the broker

(1) is employed by the Organization; or

(2) is employed by a person who is not an agency and the broker engages, as such, in no brokerage transaction described in section 1 of the Real Estate Brokerage Act.

25. The sums that must be paid into a trust account are paid immediately, under the terms of the trust provided for in the transaction proposal or under the terms of any other agreement, into a general trust account opened under the name of the licence holder.

Where a person who entrusted a sum to the licence holder expressly requests that the interest on that sum be remitted to him or her, the licence holder must immediately transfer the sum from the general trust account to a special trust account. The broker or the agency must ensure that the name of the client for whom the account is opened is indicated.

26. Any sum received by a licence holder as advance on remuneration or disbursements must be paid without delay into the general trust account opened under the name of the licence holder receiving the sum.

27. A sum received by a licence holder and paid into a trust account in accordance with sections 25 and 26 may be paid in Canadian or foreign currency.

DIVISION II

OPENING OF A GENERAL TRUST ACCOUNT OR A SPECIAL TRUST ACCOUNT

28. A licence holder opens only one general trust account, as soon as the licence holder's activities so require and not later than 10 days after the licence is issued, and as many special trust accounts as necessary, in which the sums held are deposited, including advances on remuneration, given by a client or another person.

The accounts must be composed of deposits covered by the deposit insurance under the Canada Deposit Insurance Corporation Act (R.S.C. 1985, c. C-3) or guaranteed under the Deposit Insurance Act (R.S.Q., c. A-26).

The accounts must be opened in Québec, in a financial institution governed by the Act respecting trust companies and savings companies (R.S.Q., c. S-29.01), the Bank Act (S.C. 1991, c. 46), the Act respecting financial services cooperatives (R.S.Q., c. C-67.3) or the Trust and Loan Companies Act (S.C. 1991, c. 45) and with which the Organization has entered into an agreement on the payment of interest into the Financing fund of the Organization.

29. When opening a general trust account, a licence holder must complete and send a declaration related to the opening of an account to the depositary financial institution and the Organization. The licence holder must keep a copy for inspection purposes.

The declaration related to the opening of an account must indicate

(1) the name and address of the financial institution to which the declaration is addressed;

(2) the name of the broker or the agency executive officer making the declaration, the number of the holder's licence and the address of the establishment;

(3) the date on which the account is opened;

(4) that the general account opened at the financial institution in the name of the licence holder is "in trust";

(5) the account number;

(6) that the account contains sums that the licence holder receives or will receive in trust in the carrying on of the holder's activities and that the account is governed by the Real Estate Brokerage Act;

(7) that the interest generated by the sums deposited into the account must be paid into the Financing fund of the Organization;

(8) that the financial institution is authorized to transfer directly to the Financing fund of the Organization the interest generated by the account and to deduct at source, if applicable, the administrative costs provided for in the agreement entered into or to be entered into with the Organization;

(9) the persons authorized to sign, on behalf of the licence holder, any document related to the current transactions of the account and the signature of each person;

(10) that at all times, the Organization is irrevocably authorized to request and obtain from the financial institution any information, explanation or copy of a document necessary or useful for the purposes of auditing the account; and

(11) that the Organization is irrevocably authorized to freeze the sums held in trust, take possession of any sum entrusted to a licence holder, revoke the signature of the broker or agency executive officer or close any of their trust accounts.

30. Where a licence holder opens a special trust account, the licence holder must complete a declaration related to the opening of an account, keep a copy of the declaration for inspection purposes and send the declaration without delay to the depositary financial institution.

The declaration must indicate, in addition to the elements referred to in paragraphs 1, 2, 3, 5, 9, 10 and 11 of section 29,

(1) the name and address of the depositor;

(2) the sum received and an indication that the sum is received "in trust" in the carrying on of the broker's activities;

(3) that the sum is deposited into a special account opened "in trust" with the financial institution under the name of the licence holder;

(4) that the account is governed by the Real Estate Brokerage Act; and

(5) that the interest generated by the sum deposited into the account belong to the depositor.

DIVISION III

MANAGEMENT OF TRUST ACCOUNTS

31. When a licence holder receives a sum in cash, the licence holder must give the depositor a receipt indicating

(1) the date the sum is received;

(2) the amount received and the currency of the sum;

(3) whether the sum is received for someone else's account or as advance on remuneration or disbursements;

(4) the name, address, date of birth and occupation of the depositor;

(5) that, as soon as the sum is deposited into a trust account, a receipt will be issued to the depositor;

(6) the name and signature of the person who, on the licence holder's behalf, receives the sum; and

(7) the name of the licence holder, the address of the holder's establishment and the number of the holder's licence.

32. As soon as a licence holder has deposited a sum into a general or special trust account, or the sum has been deposited in trust by electronic transfer, the licence holder must give the depositor a receipt with a number, from a series of consecutive numbers, attributed to the receipts the licence holder issues. The licence holder must keep a duplicate of the receipt in his or her records.

The receipt must be signed by the person authorized by the licence holder and, in addition to the elements referred to in paragraphs 1, 2, 3 and 6 of section 31, indicate

(1) the form under which the sum was received;

(2) that the sum is received for deposit into the trust account of the licence holder;

(3) the purposes for which the sum is received; and

(4) that the licence holder will use the sum for those purposes, in accordance with the Real Estate Brokerage Act.

33. When the payment of a cheque or another bill of exchange received as a deposit or arrears is refused by the financial institution from which it is drawn, or the sum is not received within the period provided for in the transaction proposal, a licence holder must, without delay, so inform the parties to the transaction in writing.

34. Every withdrawal from a general or special trust account must be made by electronic transfer, a cheque, another bill of exchange or a transfer slip bearing the number attributed to the transaction concerned.

The licence holder must keep a copy of a document evidencing an electronic transfer, cheques, bills of exchange and transfer slips, and a copy of the cheques and bills of exchange cashed in, for the purposes of inspection by the Organization.

35. A sum corresponding to an advance on remuneration or disbursements that is deposited in the trust account of a licence holder may be withdrawn when the invoicing or the amount of the disbursements stated in writing has been sent to or accepted by the depositor.

36. Cheques, bills of exchange and transfer slips and any document evidencing an electronic transfer that a licence holder draws from a general or special trust account must bear

(1) a number from a series of consecutive numbers attributed by the licence holder to the cheques, bills of exchange and transfer slips, and to documents evidencing an electronic transfer; and

(2) except for a document evidencing an electronic transfer, the indication "trust account governed by the Real Estate Brokerage Act".

DIVISION IV

KEEPING OF TRUST ACCOUNTS

37. A licence holder must maintain separate accounting for each trust account and prepare a monthly reconciliation thereof, according to generally accepted accounting principles.

38. Each year, before 31 March, and each time the Organization so requests, a licence holder must send the Organization

(1) a summary of the deposits into and withdrawals from the holder's general trust account and all special trust accounts including

(a) identification of the period covered;

(*b*) for the general trust account:

i. the balance of the general trust account according to the accounting register at the start of the period;

ii. the total of the sums deposited during the period;

iii. the sum of the amounts referred to in subparagraphs *i* and *ii*;

iv. the total of the sums withdrawn during the period;

v. the balance of the account according to the accounting register at the end of the period, established by subtracting the sum mentioned in subparagraph *iv* from the sum obtained in subparagraph iii;

(c) for all the special trust accounts:

i. the balance of the special trust accounts according to the accounting registers at the start of the period;

ii. the total of the sums deposited during the period;

iii. the interest deposited during the period;

iv. the sum of the amounts mentioned in subparagraphs *i*, *ii* and *iii*;

v. the total of the sums withdrawn during the period;

vi. the total of the interest withdrawn during the period;

vii. the sum of the amounts mentioned in subparagraphs v and vi;

viii. the balance for all the special accounts, according to the accounting register at the end of the period, established by subtracting the sum mentioned in subparagraph *vii* from the sum obtained in subparagraph *iv*;

(d) the total of the balances, according to the accounting registers at the end of the period, established by adding the balances in subparagraph v of subparagraph b and subparagraph viii of subparagraph c;

(2) a copy of the bank reconciliation statement, established at the end of the calendar year or for the period for which the Organization requests it, for the general trust account and each of the special trust accounts including

(a) the date on which ends the period covered;

(b) for the general trust account:

i. the name and address of the financial institution and the number of the general trust account;

ii. the balance of the general trust account, according to the financial institution's statement;

iii. the total of the sums not yet deposited;

iv. the sum of the amounts mentioned in subparagraphs *ii* and *iii*;

v. the total of the outstanding cheques, bills of exchange and transfer slips;

vi. the balance of the general trust account after reconciliation, established by subtracting the sum mentioned in subparagraph v from the sum mentioned in subparagraph *iv*;

vii. the balance mentioned in subparagraph v of subparagraph b of subparagraph 1;

viii. the difference between what is mentioned in subparagraphs *vi* and *vii*;

(c) for all the special trust accounts:

i. the name and address of the financial institution and the number of each special trust account;

ii. the balance of each special trust account, according to the financial institution's statement;

iii. the total of the sums not yet deposited in each special trust account;

iv. the sum of the amounts mentioned in subparagraphs *ii* and *iii*;

v. the total of the outstanding cheques, bills of exchange and transfer slips for each special trust account;

vi. the balance of each special trust account after reconciliation, established by subtracting the sum mentioned in subparagraph v from the sum mentioned in subparagraph iv;

vii. the total of all the special trust accounts;

viii. the balance mentioned in subparagraph *viii* of subparagraph *c* of subparagraph 1;

ix. the difference between what is mentioned in subparagraphs *vii* and *viii*;

(d) the total of the balances according to the accounting registers at the end of the period, established by adding the balances provided for in subparagraph vi of subparagraph b and in subparagraph vii of subparagraph c;

(3) the detailed list of the sums held in the licence holder's general trust account and special trust accounts at the end of the calendar year or the period for which the Organization requests the list. The list must contain

(a) the date of the end of the period covered;

(b) for the general trust account:

i. the number attributed to each transaction by the licence holder;

ii. the sum held with respect to each transaction;

iii. the total of the sums held in the general account;

(c) for the special trust accounts:

i. the number attributed to each transaction by the licence holder;

ii. the sum held in each special trust account;

iii. the number of the special trust account;

iv. the total of the sums held in the special trust accounts;

(d) the total of the balances according to the detailed list of the sums held at the end of the period, established by adding the balances provided for in subparagraph iii of subparagraph b and in subparagraph iv of subparagraph c.

The total amounts appearing under the headings mentioned in subparagraph d of subparagraph 1, subparagraph d of subparagraph 2 and subparagraph d of subparagraph 3 must coincide.

Each document required under subparagraphs 1, 2 and 3 of the first paragraph must contain the name of the licence holder, be signed by a person authorized by the licence holder and bear the date of the signature.

39. A licence holder holding sums in trust that are considered as unclaimed property within the meaning of the Public Curator Act (R.S.Q., c. C-81) must dispose of the sums in accordance with that Act and so notify the Organization without delay.

DIVISION V CLOSING OF A TRUST ACCOUNT

40. When closing a general trust account, a licence holder must send without delay to the Organization a

(1) the name and address of the financial institution and the account number;

(2) the date on which the account is closed; and

(3) the name, address and licence number of the broker or agency.

DIVISION VI MISCELLANEOUS

notice containing

41. The Organization, the inspection committee, an inspector, the syndic or an assistant syndic may

(1) require and obtain at any time from the financial institution that is the depository of every general or special trust account all the information or explanations deemed necessary or useful for the purposes of this Regulation; (2) require and obtain at any time from the financial institution in which sums belonging to clients are deposited and which should have been deposited by the licence holder in a general or special trust account all the information or explanations deemed necessary or useful for the purposes of this Regulation;

(3) freeze the sums held in trust; and

(4) take possession of any sum entrusted to a licence holder, revoke the signature of the broker, agency executive officer or any other person authorized to sign for the licence holder, or close any of their general or special trust accounts.

CHAPTER III

FINANCING FUND

42. The "Fonds de financement de l'Organisme d'autoréglementation du courtage immobilier du Québec" is established.

The financing fund must be used in particular to produce and disseminate information on the public's rights in real estate brokerage and to promote the quality of services by brokers and agencies.

43. The accounting for the financing fund is integrated into the accounting of the Organization, but constitutes a separate part of the accounting.

44. The Organization enters into, with the financial institutions that are the depositories of the general trust accounts held by licence holders, agreements on the interest to be paid on those accounts and the transfer of the interest to the financing fund, and any other agreement useful for the purposes of this Chapter.

CHAPTER IV

INSPECTION COMMITTEE

DIVISION I

COMPOSITION OF THE INSPECTION COMMITTEE

45. The inspection committee is composed of at least 3 and not more than 9 members, including a chair, appointed for a 3-year term by the board of directors of the Organization.

At the end of their term, the members remain in office until they are replaced, dismissed or reappointed or until they resign.

46. The sittings of the committee may be held using any medium that enables participants to communicate with each other. They are then deemed to have been present at the sitting.

47. A member of the inspection committee, an inspector and any expert whose services are retained by them must take the oath set out in Schedule A to this Regulation.

DIVISION II

ORDER OF THE INSPECTION COMMITTEE TO COMPLETE A COURSE OR TAKE A TRAINING PROGRAM

48. The committee, before requiring a broker or an agency executive officer to successfully complete a course or to take a training program and at least 15 days before the date set for the ruling, informs the broker or the executive officer of his or her right to submit written observations to the committee and send the committee the documents necessary to complete the file. The notice must also indicate the consequences of the ruling.

The committee may render a decision despite the absence of written observations or additional documents produced by the broker or the agency executive officer to complete the file.

49. Where the inspection committee requires a broker or an agency executive officer to successfully complete a course or to take a training program, the committee notifies the broker or the executive officer that he or she may request the review of such an order by the Organization's board of directors within 30 days after receiving the decision of the inspection committee.

The notice must indicate that the broker or the executive officer may submit, within the 30-day period, written observations and, where applicable, the documents necessary to complete the file. The notice also indicates that the Organization's board of directors may render its decision despite the absence of observations or additional documents to complete the file.

50. This Regulation comes into force on 1 May 2010.

SCHEDULE A

(s. 47)

"OATH OF DISCRETION

I, A.B., swear under oath that I will not, without being so authorized by law, disclose or make known anything whatsoever of which I may take cognizance in the performance of my duties.

9758

Gouvernement du Québec

O.C. 297-2010, 31 March 2010

Real Estate Brokerage Act (2008, c. 9)

Disciplinary proceedings of the Organisme d'autoréglementation du courtage immobilier du Québec

Regulation respecting disciplinary proceedings of the Organisme d'autoréglementation du courtage immobilier du Québec

WHEREAS the second paragraph of section 82 of the Real Estate Brokerage Act (2008, c. 9) provides that the Organisme d'autoréglementation du courtage immobilier du Québec (the Organization) determines, by regulation, the rules for appointing the syndic and any replacements;

WHEREAS the second paragraph of section 90 of the Act provides that the Organization determines, by regulation, the operating rules of the syndic decision review committee, including those applicable to its decisionmaking process;

WHEREAS the first paragraph of section 95 of the Act, amended by section 148 of chapter 58 of the Statutes of 2009, provides that the Organization determines, by regulation, the discipline committee's operating rules, including those applicable to the filing and hearing of complaints and those applicable to its decision-making process, such as the imposition of provisional measures;

WHEREAS, in accordance with sections 10 and 11 of the Regulations Act (R.S.Q., c. R-18.1), the draft Regulation respecting disciplinary proceedings of the Organisme d'autoréglementation du courtage immobilier du Québec was published in Part 2 of the *Gazette officielle du Québec* of 13 January 2010 with a notice that it could be submitted to the Government for approval on the expiry of 45 days following that publication;

WHEREAS it is expedient to approve the Regulation with amendments that clarify certain regulatory provisions or correct references;

IT IS ORDERED, therefore, on the recommendation of the Minister of Finance:

THAT the Regulation respecting disciplinary proceedings of the Organisme d'autoréglementation du courtage immobilier du Québec, attached to this Order in Council, be approved.

GÉRARD BIBEAU, Clerk of the Conseil exécutif

Regulation respecting disciplinary proceedings of the Organisme d'autoréglementation du courtage immobilier du Québec

Real Estate Brokerage Act (S.Q. 2008, c. 9, ss. 82, 90 and 95; 2009, c. 58, s. 148)

CHAPTER I SYNDIC

1. Neither the syndic nor an assistant syndic may act as a broker while in office.

Neither the syndic nor an assistant syndic may hold other offices arising from the application of the provisions of the Real Estate Brokerage Act.

2. Where the syndic or an assistant syndic is absent or unable to act, he or she may be replaced by a person appointed by the board of directors in accordance with section 82 of the Real Estate Brokerage Act, for the duration of the absence or inability to act.

3. The syndic or an assistant syndic may be removed from office by a vote of no fewer than 8 members of the board of directors, after being given the opportunity to be heard.

4. The syndic and assistant syndics, as well as any personnel they hire for the conduct of their office, must take all necessary measures to protect the confidentiality of records of inquiry at all times.

5. The syndic and assistant syndics, as well as any expert or investigator and any personnel they hire, must take the oath in Schedule A of this Regulation.

CHAPTER II SYNDIC DECISION REVIEW COMMITTEE

DIVISION I COMPOSITION

6. The syndic decision review committee is formed of no fewer than 3 and no more than 9 members, including a chair, appointed for a term of 3 years by the board of directors of the Organisme d'autoréglementation du courtage immobilier du Québec.

The board of directors may appoint one or more vice-chairs.

At the end of their term, members remain on the committee until their replacement, removal from office, re-appointment or resignation. However, a committee member who is replaced or who resigns may continue to work on a matter of which the member has been seized. 7. Where the number of members permits, the committee may sit in 2 or more divisions composed of 3 members or more, including the chair or a vice-chair. Divisions with more than 3 members must have an uneven number of members.

DIVISION II OPERATING RULES

8. A person who requests a ruling by the syndic decision review committee under section 91 of the Real Estate Brokerage Act must set out the reasons in writing.

9. The review committee must inform in writing the syndic and the person who requested a review of the syndic's decision of the date on which the request is to be heard at least 15 days before that date.

10. The review committee may make a ruling even if the syndic or the person who requested a review does not attend the scheduled meeting or does not present written observations or produce the necessary documents to complete the file. The committee's ruling must be made by a majority of members. A ruling must be substantiated only if the committee decides to uphold the syndic's decision not to file a complaint. Rulings must be recorded in writing, and signed by the concurring committee members.

11. Sittings of the review committee may be held using any means of communication allowing all participants to communicate with the others. Those participating are deemed to have attended the sitting.

12. The syndic decision review committee must submit an activity report to the board of directors at least annually and whenever requested by the board.

13. Members of the syndic decision review committee must take the oath in Schedule A of this Regulation.

CHAPTER III DISCIPLINE COMMITTEE

DIVISION I GENERAL

14. There must be 3 members at the sittings of the discipline committee, including the chair or a vice-chair. The chair may increase the number where he or she deems it appropriate.

Where the number of members permits, the discipline committee may sit in 2 or more divisions composed of 3 members or more. Divisions with more than 3 members must have an uneven number of members. If the discipline committee has more than 3 members, the committee secretary must promptly select those committee members who will sit as a division with the chair or a vice-chair.

15. Members of the discipline committee may, even after ceasing to be members, continue to hear a complaint they had begun to hear and render a decision in that regard.

16. Where a member of the discipline committee is absent or unable to act, a majority of the members of a division may validly proceed with the hearing and render a decision, provided one of them is the chair or a vice-chair.

If the member who is absent or unable to act is the chair or a vice-chair, the other members may validly make a decision, provided the hearing has ended and the decision is made without dissent.

For the purposes of the preceding paragraph, the members of the discipline committee who remain seized of a matter may be assisted by a legal counsel appointed by the board of directors. The legal counsel advises the committee on all questions of law or procedure, but abstains from committee decisions.

17. The chair or a vice-chair of the discipline committee who is appointed to a court or body in which no concurrent functions may be exercised retains jurisdiction and may continue to perform committee duties without remuneration in order to conclude the matters he had begun to hear at the time of the appointment.

However, if the appointment, replacement or vacancy takes place after the discipline committee has determined guilt, and the person appointed does not avail him or herself of the possibility under the first paragraph, another division must be formed promptly to hear the parties in relation to the penalty and impose it. The new division must impose the penalty within 90 days after the hearing on penalty. Interlocutory decisions rendered before continuance of the matter by the new division remain valid.

18. From the time of their appointment to the discipline committee, the chair or a vice-chair cannot act as attorney for a party in a case governed by the Real Estate Brokerage Act or a case in which the Organization is a party.

19. At the end of their term, members remain on the discipline committee until their re-appointment, removal, replacement or resignation.

20. The salary and fees of the members of the discipline committee, as well as the indemnities and travel and lodging expenses established to compensate members for actual expenses incurred, are set by the board of directors and borne by the Organization.

21. The board of directors appoints the secretary of the discipline committee and one or more assistant secretaries.

22. The secretary sees to the preparation and preservation of discipline committee records and sees that access to the records is available.

23. Committee records may be consulted only in the presence of the secretary or a person designated by the secretary.

DIVISION II FILING A COMPLAINT

24. Complaints must be made in writing and supported by the complainant's oath.

25. A complaint must briefly describe the alleged offence of the person or partnership against which it is lodged, as well as the time and place of its occurrence.

26. The discipline committee is seized of a complaint as of the date on which the secretary receives it.

27. A complaint may necessitate the immediate provisional suspension of a licence or the imposition of immediate provisional conditions or restrictions if the licence holder is alleged to have

(1) appropriated, without entitlement, sums of money or other securities held for other persons, or used such sums of money or securities for purposes other than those for which they were entrusted;

(2) committed an offence such that the protection of the public may be compromised if the holder continues to practise brokerage activities; or

(3) contravened section 80 of the Real Estate Brokerage Act.

28. Where this Regulation provides for service in accordance with the Code of Civil Procedure (R.S.Q., c. C-25), the powers under section 138 of the Code are exercised by the chair of the discipline committee or one of its vice-chairs.

29. The secretary of the discipline committee has the complaint served on the person or partnership against which it is lodged, in the manner set out in the Code of Civil Procedure.

30. A request for the immediate provisional suspension of a holder's licence or the imposition of immediate provisional conditions or restrictions on the licence must be heard and decided by preference, after the secretary of the discipline committee has served notice on the respondent in accordance with the Code of Civil Procedure, at least 2 clear juridical days before the hearing and no later than 10 days after service of the complaint.

As a result of the hearing, the committee may issue an order for the provisional suspension of the respondent's licence or impose provisional conditions or restrictions on the licence, if it considers that necessary for public protection.

An order for provisional suspension of a licence or the imposition of provisional conditions or restrictions on the licence becomes enforceable on being served on the respondent by the secretary of the discipline committee in accordance with the Code of Civil Procedure. However, an order made in the presence of a party is deemed to be served on that party on being made. The secretary must indicate in the minutes whether the parties are present or absent when the committee makes an order.

An order for the provisional suspension of a holder's licence or the imposition of provisional conditions or restrictions on the licence remains in force until service of the committee's decision dismissing the complaint or imposing a penalty, as the case may be, unless the committee decides otherwise. However, where the committee imposes a penalty under subparagraph 2 of the first paragraph of section 98 of the Real Estate Brokerage Act, the order for provisional suspension of the licence or the imposition of provisional conditions or restrictions on the licence remains in force until the decision imposing one of those penalties becomes enforceable in accordance with section 101 of the Act or, where an appeal from the decision allowing the complaint or imposing one of those penalties is lodged before the Court of Québec, until the final decision by the Court becomes enforceable, unless the Court decides otherwise.

31. The person or partnership concerned by a complaint must appear in writing, either personally or through an advocate, at the head office of the Organization, within 10 days after service of the complaint.

A written appearance may state that the respondent acknowledges or denies the alleged fault; a respondent whose written appearance contains no such statement is presumed not to have acknowledged any fault.

A written contestation may be enclosed with a written appearance or filed within 10 days.

32. Any party or witness summoned before the disciplinary committee is entitled to be assisted or represented by an advocate.

Subject to sections 29 and 36, any document that must be sent to a party under this Regulation is validly sent to the party if sent to the party's advocate.

DIVISION III

HEARING A COMPLAINT

33. The secretary of the discipline committee must keep a hearing roll and ensure that access to the roll is available at least 10 days before the date set for the hearing.

34. The chair or a vice-chair designated by the chair, acting alone, may hear and decide any preliminary exception.

Preliminary exceptions and their conclusions must be disclosed in writing to the adverse party at least 3 clear days before the date of the hearing. Failing that, the discipline committee may refuse the presentation of the exceptions.

Where a party fails to disclose in accordance with this section, the discipline committee must order the faulty party to pay the resulting charges.

35. The discipline committee holds its hearings at the Organization's head office or in any other place it determines.

36. The secretary of the discipline committee must ensure that the hearing begins within a reasonable time. Except in special circumstances, the hearing must begin within 180 days after service of the complaint.

At least 3 clear days before the hearing, the secretary of the discipline committee must serve notice, in accordance with the Code of Civil Procedure, informing the respondent or the respondent's attorney, as the case may be, of the date and place of the hearing.

37. Members of the discipline committee may be recused in cases provided in article 234 of the Code of Civil Procedure.

Articles 234 through 242 of the Code apply to such recusation, with the necessary modifications.

38. Hearings must be recorded, unless all the parties dispense with recording.

39. All hearings are public, unless an order referred to in the second paragraph of section 95 of the Real Estate Brokerage Act is made.

However, the discipline committee may, on its own initiative or on request, order that a hearing be held *in camera* or ban the disclosure, publication or release of any information or document it indicates, in the interest of public order, in particular to protect information obtained by a broker in the course of his or her activities, the professional secrecy of a member of a professional order, or an individual's privacy, reputation or safety.

40. The discipline committee has the power to decide any question of law or fact necessary for the exercise of its jurisdiction.

It may use all legal means to ascertain the facts alleged in a complaint.

41. The chair or a vice-chair of the discipline committee may, on request, dismiss a complaint that he or she considers excessive, frivolous or clearly unfounded, or subject it to certain conditions.

42. If warranted by the circumstances of a complaint, for instance its complexity or the foreseeable duration of the hearing, the chair or a vice-chair of the discipline committee may, on his or her own initiative or at the request of one of the parties, convene the parties to a case management conference in order to, among other things,

(1) come to an agreement with the parties as to the processing of the complaint, specifying the undertakings of the parties and determining the timetable to be complied with;

(2) if the parties fail to agree, determine a timetable for the proceeding, which is binding on the parties; and

(3) determine how the processing of the complaint may be simplified, facilitated or accelerated and the hearing shortened, among other things by better defining the questions at issue or recording admissions concerning any fact or document.

43. The minutes of the conference are drawn up by the secretary of the discipline committee and signed by the committee's chair or a vice-chair.

44. If the parties fail to comply with the agreement or the timetable, the chair or a vice-chair of the discipline committee may make the appropriate determinations, including foreclosure of a right under the agreement. The chair or a vice-chair may, on request, relieve a defaulting party from default, where warranted by the facts.

45. Once a party's failure to participate is noted in the minutes of the conference, the discipline committee may make the case management determinations it considers appropriate.

46. The discipline committee must permit the respondent to present a full and complete defence.

The discipline committee may conduct the hearing in the absence of a respondent who does not appear on the date and at the place fixed for the hearing.

47. A complaint may be amended at any time, on the conditions necessary to safeguard the rights of the parties. It may be so amended to request, in particular, the suspension or the imposition of provisional conditions or restrictions referred to in section 27. However, except with the consent of all the parties, the discipline committee must not allow any amendment from which an entirely new complaint unrelated to the original would result.

48. The discipline committee must summon such witnesses and require the filing of such documents as it or either party considers useful by ordinary summons over the signature of the secretary.

49. The discipline committee, through one of its members, administers the oath to the parties and witnesses.

50. A person testifying before the discipline committee is bound to answer all questions. The testimony is privileged and cannot be used against the person in any adjudicative proceedings. He may not invoke his obligation to protect the confidentiality of personal information obtained in the course of his activities or professional secrecy as a ground for refusing to answer.

Where in camera proceedings are ordered, anyone acquainted with such testimony is personally bound by confidentiality, saving the right of the Organization's chair and members of a court of appeal to be informed of it in the performance of their duties.

DIVISION IV DECISIONS

51. Discipline committee decisions must be made by a majority of members in a division formed in accordance with section 14. Decisions must be recorded in writing, and signed by the concurring committee members. In addition to the conclusions, a decision must contain any indication that the disclosure, publication or release of certain information or documents is banned and the reasons for the decision.

Notwithstanding the first paragraph, where a member refuses or neglects to give reasons, a decision may be rendered by the other members, provided one of them is the chair or a vice-chair.

Where the chair or a vice-chair of the discipline committee refuses or neglects to give reasons, the other members may render a decision on behalf of the majority, provided the decision is made without dissent.

52. The discipline committee must render its decision within 90 days after the matter is taken under advisement.

53. The secretary must record the minutes of the hearing and the committee's decision in a special register.

The minutes must mention if the parties dispensed with recording, in which case they must contain a summary of the hearing, including the depositions. The minutes constitute evidence of their contents until proof to the contrary.

54. After a conviction, the parties may be heard with respect to the penalty.

A hearing on penalty must take place within 120 days after the conviction. The discipline committee must impose a penalty within 90 days after the hearing on penalty.

55. The discipline committee may condemn a complainant or respondent to costs or apportion the costs between them as it indicates.

Where the chair or a vice-chair of the discipline committee dismisses a complaint under section 41, he may condemn the complainant to costs.

The costs are those related to the processing of the complaint. They include, in particular, service costs, recording costs, the cost of expert opinion admitted in evidence, as well as the indemnities payable to summoned witnesses, calculated in accordance with the tariff established in the Regulation respecting indemnities and allowances payable to witnesses summoned before courts of justice (R.R.Q., 1981, c. C-25, r.2). If the respondent is found guilty, the costs also include the travel and lodging expenses of the discipline committee members and the clerk of the hearing.

Where a condemnation to costs becomes enforceable, the secretary of the discipline committee must draw up a list of costs and have it served in accordance with the Code of Civil Procedure. The list may be revised by the chair or a vice-chair of the discipline committee that heard the case, on a motion filed within 30 days of the date of service. At least 5 days' notice of the filing must be given to the parties in writing. A motion for revision does not prevent or suspend the execution of the decision. The decision of the chair or a vice-chair of the discipline committee concerning the revision of the list is final.

DIVISION V

MISCELLANEOUS

56. The secretary of the discipline committee must send the indemnity committee any decision made following a complaint filed against a licence holder, including a director or executive officer, for fraud, fraudulent tactics or misappropriation of funds for which the latter is responsible.

57. The secretary of the Organization's discipline committee must promptly send the Organization a copy of any decision of the discipline committee or a court of appeal ordering the suspension or revocation of a holder's licence, or imposing conditions or restrictions on the licence.

58. The discipline committee must submit an activity report annually and whenever requested by the Organization.

The report must indicate in particular the number and nature of the complaints received, the number of complaints dismissed, and the number and nature of the convictions.

59. Parties and witnesses may take back any filed exhibits belonging to them in the 12 months after the end of the proceedings or the appeal period. Where a party appeals from the decision by any means, exhibits may be taken back in the 12 months after the date of the final decision or the act terminating the appeal.

After that time, the secretary of the discipline committee may copy or transfer exhibits onto any medium that ensures their integrity, accessibility, authenticity and understandability for preservation purposes, unless the chair of the discipline committee decides otherwise.

60. The members of the discipline committee must take the oath in Schedule A of this Regulation, as must the committee secretary, assistant secretaries and office personnel.

61. This Regulation comes into force on 1 May 2010.

SCHEDULE A

(ss. 5, 13 and 60)

"OATH OF DISCRETION

I, A.B., swear under oath that I will not, without being so authorized by law, disclose or make known anything whatsoever of which I may take cognizance in the performance of my duties."

9759

Gouvernement du Québec

O.C. 298-2010, 31 March 2010

Real Estate Brokerage Act (2008, c. 9)

Real Estate Indemnity Fund and determination of the professional liability insurance premium

Regulation respecting the Real Estate Indemnity Fund and determination of the professional liability insurance premium

WHEREAS paragraphs 15 to 17 of section 46 of the Real Estate Brokerage Act (2008, c. 9) provide that the Organisme d'autoréglementation du courtage immobilier du Québec (the Organization) may, in addition to its regulatory powers under the Act, determine, by regulation, the terms and conditions governing the eligibility of claims submitted to the indemnity committee and the payment of indemnities, the maximum amount of indemnities that may be paid with regard to the same claim, and the fee that must be paid by brokers and agencies to the Organization for payment into the Real Estate Indemnity Fund, according to the licence they hold and the date of their registration with the Organization, as well as the terms of payment for that fee;

WHEREAS section 52 of the Act provides that the Organization determines, by regulation, the criteria to be used to fix the premium to be paid into the insurance fund established by the Organization and to which licence holders are required to subscribe;

WHEREAS section 107 of the Act, amended by section 153 of chapter 58 of the Statutes of 2009, provides that the Organization determines, by regulation, the operating rules of the indemnity committee, including those applicable to its decision-making process; WHEREAS section 109 of the Act provides that the Organization determines, by regulation, the fees paid by licence holders into the Real Estate Indemnity Fund and the fees so as to offset any insufficiency of assets in the Fund;

WHEREAS, in accordance with sections 10 and 11 of the Regulations Act (R.S.Q., c. R-18.1), the draft Regulation respecting the Real Estate Indemnity Fund and determination of the professional liability insurance premium was published in Part 2 of the *Gazette officielle du Québec* of 13 January 2010 with a notice that it could be submitted to the Government for approval on the expiry of 45 days following that publication;

WHEREAS it is expedient to approve the Regulation with amendments that clarify certain regulatory provisions or correct references;

IT IS ORDERED, therefore, on the recommendation of the Minister of Finance:

THAT the Regulation respecting the Real Estate Indemnity Fund and determination of the professional liability insurance premium, attached to this Order in Council, be approved.

GÉRARD BIBEAU, Clerk of the Conseil exécutif

Regulation respecting the Real Estate Indemnity Fund and determination of the professional liability insurance premium

Real Estate Brokerage Act (2008, c. 9, s. 46, pars. 15 to 17; ss. 52, 107 and 109; 2009, c. 58. s. 153)

CHAPTER I REAL ESTATE INDEMNITY FUND

DIVISION I INDEMNITY COMMITTEE

1. The indemnity committee is formed of no fewer than 3 and no more than 9 members, including a chair, appointed for a term of 3 years by the board of directors of the Organisme d'autoréglementation du courtage immobilier du Québec.

The board of directors may appoint one or more vicechairs. At the end of their term, members remain on the indemnity committee until their replacement, dismissal, re-appointment or resignation. However, a committee member who is replaced or who resigns may continue to work on a matter of which the member has been seized.

2. Where the number of members permits, the indemnity committee may sit in 2 or more divisions composed of 3 members or more, including the chair or a vicechair. Divisions with more than 3 members must have an uneven number of members.

3. Sittings of the indemnity committee may be held using any means of communication allowing all participants to communicate with the others. Those participating are deemed to have attended the sitting.

4. The indemnity committee must submit an activity report annually and whenever requested by the Organization.

5. Members of the indemnity committee must take the oath in Schedule A of this Regulation.

DIVISION II CLAIMS AND COMPENSATION

6. Claims filed with the indemnity committee must be in writing. They must set out the facts on which they are based and state the amount claimed, supported by evidence, and identify the licence holder in question.

A request for assistance under section 70 of the Real Estate Brokerage Act in relation to facts that may result in a claim against the Fund constitutes a claim.

7. To be admissible, a claim must be filed in the year in which the claimant becomes aware of fraud, fraudulent tactics or misappropriation of funds referred to in section 108 of the Real Estate Brokerage Act.

The indemnity committee may extend the time period if the claimant proves that, for a reason beyond the claimant's control, he or she was unable to submit the claim within the required time.

8. A claim on which the indemnity committee has already ruled and, if applicable, has already determined the amount of the indemnity is inadmissible, unless new facts warrant a review of the committee's decision.

9. Licence holders may not submit claims against the Fund in that role.

10. A claim against the Fund is ineligible if made by a person who remitted money to a licence holder for unlawful purposes or who knew or should have known that the money would be used for inappropriate purposes, or by a person who knew or should have known that the licence holder was engaged in fraud or fraudulent tactics.

11. The claimant and the licence holder must provide all information and documents pertaining to the claim and must adduce all relevant evidence.

12. The indemnity committee's ruling on a claim and, if applicable, on the amount of indemnity to be paid is final. Rulings must be made by a majority of members and substantiated. They must be recorded in writing, and signed by the concurring committee members.

13. Before receiving an indemnity determined by the indemnity committee, the claimant must sign a release in favour of the Organization, with subrogation of all rights in respect of the claim against the licence holder in question, his or her successors, or any person, partnership or legal person that is bound or may be bound to make the payment, up to the amount of the indemnity.

14. The maximum indemnity that may be paid out of the Fund is \$35,000 per claim in respect of fraud, fraudulent tactics or misappropriation of funds committed as of 1 May 2010. For an act committed before that date, the maximum indemnity is the maximum compensation provided for in section 37 of the Regulation respecting the application of the Real Estate Brokerage Act, made by Order in Council 1863-93 dated 15 December 1993 (1993, *G.O.* 2, 7041).

DIVISION III

FEES

15. The annual fee to be paid into the Real Estate Indemnity Fund is \$53 per licence.

The fee must be paid on application for the issue of a licence and annually thereafter.

Where the fee is paid for a licence covering a period of less than 12 months, it must be prorated to the number of months between the month of application and the fee's annual due date.

16. Fees paid into the Fund are indexed on May 1 of each year, on the basis of the rate of increase in the general Consumer Price Index for Canada for the 12-month period ending on 31 December of the preceding year, as determined by Statistics Canada.

Fees thus indexed are reduced to the nearest dollar where they contain a fraction of a dollar less than \$0.50 or increased to the nearest dollar where they contain a fraction of a dollar equal to or greater than \$0.50.

The indexed fee is published in the *Gazette officielle du Québec*.

CHAPTER II

PROFESSIONAL LIABILITY INSURANCE PREMIUM

17. The annual premium to be paid by licence holders into the insurance fund is determined by the Organization on the basis of common practice and forecasts. It may be adjusted to the following criteria:

(1) the juridical form chosen for the conduct of a licence holder's activities;

(2) the risks inherent in the types of licences held;

(3) risk experience, loss experience, and the frequency and amounts of claims against the licence holder;

(4) the territory where the licence holder conducts his activities;

(5) the fact of the licence holder's employment with the Organization.

Where the Organization adjusts the premium, it must do so through an additional premium, a premium credit or modification of the deductible.

18. This Regulation comes into force on 1 May 2010.

SCHEDULE A

(s. 5)

"OATH OF DISCRETION

I, A.B., swear under oath that I will not, without being so authorized by law, disclose or make known anything whatsoever of which I may take cognizance in the performance of my duties."

9760

Gouvernement du Québec

O.C. 299-2010, 31 March 2010

Real Estate Brokerage Act (2008, c. 9)

Brokerage requirements, professional conduct of brokers and advertising

Regulation respecting brokerage requirements, professional conduct of brokers and advertising

WHEREAS section 7 of the Real Estate Brokerage Act (2008, c. 9) provides that the Organisme d'autoréglementation du courtage immobilier du Québec (the Organization) determines, by regulation, the period during which a new broker must carry on brokerage activities for an agency before the broker may work for the broker's own account or become an executive officer of an agency;

WHEREAS the second paragraph of section 21 of the Act provides that the Organization makes regulations setting out rules governing the brokers' obligation to disclose any conflicts of interest;

WHEREAS, under the first paragraph of section 22 of the Act, the Organization makes regulations setting out rules respecting representations made by brokers and agencies, and the real estate advertising and information they disseminate to the public for promotional purposes and, under the third paragraph, the Organization may also set out specific or supplementary rules to govern advertising by franchisers, franchisees and sub-franchisees;

WHEREAS paragraphs 5 and 8 of section 46 provide that, in addition to its regulatory powers under the Act, the Organization may determine, by regulation, the rules of professional conduct applicable to brokers and to executive officers of an agency and the requirements to be met in order to engage in a brokerage transaction described in section 1 of the Act;

WHEREAS, in accordance with sections 10 and 11 of the Regulations Act (R.S.Q., c. R-18.1), the draft Regulation respecting brokerage requirements, professional conduct of brokers, advertising and additional training was published in Part 2 of the *Gazette officielle du Québec* of 13 January 2010 with a notice that it could be submitted to the Government for approval on the expiry of 45 days following that publication; WHEREAS it is expedient to approve the Regulation with amendments that clarify certain regulatory provisions or correct references;

IT IS ORDERED, therefore, on the recommendation of the Minister of Finance:

THAT the Regulation respecting brokerage requirements, professional conduct of brokers and advertising, attached to this Order in Council, be approved.

GÉRARD BIBEAU, Clerk of the Conseil exécutif

Regulation respecting brokerage requirements, professional conduct of brokers and advertising

Real Estate Brokerage Act (2008, c. 9, ss. 7, 21, 22 and 46, pars. 2, 5 and 8; 2009, c. 58, s. 145)

CHAPTER I BROKERAGE REQUIREMENTS

DIVISION I GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

1. A licence holder must disclose to every person dealt with in brokerage-related activities that a broker's or agency licence has been issued to the holder under the Real Estate Brokerage Act.

The licence must be produced by the holder on request.

2. A licence holder must avoid any situation of conflict of interest; if the situation cannot be avoided, the holder must disclose it in writing to all parties concerned without delay.

3. A licence holder who engages in professional activities that are not real estate brokerage activities or carries on another enterprise must prevent the activities or enterprise from compromising the holder's integrity, independence or competence.

4. A licence holder must offer professional services without distinction, exclusion or preference based on a ground of discrimination set out in section 10 of the Charter of human rights and freedoms, including number or age of children.

5. A licence holder must verify, in accordance with generally accepted practice, all information provided to the public or to another holder, and be able at all times to prove the accuracy of the information.

6. A licence holder engaging in brokerage activities may not elude or attempt to elude professional civil liability, including by inserting in a contract of professional services a clause that directly or indirectly, fully or partially, excludes that liability.

7. A licence holder may not allow a person to use the holder's name if the person is no longer qualified to engage in brokerage activities or is no longer licensed.

In addition, a licence holder must ensure that no person whose licence has been suspended or revoked uses the holder's name to engage in brokerage activities. Without valid reason, the holder may not employ, authorize to act, retain the employment of or tolerate such a person in the holder's office.

8. A licence holder may not derive or agree to derive remuneration determined on the basis of the difference between the price set by the party represented and the price accepted by the other party to the transaction.

9. A licence holder may not use or lend property placed in the holder's care by a party represented or another party to a transaction for purposes other than those for which the property was placed in the holder's care, without written authorization to that effect.

10. A licence holder may not unduly delay handing over property placed in the holder's care by a party represented or by a party to a transaction.

11. A licence holder must always use the most recent version of any form.

12. Every disclosure statement required under the Real Estate Brokerage Act or this Regulation must be written in plain language that is simple, clear and concise. It must be presented in a logical manner that is likely to bring the information to the attention of the person or partnership for which it is intended.

DIVISION II

REPRESENTATION OF PARTIES TO A TRANSACTION

13. The parties to a transaction are all the persons having an interest in completing a transaction described in section 1 of the Real Estate Brokerage Act.

14. A licence holder represents the party to whom the holder is bound by a brokerage contract.

A licence holder not bound by a brokerage contract represents the party who has requested the holder act as an intermediary.

15. A licence holder must protect and promote the interests of the party represented and act towards all the parties to a transaction in a fair and equitable manner.

A holder may not make any representation that is contrary to the interests of the party represented. No disclosure of confidential or strategic information concerning that party or the prospective transaction may be made by the holder without the party's written authorization.

16. A licence holder representing a party must as soon as possible inform all unrepresented parties that the holder has an obligation to protect and promote the interests of the party represented and to act towards all other parties in a fair and equitable manner.

17. A licence holder must disclose without delay to the party to whom the holder is bound by a brokerage contract the fact that the holder is also bound by a brokerage contract to another party to the transaction.

DIVISION III

INTEREST IN AN IMMOVABLE, AN ENTERPRISE OR A LOAN SECURED BY IMMOVABLE HYPOTHEC

18. A licence holder who, whether or not in the course of the holder's functions, directly or indirectly holds or proposes to acquire an interest in an immovable or enterprise that is to be purchased, sold or exchanged, or acts or proposes to act as a lender in connection with a loan secured by immovable hypothec must, before the drafting or acceptance of the proposed transaction by the prospective contracting party, send without delay to that party, using any means providing proof of the date and time of receipt, a written notice containing

- (1) the name of the licence holder;
- (2) the licence held and its number;
- (3) the address of the holder's establishment;

(4) the name and contact information of the prospective contracting party; (5) the purpose and nature of the transaction;

(6) the nature of the interest the holder has or proposes to acquire;

(7) the date and time of receipt of the notice; and

(8) the signature of the broker or agency executive officer, as the case may be.

The notice must also state, if applicable, the fact that the licence holder, for the holder's account, is negotiating, has negotiated or intends to negotiate the resale or alienation of the immovable the holder proposes to acquire.

In the event that the notice is not given, the person entitled to the information may, as long as the contract has not been signed by the parties, withdraw without penalty from any offer or promise concerning the immovable, enterprise or loan, whether accepted or not, by sending or giving a written notice to the other party.

The licence holder's notice must be kept in the notice of disclosure record maintained by the broker or the broker's agency and be entered in the notice of disclosure register.

19. A licence holder proposing to act as a lender in connection with a loan secured by immovable hypothec cannot represent the borrower. Before entering into an agreement with the borrower, the holder must terminate any binding brokerage contract. Despite the foregoing, the brokerage contract cannot be terminated as long as negotiations are in progress with another lender for a loan applied for by the borrower.

The broker must in such a case inform the borrower in writing that the broker is not acting as a representative and that the borrower may seek representation by a licence holder of his or her choice.

20. A licence holder selling, exchanging or leasing an immovable or enterprise in which a direct or indirect interest is held by the holder may not represent an interested purchaser or lessee. The holder must without delay inform that person in writing that the holder is not acting as a representative and that the person may seek representation by a licence holder of his or her choice.

21. A licence holder acquiring a direct or indirect interest in an immovable or enterprise cannot represent the seller. The holder must without delay inform the seller in writing that the holder is not acting as a representative and that the seller may seek representation by a licence holder of his or her choice.

22. A licence holder proposing to acquire a direct or indirect interest in an immovable or enterprise to be sold, leased or exchanged by the holder pursuant to a brokerage contract must terminate the brokerage contract before submitting a transaction proposal. Despite the foregoing, the brokerage contract cannot be terminated with a view to the purchase or lease of the immovable as long as transactions are in progress or the holder is collaborating with another licence holder to complete the transaction on the immovable.

23. A licence holder cannot claim remuneration if the holder acquires an interest in an immovable or enterprise or does so for the holder, a partnership or legal person controlled by the holder, or if the married or civil union spouse of the holder, the person with whom the holder is in a de facto union or a legal person or a partnership controlled by that spouse or person acquires the immovable or enterprise.

DIVISION IV

CHANGE AFFECTING A BROKER OR AGENCY BOUND BY A BROKERAGE CONTRACT

24. An agency that has entered into a brokerage contract must without delay notify the contracting party in writing of any change in the identity of the broker acting for the agency with the contracting party.

25. A broker must notify in writing the parties represented as soon as the broker ceases to act for his or her own account. The notice must, if applicable, state the right of the parties either to continue to deal with the broker if the broker is subsequently acting for an agency, with the name of the agency, or to terminate the broker-age contract.

26. If the broker ceases to act for an agency, the broker and the agency must, without delay, so notify in writing the parties represented by the broker. The notice must, if applicable, state the right of the parties either to continue to deal with the agency, to continue to deal with the broker is acting for his or her account or for a new agency, with the name of the agency, or to terminate the brokerage contract.

27. A licence holder who has entered into a brokerage contract must notify the contracting party in writing of any change in the address of the holder's establishment.

28. A brokerage contract entered into by a broker working for his or her own account is deemed to be cancelled as of the time the broker ceases brokerage activities or the broker's licence is suspended or revoked.

DIVISION V

VERIFICATION OF IDENTITY AND LEGAL CAPACITY

29. A licence holder must verify and ascertain the identity of the party represented as well as the identity of the other parties to the transaction if the latter parties are not represented by a licence holder.

30. A licence holder must verify and ascertain the legal capacity of the party represented for the proposed transaction as well as the legal capacity of the other parties to the transaction if the latter parties are not represented by a licence holder.

DIVISION VI

INFORMATION PROTECTION MEASURES

31. A licence holder must respect the confidential nature of information given to the holder and the confidentiality of personal information obtained in the course of the holder's brokerage activities, unless an express provision of an Act, an order of a court of competent jurisdiction or the carrying on of the brokerage activities exempts the holder from that requirement.

32. A licence holder must not use personal information obtained in the course of brokerage activities for purposes other than those for which the information was obtained.

33. A licence holder must take all reasonable measures to prevent a person employed by or authorized to act for the holder from disclosing the personal information obtained by the holder in the course of brokerage activities.

The licence holder must ensure that all office equipment and the registers and records maintained by the holder are installed and kept so that the confidentiality of the information they contain is preserved.

34. A licence holder must, when personal information is obtained from another licence holder in connection with a transaction, use the information for the sole purpose for which it was obtained. The holder may not communicate the information to another licence holder without authorization from the licence holder from whom the information was first obtained.

DIVISION VII REMUNERATION SHARING

35. A broker acting for an agency must, when receiving remuneration in connection with a transaction, pay the remuneration without delay to the agency for which he or she carries on brokerage activities.

36. Every remuneration agreement in favour of a licence holder that may place the interest of the licence holder in conflict with that of a party to a transaction must be disclosed to the party in writing.

In addition, the licence holder must without delay make a written disclosure to that party stating the identity of the other person or partnership from which the remuneration is owing, the nature of the holder's relation with that person or partnership, and the nature of the remuneration owing if it is a non-monetary benefit.

37. A licence holder may not share remuneration with a person or partnership that engages in or attempts to engage in brokerage activities without being authorized to do so in or outside Québec.

A licence holder may share remuneration received in connection with a transaction described in section 3 of the Regulation respecting the issue of broker's and agency licences, approved by Order in Council 295-2010 dated 31 March 2010, only with another licence holder, a person or a partnership authorized to engage in a brokerage transaction described in section 1 of the Real Estate Brokerage Act outside Québec, or a person or a partnership authorized to engage in a brokerage transaction under sections 2 and 3 of that Act.

Remuneration received by an agency to be paid to a broker acting for the agency may be paid to a legal person controlled by the broker. Under this paragraph, the broker will be deemed to control a legal person if 90% of its shares are held by the broker and the shares are linked to participation in the decision-making process concerning the legal person.

38. A licence holder sharing or proposing to share remuneration must without delay disclose that fact in writing to the party represented and retain a copy of the notice given to that effect.

In addition, if any other remuneration is or may be payable, the licence holder must disclose the identity of the other person or partnership and, in the case of a nonmonetary benefit, the nature of the compensation. **39.** A licence holder may, as a means of promoting services, offer reductions in remuneration, or benefits or gifts.

A licence holder may waive all or any part of the remuneration to which the holder is entitled so long as doing so does not disadvantage the other parties to the transaction or another licence holder.

A licence holder may not, however, waive all or any part of the remuneration to which the holder is entitled if one or more transaction proposals are presented by other licence holders at the same time as a transaction proposal presented by the holder or received directly by the seller.

40. A licence holder must without delay disclose in writing to the party represented the terms of any shared remuneration offered to the other licence holders collaborating in the transaction as well as the consequences the proposed terms entail.

DIVISION VIII BROKERS NEW TO THE PROFESSION

41. Before being able to act for his or her account, a broker must have carried on activities for an agency, as a broker new to the profession, for at least three of the five years preceding the time the broker begins acting for his or her account.

42. An agency acting through one or more brokers who are new to the profession must set up a system enabling the brokers to be mentored and their practices supervised. The agency must in particular review the brokerage contract files before an immovable is put on the market by a new broker, examine each of the broker's transactions and oversee its progress.

DIVISION IX MISCELLANEOUS

43. When acting as an intermediary in connection with a brokerage transaction described in section 1 of the Real Estate Brokerage Act, a licence holder must recommend a reasonable deposit be made.

The deposit may not be placed elsewhere than in the licence holder's trust account.

44. If a party represented wishes to use an information listing service in connection with an immovable or enterprise, the licence holder must list the immovable or enterprise with that service without delay. The listing

must be made before the marketing of the immovable or enterprise or performance of the brokerage contract begins, unless written instructions to the contrary are given by the party represented.

45. A licence holder must without delay give to the party represented a copy of every document containing data used to describe the immovable, enterprise or loan secured by immovable hypothec covered by the brokerage contract, using any medium capable of ensuring its integrity, accessibility, authenticity and intelligibility.

46. A licence holder may offer to the party for whom the holder is acting as an intermediary only the immovables, enterprises or loan-related products that correspond to the party's needs or criteria. The holder must also inform the party of the reasons for selecting the proposed immovables, enterprises or products.

CHAPTER II

BROKERAGE REQUIREMENTS IN CONNECTION WITH LOANS SECURED BY IMMOVABLE HYPOTHEC

DIVISION I

GENERAL

47. This Chapter does not apply to a licence holder who only gives a client the name and contact information of a person or partnership offering loans secured by immovable hypothec or otherwise puts them in contact with one another.

48. A licence holder must ensure that the proposed loan is suitable for the party represented in view of the party's needs and financial capacity and the circumstances.

DIVISION II

DISCLOSURE IN RELATION TO LOANS SECURED BY IMMOVABLE HYPOTHEC

§1. Requirement to disclose

49. A licence holder engaging in a brokerage transaction in relation to a loan secured by immovable hypothec must without delay give a written disclosure statement to the borrower, in accordance with generally accepted practice, containing all pertinent facts relating to the loan applied for.

The disclosure statement must specify the following in particular:

(1) the cost of borrowing associated with the loan applied for by the borrower;

(2) any costs or penalties to be assumed by the borrower if the loan is not repaid at term or a loan payment is not made on its due date; and

(3) all brokerage fees, if they are included in the amount borrowed and are paid directly by the lender to the broker or agency.

50. Disclosure may be based on an estimate or reasonable assumption if, at the time of the disclosure, the information to be disclosed cannot be known by the licence holder. Mention must be made in the disclosure statement of the fact that the information is based on an estimate or assumption.

51. Disclosure of the cost of borrowing is not required to be made as provided in this Regulation if the loan secured by immovable hypothec is made by one of the persons or partnerships listed below and the borrower is informed of the cost of borrowing in accordance with the statutes that apply to the person or partnership:

- (1) a bank;
- (2) a financial services cooperative;
- (3) an insurance company;
- (4) a mutual insurance association;
- (5) a mutual benefit association;
- (6) a savings company;
- (7) a trust company;
- (8) a loan company;

(9) a retail association within the meaning of the Cooperative Credit Associations Act (S.C. 1991, chapter 48).

52. A licence holder must without delay make a written disclosure of the following information to the borrower retaining the holder's services so that the holder may act as the intermediary for a loan secured by immovable hypothec:

(1) the number of lenders who in the previous 12 months have made loans for which the broker or agency acted as the intermediary; and

(2) the fact that the broker or agency in the previous 12 months was a lender while brokerage or agency services were retained so that the broker or agency could act as the intermediary for a loan secured by immovable hypothec.

For the purposes of subparagraph 1 of the first paragraph, if there is more than one lender for the same loan, the lenders are considered to be one lender.

On request, a licence holder must without delay make a written disclosure to a borrower

(1) of the fact that the broker or agency in the previous 12 months was the lender of more than 50% of the total number of loans secured by immovable hypothec for which the broker's or agency's services were retained so that the broker or agency could act as the intermediary; and

(2) of the name of the lender that, if applicable, made more than 50% of the total number of hypothecary loans or loan renewals for which the broker or agency acted as the intermediary during the previous 12 months.

§2. Calculation of cost of borrowing

53. The cost of borrowing is calculated as if the borrower scrupulously met all commitments. It is expressed as an annual rate with a specification, if required, of an amount in dollars and cents.

54. For the purposes of this subdivision:

"APR" means the cost of borrowing expressed as the annual rate on the principal referred to in the first paragraph of section 55;

"disbursement charge" means a charge, other than the one referred to in the first paragraph of section 58, to recover an expense incurred by the lender to arrange, document, insure or secure a loan and includes charges referred to in subparagraphs 3 and 6 to 8 of the second paragraph of section 58;

"high-ratio loan" means a loan under which the amount advanced, together with the amount outstanding under any other hypothec that ranks equally with, or prior to, the hypothec loan exceeds 80% of the market value of the property securing the loan;

"principal" means the amount borrowed but does not include any cost of borrowing.

55. The cost of borrowing is calculated using the formula

 $APR = (C/(TxP)) \times 100$

in which

"APR" is the annual percentage rate of the cost of borrowing,

"C" is the cost of borrowing within the meaning of section 57 over the term of the loan;

"P" is the average of the principal of the loan outstanding at the end of each period for the calculation of interest under the loan agreement, before subtracting any payment that is due at that time, and

"T" is the term of the loan in years, expressed to at least two decimal points of significance.

For the purposes of the preceding paragraph:

(1) the APR may be rounded off to the nearest 1/8%;

(2) each instalment payment made on the loan must be applied first to the accumulated cost of borrowing and then to the outstanding principal;

(3) a period of

(a) one month is 1/12 of a year;

(b) one week is 1/52 of a year; and

(c) one day is 1/365 of a year;

(4) if the annual interest rate underlying the calculation is variable over the period of the loan, it must be set as the annual interest rate that applies on the day that the calculation is made;

(5) if there are no instalment payments under the loan agreement, then the APR must be calculated on the basis that the outstanding principal is to be repaid in one lump sum at the end of the term of the loan; and

(6) a loan agreement for an amount that comprises, in whole or in part, an outstanding balance from a prior loan is a new loan for the purpose of the calculation.

56. If an immovable hypothec secures the use of a credit card or line of credit, the cost of borrowing is expressed as an annual rate that is,

(1) if the loan has a fixed annual interest rate, that annual interest rate; or

(2) if the loan has a variable interest rate, the annual interest rate that applies on the date of the disclosure.

57. The APR for a loan is the annual interest rate if there is no cost of borrowing other than interest.

If an interest rate is disclosed in accordance with section 6 of the Interest Act (R.S.C. 1985, c. I-15), the APR must be calculated in a manner that is consistent with that section.

58. Except for a credit card or a line of credit, the cost of borrowing consists of all the costs of borrowing under the loan over its term and includes the following charges:

(1) administrative charges, including charges for services, transactions or any other activity in relation to the loan;

(2) charges for the services and disbursements of an advocate or notary hired by the lender and payable by the borrower;

(3) insurance charges other than those excluded under subparagraphs 1, 6 and 8 of the second paragraph;

(4) brokerage charges paid by the lender to a broker in connection with the loan, if the borrower is required to reimburse the lender for the charges; and

(5) charges for appraisal, inspection or surveying services provided to the borrower in relation to the immovable that is security for the hypothec, if those services are required by the lender.

The cost of borrowing for a loan does not include

(1) charges for insurance on the loan if

(a) the insurance is optional; or

(b) the borrower is its beneficiary and the amount insured reflects the value of the immovable that is security for the hypothec;

(2) charges for an overdraft;

(3) charges paid to register documents or obtain information from a public register about security interests related to the immovable given as security;

(4) penalty charges for the prepayment of the loan;

(5) charges for the services or disbursements of an advocate or notary, other than those mentioned in subparagraph 2 of the first paragraph;

(6) charges for insurance against defects in title, if the borrower selects the insurer, if the insurance is paid for directly by the borrower and if the borrower is the beneficiary of the insurance;

(7) charges for appraisal, inspection or surveying services in relation to the immovable that is security for the hypothec, if the borrower receives a report from the person providing the service and is entitled to give the report to third parties; (8) charges for insurance against default on a highratio loan;

(9) charges to maintain a tax account that are required for a high-ratio loan or that are optional;

(10) any charges to discharge a security interest; or

(11) default charges.

DIVISION III

LOAN SECURED BY REVERSE IMMOVABLE HYPOTHEC

59. A licence holder may not enter into a loan secured by reverse immovable hypothec with a borrower unless the holder receives from the borrower a written statement signed by an advocate or a notary stating that the advocate or notary has given the borrower independent legal advice concerning the proposed loan.

60. A loan secured by reverse immovable hypothec is a loan secured by immovable hypothec that satisfies both of the following conditions:

(1) the money advanced does not have to be repaid until the occurrence of one or more of the following events:

(a) the borrower's death or, if there is more than one borrower, the death of the last surviving borrower;

(b) the acquisition by the borrower or the last surviving borrower, as the case may be, of another immovable to use as his or her principal residence;

(c) the sale of the immovable charged with the hypothec;

(d) the borrower's or last surviving borrower's vacating the immovable charged with the hypothec to live elsewhere with no reasonable prospect of returning;

(e) payment default; and

(2) one or more of the following conditions applies while the borrower or last surviving borrower, as the case may be, continues to occupy the immovable charged with the hypothec as his or her principal residence and otherwise complies with the terms of the loan:

(a) no repayments of the principal or interest are due or capable of becoming due;

(b) although interest payments may become due, no repayment of all or part of the principal is due or capable of becoming due;

(c) although interest payments and repayment of part of the principal may become due, repayment of all of the principal is not due or capable of becoming due.

CHAPTER III

PROFESSIONAL CONDUCT

DIVISION I

GENERAL

61. This chapter applies to brokers and agency executive officers whether or not they are carrying on activities.

DIVISION II

GENERAL DUTIES AND OBLIGATIONS TOWARDS THE PUBLIC

62. A broker or agency executive officer must act with prudence, diligence and competence and demonstrate integrity, courtesy and a spirit of cooperation. He or she may not commit acts that are derogatory to the honour and dignity of the profession.

The broker or agency executive officer must also adhere to sound practices.

63. The conduct of a broker or agency executive officer must demonstrate objectivity, discretion and moderation.

64. A broker or agency executive officer must support any measure aimed at protecting the public.

65. A broker or agency executive officer must support any measure likely to improve the quality of the services in the field in which the activities are carried on.

66. A broker or agency executive officer must refrain from carrying on activities in conditions or circumstances likely to impair the quality of services.

67. A broker or agency executive officer must carry on activities in such a manner as to avoid controversy.

68. A broker or agency executive officer must not attempt to intimidate a person dealt with, including to urge that person to withdraw a request made to the Organisme d'autoréglementation du courtage immobilier du Québec or to alter testimony.

69. A broker or agency executive officer must not participate in any act or practice in real estate matters that may be illegal or that may harm the public or the profession.

70. A broker or agency executive officer must take all reasonable measures to ensure that the persons employed by or authorized to act on his or her behalf comply with the Real Estate Brokerage Act and the regulations made under it.

71. A broker or agency executive officer must collaborate with any official service or body responsible for protecting the public, to the extent provided by law.

72. A broker or agency executive officer must not urge a person insistently or improperly to use the broker's or the agency executive officer's professional services.

A broker or agency executive officer may not, in any manner whatsoever, unduly influence or attempt to influence persons who may be physically or emotionally vulnerable because of their age, state of health or the occurrence of a specific event or allow that such persons be influenced.

73. In carrying on activities, a broker or agency executive officer must take into account his or her aptitudes, limits on knowledge and means available. The broker or agency executive officer may not agree to engage in a brokerage transaction described in section 1 of the Real Estate Brokerage Act that is outside his or her field of expertise without seeking the necessary assistance, including from another licence holder having the required skills.

74. A broker or agency executive officer must ensure his or her knowledge is continually maintained current.

75. A broker or agency executive officer must, when speaking publicly of real estate matters, do so in a competent manner.

76. A broker or agency executive officer may express an opinion on the value of an immovable, an enterprise or the cost of a loan only if the opinion is based on and supported by generally accepted practice.

DIVISION III

DUTIES AND OBLIGATIONS TOWARDS THE PARTY REPRESENTED AND THE PARTIES TO A TRANSACTION

77. A broker or agency executive officer must demonstrate a reasonable degree of availability or otherwise designate another licence holder as a replacement, and must take the necessary measures to ensure that all communications are dealt with in his or her absence and that all files are properly followed up.

78. A broker or agency executive officer must provide all explanations necessary to enable a person to understand and evaluate the services proposed or provided by them or the agency for which they act.

79. A broker or agency executive officer must not advise or encourage a party to a transaction to commit an act the broker or officer knows to be illegal or fraudulent.

80. A broker or agency executive officer must, if the protection of the interests of a party to a transaction so requires, advise that party to seek the assistance of a recognized expert.

81. A broker or agency executive officer must recommend to the person proposing to acquire an immovable that the person have a full inspection performed by a professional or a building inspector who

(1) has professional liability insurance covering fault, error and omission;

(2) uses a recognized inspection service agreement;

(3) performs inspections according to recognized building inspection standards; and

(4) submits a written report to the party that requested the inspection services.

The broker or agency executive officer may furnish a list of more than one professional or building inspector meeting the requirements of the first paragraph.

82. A broker or agency executive officer must also recommend to the owner of the immovable that a statement regarding the immovable be furnished to any person proposing to acquire an interest in the immovable.

83. A broker or agency executive officer must act with objectivity whenever advising or informing the party represented by them or the agency for which they act and all other parties to a transaction. That obligation extends to all the material facts relevant to the transaction and to its object, and must be fulfilled without exaggeration, concealment or misrepresentation.

If applicable, the broker or officer must inform the parties of products and services that concern heritage protection and relate to the transaction.

84. A broker or agency executive officer must take steps, in accordance with accepted practice, to learn of any factors that may adversely affect the party represented by them or the agency for which they act, the parties to the transaction or the very object of the transaction.

85. A broker or agency executive officer must inform the party represented and all other parties to a transaction of any known factor that may adversely affect the parties or the object of the transaction.

86. A broker or agency executive officer must, to ensure that all the parties to a transaction are protected, see that their rights and obligations are recorded in writing. The broker or agency executive officer must reasonably inform all the parties to a transaction of the rights and obligations arising from the documents they sign.

87. A broker or agency executive officer must, before visiting or arranging to have an immovable visited, first obtain the consent of the licence holder having an exclusive brokerage contract or the owner-seller if no brokerage contract has been entered into for the immovable.

88. When meeting the party represented by them or the agency for which they act or a party to a transaction, a broker or agency executive officer must take all necessary measures to protect the confidentiality of information obtained in conversations with those parties.

89. A broker or agency executive officer must inform the party with whom he or she or the agency represented has a dispute of the possibility under section 34 of the Real Estate Brokerage Act of referring the matter to conciliation or mediation, or to arbitration of accounts between a broker or an agency and a client.

DIVISION IV

DUTIES TOWARDS OTHER LICENCE HOLDERS

§1. General obligations

90. A broker or agency executive officer must not abuse another licence holder's good faith, use unfair practices against or seek to gain an unfair advantage over the other licence holder. In particular, the broker or agency executive officer must refrain from falsely claiming that a brokerage contract has been entered into or awarded exclusively or that an immovable or an enterprise is not available for visiting.

91. A broker or agency executive officer must use fair competition and customer solicitation practices.

92. A broker or agency executive officer must not denigrate or attempt to adversely affect the relations between another licence holder and the client represented, the other parties to a transaction or other licence holders.

93. A broker or agency executive officer must abstain from expressing an opinion on a transaction completed by another licence holder unless an opinion is solicited. The broker or agency executive officer must then give an informed and objective opinion that takes into account all the factors involved in the transaction.

94. A broker or agency executive officer must not use a discipline committee decision or any element brought to the broker's or agency executive officer's attention in connection with evidence disclosure for the purpose of harming a licence holder.

§2. Duty of collaboration

95. A broker or agency executive officer must, to facilitate the closing of a transaction, collaborate with every other licence holder who so requests, on reasonable terms agreed on beforehand.

In that context, the broker or agency executive officer must not share remuneration in a manner that could compromise the closing of a transaction. He or she must also not share or offer to share remuneration in a manner that is unfavourable to any of the parties to the transaction or that contravenes section 39.

96. Any other licence holder collaborating in a transaction must be informed by the broker or agency executive officer of the existence of every transaction proposal, whether accepted or not. The broker or agency executive officer may not, however, reveal the substance of the proposal.

97. When collaborating in a transaction, a broker or agency executive officer must reveal to the other licence holders all information relevant to the closing of the transaction.

§3. Exclusive brokerage contracts

98. A broker or agency executive officer must, before entering into a brokerage contract, take the necessary steps to ascertain whether the proposed transaction is not already covered by an exclusive brokerage contract.

99. A broker or agency executive officer must not perform any act that is incompatible with an exclusive brokerage contract made with another licence holder. In particular, the broker or officer may not set appointments, present transaction proposals or conduct negotiations in relation to a proposed transaction otherwise than through the licence holder under the exclusive brokerage contract, unless authorized to do so by that holder.

A broker or agency executive officer may, however, engage in general solicitation so long as it is not directly or specifically aimed at persons or partnerships already bound by an exclusive brokerage contract entered into with another licence holder. The solicitation may, for example, be made to all persons or partnerships that are owners in a particular geographic area or that are members of a particular profession, club or organization.

§4. Presentation of transaction proposals

100. A broker or agency executive officer must not prevent another licence holder who has obtained a written transaction proposal from participating in the presentation of the proposal, unless written instructions to that effect have been received from the party represented.

101. A broker or agency executive officer must not unduly delay presenting a transaction proposal received from another licence holder.

102. A broker or agency executive officer must present every transaction proposal to the prospective contracting party as soon as possible after receiving it. The presentation must take place through the licence holder retained by the prospective contracting party to act as a representative, unless written authorization allowing otherwise is given by the prospective contracting party.

A broker or agency executive officer receiving more than one proposal must present each proposal without preference, including as regards chronological order of receipt, identity of the licence holder receiving it and circumstances in which it was made.

DIVISION V

DUTIES AND OBLIGATIONS TOWARDS THE PROFESSION

§1. Contribution to advancement of the profession

103. A broker or agency executive officer must contribute, insofar as is possible, to the development of the profession, including by sharing knowledge and experience with other licence holders.

104. A broker or agency executive officer must not allow or encourage in any manner a person or partnership not licensed by the Organization to illegally engage in brokerage or agency activities.

§2. Collaboration with the Organisme d'autoréglementation du courtage immobilier du Québec

105. A broker or agency executive officer must collaborate in any inspection, inquiry conducted by the syndic or assistant syndic, process by the assistance service or the indemnity committee to obtain information, or proceeding related to mediation, arbitrage or conciliation conducted by the Organization, in particular by disclosing all the facts known personally, producing all relevant documents and replying as soon as possible to every request in the manner determined by the person making the request.

106. A broker or agency executive officer may not exaggerate, conceal or misrepresent the information or documents provided during an inspection, an inquiry conducted by the syndic or assistant syndic, the assistance service or the indemnity committee, or in any proceeding related to mediation, arbitrage or conciliation conducted by the Organization.

107. A broker or agency executive officer may not urge a person holding information concerning the broker or agency executive officer, another licence holder or a transaction not to collaborate with a person referred to in section 104.

The broker or agency executive officer may not refuse to authorize a person to disclose information concerning the broker, the agency executive officer or the agency once a disclosure request has been made by a person referred to in section 104.

108. A broker or agency executive officer who is aware that no offence has been committed may not request an inquiry by the syndic or assistant syndic, request an intervention by the assistance service, or allow such an inquiry or intervention to continue with regard to a licence holder's conduct.

109. A broker or agency executive officer who is informed that a request for an inquiry or intervention has been made in his or her regard, that such an inquiry is being conducted by the syndic or assistant syndic or by an investigator hired by the syndic, or that such an intervention by the assistance service is under way, or on whom a disciplinary complaint has been served, may not communicate with the person who requested an inquiry or intervention without prior written permission of the syndic, an assistant syndic or an analyst with the assistance service.

CHAPTER IV REPRESENTATION, ADVERTISING AND INFORMATION ON IMMOVABLES

DIVISION I REPRESENTATION AND ADVERTISING

110. The goods or services provided by a broker or an agency must conform to statements or advertisements made concerning the goods or services.

111. A broker or an agency may make representations or engage in advertising in connection with a brokerage transaction described in section 1 of the Real Estate Brokerage Act or disseminate information concerning an immovable only with the express written authorization of the person or partnership on whose behalf the broker or agency undertook to do so.

112. No licence holder or person promoting real estate or mortgage brokerage services may in any manner make representations or engage in advertising that is false, misleading or incomplete or that leaves out a material fact.

Any dissemination of false, misleading or incomplete information is therefore prohibited, in particular with regard to

(1) the competence of a licence holder;

(2) the extent or efficiency of the services provided or those generally provided by brokers and agencies;

(3) the costs of a loan secured by immovable hypothec; or

(4) the selling price of an immovable, which must be the price set in the brokerage contract or the transaction proposal.

113. No licence holder or person promoting real estate or mortgage brokerage services may make, engage in or allow any representation or advertising that

(1) suggests the licence holder or person is authorized to engage in a brokerage transaction described in section 1 of the Real Estate Brokerage Act when in fact he or she is not legally qualified to do so at the time of the representation or advertising;

(2) falsely suggests that he or she holds a specialist's title;

(3) contains information or uses a formulation, name, trademark, slogan or logo likely to be confusing;

(4) contains a statistic for which no source is given; or

(5) contains a photograph of the licence holder taken more than five years earlier.

DIVISION II

IDENTIFICATION OF BROKERS AND AGENCIES

14. Representations and advertising relating to a broker must state

(1) the broker's full name, as is appears on the broker's licence;

(2) the licence held by the broker, except if the advertising is in a periodical, in which case a recognized abbreviation may be used; and

(3) if applicable, the name of the agency for which the broker carries on activities and, after the name, the licence held by the agency, except if the advertising is in a periodical, in which case the name of the agency is sufficient.

A holder of a real estate broker's licence and a mortgage broker's licence may specify only one of those licences, but must specify only the mortgage broker's licence if, in representations or advertising, the agency represented is designated solely as a mortgage agency.

115. To describe the licence held, a real estate broker must specify one or more of the following designations:

- (1) real estate broker;
- (2) residential real estate broker;
- (3) commercial real estate broker;
- (4) real estate mortgage broker.

If the broker holds a real estate broker's licence with a restriction described in section 2 of the Regulation respecting the issue of broker's and agency licences, the broker may specify only the designation or designations in subparagraphs 2 and 3 that describe the broker's legal qualification.

116. An agency must, in representations and advertising, specify

(1) the name indicated on its licence; and

(2) the licence held, except for advertising in a periodical, in which case a recognized abbreviation may be used.

The holder of a real estate agency licence and a mortgage agency licence may specify either or both of those licences.

117. To describe the licence it holds, a real estate agency must use one or more of the following designations:

- (1) real estate agency;
- (2) residential real estate agency;
- (3) commercial real estate agency; and
- (4) real estate mortgage agency.

DIVISION III

INFORMATION ON IMMOVABLES

118. Whatever the medium, a property description or similar document intended for the public in which the details of an immovable subject to a brokerage contract are provided must specify

(1) if applicable, the existence of a statement from the owner of the immovable for sale or lease and the availability of any document containing that statement;

(2) if applicable, that the immovable is being sold with no legal warranty;

(3) the name of the broker or agency under the brokerage contract and the licence held, displayed prominently in type of the same colour at least the size of the other information appearing in the document or property description;

(4) if applicable, that the holder under the brokerage contract has a direct or indirect interest in the immovable and that the notice required by section 18 is available;

(5) if the brokerage contract is for the sale of the immovable, that the document or property description is not an offer or a promise that may bind the seller, but is an invitation to submit such offers or promises; and

(6) unless the owner of the immovable gives written instructions regarding non-disclosure of the owner's identity, information on the subject of the brokerage contract or the parties to it that is necessary to complete a transaction proposal. The property description or document may contain other information that conforms to the Real Estate Brokerage Act or of this Regulation.

119. This Regulation comes into force on 1 May 2010.

9761

Gouvernement du Québec

O.C. 300-2010, 31 March 2010

Real Estate Brokerage Act (2008, c. 9)

Contracts and forms

Regulation respecting contracts and forms

WHEREAS section 9 of the Real Estate Brokerage Act (2008, c. 9) provides that the Organisme d'autoréglementation du courtage immobilier du Québec (the Organization) determines, by regulation, the conditions on which a broker may have the suspension of his or her licence lifted;

WHEREAS section 26 of the Act provides that the Organization sets out, by regulation, rules governing contracts concerning certain residential immovables;

WHEREAS paragraph 13 of section 46 of the Act provides that, in addition to its regulatory powers under the Act, the Organization may determine, by regulation, the form of contracts or forms, other than a contract referred to in section 26, how and when they may be used, the particulars and stipulations which must or must not appear in certain contracts or forms and those that supplement intention;

WHEREAS, in accordance with sections 10 and 11 of the Regulations Act (R.S.Q., c. R-18.1), the draft Regulation respecting contracts and forms was published in Part 2 of the *Gazette officielle du Québec* of 13 January 2010 with a notice that it could be submitted to the Government for approval on the expiry of 45 days following that publication;

WHEREAS it is expedient to approve the Regulation with amendments that clarify certain regulatory provisions or correct references;

IT IS ORDERED, therefore, on the recommendation of the Minister of Finance:

THAT the Regulation respecting contracts and forms, attached to this Order in Council, be approved.

GÉRARD BIBEAU, Clerk of the Conseil exécutif

Regulation respecting contracts and forms

Real Estate Brokerage Act (2008, c. 9, ss. 26 and 46, par. 13)

CHAPTER I

TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF USE

1. A licence holder must complete a contract, a transaction proposal or a form clearly and legibly.

The licence holder must not use any abbreviation incomprehensible to the parties or leave any ambiguity as to whether certain terms and conditions in the contract, transaction proposal or form apply.

2. Where a licence holder completes a contract, a transaction proposal or a form by hand, he or she must use ink and write neatly to facilitate reading.

3. Where a licence holder completes a contract, a transaction proposal or a form using a computer system or a printing system, he or she must use at least 10-point type.

Moreover, in the case of a form, the licence holder must use type that is different from the type used for mandatory particulars or stipulations, so as to enable the parties to easily distinguish the particulars or stipulations from any addition or amendment.

4. Where a licence holder strikes out an entry in a mandatory particular or stipulation, he or she must have the strikeout initialled by the parties before they sign at the bottom of the form.

5. The additions or amendments that a licence holder may make to a contract, a transaction proposal or a form must pertain only to the object of the terms and conditions of that contract, transaction proposal or form.

6. A licence holder must, before having a contract, a transaction proposal or a form that he or she has completed signed, allow the parties to take cognizance of its terms and conditions and, before the signing, provide all the explanations and answers to questions that the parties may ask.

Part 2

7. A licence holder must not add anything to, amend or strike out anything from a contract, a transaction proposal or a form after the parties have signed at the bottom of the contract or form.

CHAPTER II

PARTICULARS AND STIPULATIONS WHICH MUST OR MUST NOT APPEAR IN CERTAIN CONTRACTS, TRANSACTION PROPOSALS OR FORMS

DIVISION I

BROKERAGE CONTRACT

8. A contract referred to in section 23 of the Real Estate Brokerage Act must set out

(1) the name and address of the parties in legible script;

(2) the date of the contract and the address of the place where it was signed;

(3) the nature of the transaction involved;

(4) the cadastral designation of the immovable property involved and the address of any building erected thereon, if any;

(5) if such is the case, its irrevocability;

(6) if such is the case, its exclusivity;

(7) the date and time of its expiry;

(8) the price of sale, purchase, exchange, or, as the case may be, leasing of the immovable property;

(9) the nature and manner of payment of the broker's compensation; and

(10) where applicable, any obligation on the part of the broker or agency to send the particulars of the contract to a multiple listing service or a similar service of a real estate board or of any other agency for the purpose of distributing them to members subscribing to such a service.

9. A brokerage contract made by a broker acting on his or her own account must include the following particular:

"If the BROKER ceases to carry on brokerage activities on his or her own account to carry them on instead for an agency, (IDENTIFICATION OF THE BROKER'S CLIENT) may elect to continue to do business with the BROKER and to be bound to the agency for which the BROKER will carry on brokerage activities, by sending the broker a notice to that effect. (IDENTIFICATION OF THE BROKER'S CLIENT) is then bound to the agency under the same terms and conditions as those provided for in this contract from the moment the broker begins to act for the agency.

Should such a notice not be sent by the day on which the BROKER begins to carry on brokerage activities for the agency, this contract will be terminated".

10. A brokerage contract made by an agency must include the following particular:

"If the broker mentioned in this contract as the AGENCY's representative ceases to carry on brokerage activities for the agency to carry them on instead on his or her account or for another agency, (IDENTIFICATION OF THE AGENCY'S CLIENT) may elect to continue to do business with the broker or with the AGENCY in accordance with this contract, by sending the AGENCY a notice stating his or her choice not later than the day on which the broker ceases to carry on activities for the AGENCY.

If (IDENTIFICATION OF THE AGENCY'S CLIENT) elects to continue to do business with the broker, this contract is terminated on the date on which the broker ceases to carry on activities for the AGENCY. (IDEN-TIFICATION OF THE BROKER'S CLIENT) is then bound to the BROKER or other agency for which the BROKER now carries on activities, as the case may be, under the same terms and conditions as those provided for in this contract.

Should the notice required under the first paragraph not be sent, this contract is terminated".

Except on contrary notice from (IDENTIFICATION OF THE AGENCY'S CLIENT), or should the broker mentioned in this contract as the AGENCY's representative cease to carry on activities, if the AGENCY ceases to carry on its activities, this contract is terminated on the date on which the agency ceases its activities and (IDENTIFICATION OF THE BROKER'S CLIENT) is then bound to the broker now carrying on activities on his or her account or, as the case may be, to the agency for which the broker now carries on activities, under the same terms and conditions as those provided for in this contract. In case of notice to the contrary or if the broker completely ceases his or her activities, this contract is terminated on the date on which the AGENCY ceases its activities".

11. A contract referred to in section 23 of the Real Estate Brokerage Act must not contain a stipulation for automatic renewal.

12. A contract referred to in section 23 of the Real Estate Brokerage Act must specify that the licence holder has an obligation to submit to the contracting party every promise to purchase, lease or exchange the immovable in question.

DIVISION II

PARTICULARS THAT SUPPLEMENT INTENTION

13. Failing a stipulation as to the time of expiry of a contract referred to in section 23 of the Real Estate Brokerage Act, it expires 30 days after its making.

14. This Regulation comes into force on 1 May 2010.

9762

Gouvernement du Québec

O.C. 301-2010, 31 March 2010

Real Estate Brokerage Act (2008, c. 9)

Enact transitional measures for the application of the Act

Regulation to enact transitional measures for the application of the Real Estate Brokerage Act

WHEREAS the Real Estate Brokerage Act (2008, c. 9) was assented to on 28 May 2008;

WHEREAS section 157 of the Act provides that the Government may, by a regulation made within 12 months after the coming into force of that section, prescribe transitional measures for the purposes of the Act;

WHEREAS, in accordance with sections 10 and 11 of the Regulations Act (R.S.Q., c. R-18.1), a draft of the Regulation to enact transitional measures for the application of the Real Estate Brokerage Act was published in Part 2 of the *Gazette officielle du Québec* of 13 January 2010 with a notice that it could be made by the Government on the expiry of 45 days following that publication;

WHEREAS it is expedient to make the Regulation with amendments in order to clarify certain regulatory provisions or correct references;

IT IS ORDERED, therefore, on the recommendation of the Minister of Finance:

THAT the Regulation to enact transitional measures for the application of the Real Estate Brokerage Act, attached to this Order in Council, be made.

GÉRARD BIBEAU, Clerk of the Conseil exécutif

Regulation to enact transitional measures for the application of the Real Estate Brokerage Act

Real Estate Brokerage Act (2008, c. 9, s. 157)

1. A person who, on 30 April 2010, holds a chartered real estate broker's certificate, chartered real estate agent's certificate or affiliated real estate broker's certificate issued by the Association des courtiers et agents immobiliers du Québec under the Real Estate Brokerage Act (R.S.Q., c. C-73.1), and who, on that date, represents a partnership or a legal person that holds a chartered real estate broker's certificate, in accordance with section 7 of that Act, or manages an establishment or acts as an assistant to that person who manages an establishment, in accordance with section 13 of that Act, is deemed to have the competence in management of professional activities of brokers and agencies required to be an executive officer of the agency under the Real Estate Brokerage Act (2008, c. 9).

2. A real estate broker's licence is issued to a natural person who, on 30 April 2010, represents a partnership or a legal person that holds a chartered real estate broker's certificate, in accordance with section 7 of the Real Estate Brokerage Act (R.S.Q., c. C-73.1), on that date, manages an establishment or acts as an assistant to that person, in accordance with section 13 of the Real Estate Brokerage Act (R.S.Q., c. C-73.1), without holding a certificate issued by the Association des courtiers et agents immobiliers du Québec.

3. A person who, on 30 April 2010, represents a partnership or a legal person that is deemed to hold a licence under section 147 of the Real Estate Brokerage Act (2008, c. 9), is deemed to be the executive officer of the partnership or the legal person.

4. A natural person who, not more than 2 years after the expiry or relinquishment of the person's real estate agent or broker's certificate issued in accordance with the Real Estate Brokerage Act (R.S.Q., c. C-73.1), files for a real estate broker's licence is exempt from the obligation to meet the conditions set out in paragraphs 2 and 4 of section 1 of the Regulation respecting the issue of broker's and agency licences approved by Order in Council 295-2010 dated 31 March 2010 if the person has taken all additional training imposed to holders of real estate broker's licences by the Organization since 1 May 2010.

Despite the first paragraph, the person who held an affiliated real estate agent's certificate may act on his or her account only when the person meets the qualification requirements imposed by the Organization.

5. A person who, as of 1 May 2010, has taken all additional training imposed to holders of real estate broker's licences by the Organization since that date and applies for a real estate broker's licence within 2 years of the following events, is exempt from the obligation to meet the conditions set out in paragraphs 2 and 4 of section 1 of the Regulation respecting the issue of broker's and agency licences approved by Order in Council 295-2010 dated 31 March 2010:

(1) the expiry or relinquishment of the person's chartered real estate agent's certificate or chartered or affiliated real estate broker's certificate issued under the Real Estate Brokerage Act (R.S.Q., c. C-73.1); or

(2) the time when the person ceased to act as the representative of a partnership or legal person that holds a chartered real estate broker's certificate, in accordance with section 7 of the Real Estate Brokerage Act (R.S.Q., c. C-73.1) or as the manager or assistant manager of an establishment in accordance with section 13 of the Real Estate Brokerage Act (R.S.Q., c. C-73.1).

Such a person is deemed to have the competence in management of professional activities of brokers and agencies required to be an agency executive officer if the person has taken all additional training imposed by the Organization to brokers qualified as agency executive officers since 1 May 2010.

6. A broker or an agency that, on 1 May 2010, is deemed to hold a licence under sections 146 and 147 of the Real Estate Brokerage Act (2008, c. 9) must, within the time limit set by the Organization, pay the fees

payable in accordance with section 45 of the Regulation respecting the issue of broker's and agency licences approved by Order in Council 295-2010 dated 31 March 2010 and the fee to the Real Estate Indemnity Fund in accordance with section 15 of the Regulation respecting the Real Estate Indemnity Fund and determination of the professional liability insurance premium approved by Order in Council 298-2010 dated 31 March 2010. The fees are reduced by an amount corresponding to the fees paid for the year 2010 under the By-law respecting chargeable fees and specialist titles of the Association des courtiers et agents immobiliers du Québec approved by Order in Council 1866-93 dated 15 December 1993 and the Regulation respecting the application of the Real Estate Brokerage Act made by Order in Council 1863-93 dated 15 December 1993, in proportion to the number of months remaining in the period from 1 May 2010 to 31 December 2010.

The first paragraph also applies to firms, independent partnerships and their insurance representatives and independent representatives as well as representatives of mutual fund dealers and representatives of scholarship plan dealers referred to in section 10 of this Regulation.

7. The following persons are deemed to meet the conditions set out in paragraphs 2 and 4 of section 1 of the Regulation respecting the issue of broker's and agency licences approved by Order in Council 295-2010 dated 31 March 2010:

(1) a person who

(*a*) prior to the coming into force of the Real Estate Brokerage Act (2008, c. 9), has obtained an attestation of college studies provided for in section 9 of the Regulation respecting the application of the Real Estate Brokerage Act made by Order in Council 1863-93 dated 15 December 1993;

(b) has applied for the issue of a real estate broker's licence within 3 months following the coming into force of the Real Estate Brokerage Act (2008, c. 9) and not later than 2 years after obtaining the attestation of college studies mentioned in subparagraph a; and

(c) has passed the examination provided for in section 20 of the Regulation respecting the application of the Real Estate Brokerage Act made by Order in Council 1863-93 dated 15 December 1993 for the category of affiliated real estate agent's certificate;

(2) a person who

(a) prior to the coming into force of the Real Estate Brokerage Act (2008, c. 9), has started the program leading to the attestation of college studies provided for in section 9 of the Regulation respecting the application of the Real Estate Brokerage Act made by Order in Council 1863-93 dated 15 December 1993;

(b) has obtained the attestation of college studies mentioned in subparagraph a within 12 months of the coming into force of the Real Estate Brokerage Act (2008, c. 9);

(c) applies for the issue of a real estate broker's licence within 3 months after obtaining the attestation of college studies mentioned in subparagraph a; and

(d) has passed the examination provided for in section 20 of the Regulation respecting the application of the Real Estate Brokerage Act made by Order in Council 1863-93 dated 15 December 1993 for the category of affiliated real estate agent's certificate.

After the issue of the broker's licence, the person has the same rights and is subject to the same restrictions as the affiliated real estate agent referred to in section 146 of the Real Estate Brokerage Act (2008, c. 9).

8. The following persons are deemed to meet the conditions set out in paragraphs 2 and 4 of section 1 of the Regulation respecting the issue of broker's and agency licences approved by Order in Council 295-2010 dated 31 March 2010:

(1) a person who

(*a*) prior to the coming into force of the Real Estate Brokerage Act (2008, c. 9), has obtained the attestation of college studies provided for in section 13 of the Regulation respecting the application of the Real Estate Brokerage Act made by Order in Council 1863-93 dated 15 December 1993;

(b) has applied for a real estate broker's licence within 3 months following the coming into force of the Real Estate Brokerage Act (2008, c. 9) and not later than 2 years after obtaining the attestation mentioned in subparagraph a; and

(c) has passed the examination provided for in section 20 of the Regulation respecting the application of the Real Estate Brokerage Act made by Order in Council 1863-93 dated 15 December 1993 for the category of chartered real estate broker's certificate;

(2) a person who

(*a*) prior to the coming into force of the Real Estate Brokerage Act (2008, c. 9), has started the program leading to the attestation of college studies provided for in section 13 of the Regulation respecting the application of the Real Estate Brokerage Act made by Order in Council 1863-93 dated 15 December 1993;

(b) has obtained the attestation of college studies mentioned in subparagraph a within 18 months following the coming into force of the Real Estate Brokerage Act (2008, c. 9);

(c) has applied for the issue of a real estate broker's licence within 3 months after obtaining the attestation of college studies mentioned in subparagraph a; and

(d) has passed the examination provided for in section 20 of the Regulation respecting the application of the Real Estate Brokerage Act made by Order in Council 1863-93 dated 15 December 1993 for the category of chartered real estate broker's certificate.

That person may act on the person's own account and is deemed to have the competence in management of professional activities of brokers and agencies required to be an agency executive officer where, during at least 3 of the 5 preceding years, the person held an affiliated real estate agent's certificate issued by the Association des courtiers et agents immobiliers du Québec under the Real Estate Brokerage Act (R.S.Q., c. C-73.1), has acted as broker for an agency's account or has engaged in brokerage-related activities provided for in section 1 of the Real Estate Brokerage Act (R.S.Q., c. C-73.1) or section 1 of the Real Estate Brokerage Act (2008, c. 9).

9. An insurance or securities representative governed by the Act respecting the distribution of financial products and services (R.S.Q., c. D-9.2) who, prior to the coming into force of the Real Estate Brokerage Act (2008, c. 9), has started the courses required by the Regulation respecting brokerage activities in connection with loans secured by immovable hypothec approved by Order in Council 834-99 dated 7 July 1999, successfully completes them within 12 months following the coming into force of the Real Estate Brokerage Act (2008, c. 9) and applies for a mortgage broker's licence within 3 months following the completion of the courses is exempt from the obligation to meet the conditions set out in paragraphs 2 and 4 of section 1 of the Regulation respecting the issue of broker's and agency licences approved by Order in Council 295-2010 dated 31 March 2010.

10. For the purposes of section 148 of the Real Estate Brokerage Act (2008, c. 9), firms, independent partnerships and their insurance representatives and independent representatives that are authorized to engage in

brokerage transactions relating to loans secured by immovable hypothec under the Act respecting the distribution of financial products and services (R.S.Q., c. D-9.2) before 1 May 2010 are deemed to hold a mortgage broker's licence or a real estate agency's licence, as the case may be, until the Organization rules on their application pursuant to that section.

The same applies to representatives of mutual fund dealers and representatives of scholarship plan dealers registered under Title V of the Securities Act (R.S.Q., c. V-1.1) authorized to engage in such transactions in accordance with the Regulation enacting transitional measures for the carrying out of the Act to amend the Securities Act and other legislative provisions, made by Order in Council 12-2010 dated 13 January 2010 (2010, *G.O.* 2, 465).

11. Every trust account existing on 30 April 2010 is deemed to be a trust account governed by the Regulation respecting records, books and registers, trust accounting and inspection of brokers and agencies approved by Order in Council 296-2010 dated 31 March 2010.

12. A broker, other than a broker carrying on activities for an agency, or an agency that, on 1 May 2010, holds a licence under sections 146 to 148 of the Real Estate Brokerage Act (2008, c. 9) and does not hold a trust account on 1 May 2010 must, within 3 months following that date, open a general trust account and send the declaration related to the opening of accounts required under section 29 of the Regulation respecting records, books and registers, trust accounting and inspection of brokers and agencies approved by Order in Council 296-2010 dated 31 March 2010 to the Organization.

13. The declarations related to the opening of trust accounts provided for in sections 111 and 113 of the By-law of the Association des courtiers et agents immobiliers du Québec approved by Order in Council 1865-93 dated 15 December 1993 are deemed to be the declarations related to the opening of accounts required by sections 29 and 30 of the Regulation respecting records, books and registers, trust accounting and the inspection of brokers and agencies approved by Order in Council 296-2010 dated 31 March 2010.

14. Despite sections 57 to 59 of the Real Estate Brokerage Act (2008, c. 9), the members of the board of directors of the Association des courtiers et agents immobiliers du Québec, appointed by the Government under section 81 of the Real Estate Brokerage Act (R.S.Q., c. C-73.1) and in office on 30 April 2010, remain in office until they are replaced or reappointed in accordance with the terms and conditions provided for in the Real Estate Brokerage Act (2008, c. 9). Despite sections 57 to 59 of the Real Estate Brokerage Act (2008, c. 9), the members of the board of directors of the Association des courtiers et agents immobiliers du Québec, elected from among the members of the Association under section 81 of the Real Estate Brokerage Act (R.S.Q., c. C-73.1) and in office on 30 April 2010, remain in office until they are replaced or re-elected in accordance with the terms and conditions provided for in the Real Estate Brokerage Act (2008, c. 9) and the Internal By-law of the Organisme d'autoréglementation du courtage immobilier du Québec.

For the purposes of section 58 of the Real Estate Brokerage Act (2008, c. 9), the Minister appoints a third director when the number of directors elected to the board of directors of the Organization goes from 9 to 8 following an election to the board of directors in accordance with the terms and conditions provided for in the Real Estate Brokerage Act (2008, c. 9) and the Internal By-law of the Organisme d'autoréglementation du courtage immobilier du Québec.

15. The insurance fund established by the Association des courtiers et agents immobiliers du Québec under section 79.1 of the Real Estate Brokerage Act (R.S.Q., c. C-73.1) is deemed to be established under section 52 of the Real Estate Brokerage Act (2008, c. 9).

16. Despite section 52 of the Real Estate Brokerage Act (2008, c. 9), sections 5 and 6 and subparagraphs 7 and 7.1 of the first paragraph of section 74 of the Real Estate Brokerage Act (R.S.Q., c. C-73.1), and section 61.1 of the Regulation respecting the Association des courtiers et agents immobiliers du Québec approved by Order in Council 1865-93 dated 15 December 1993 continue to apply, with the necessary modifications, to every broker or agency that holds a licence issued by the Organisme d'autoréglementation du courtage immobilier du Québec, until the due date of the premium payable to the insurance fund following the coming into force of the Real Estate Brokerage Act (2008, c. 9).

17. The members of the board of directors of the Real Estate Indemnity Fund, appointed under section 46 of the Real Estate Brokerage Act (R.S.Q., c. C-73.1), constituted under section 9.14 of the Real Estate Brokerage Act (R.S.Q., c. C-73) and continued under section 44 of the Real Estate Brokerage Act (R.S.Q., c. C-73.1), in office on 30 April 2010, become members of the indemnity committee appointed under section 105 of the Real Estate Brokerage Act (2008, c. 9), without further formalities, until they are replaced or reappointed in accordance with the Real Estate Brokerage Act (2008, c. 9) and the Regulation respecting the Real Estate Indemnity Fund and determination of the professional liability insurance premium.

18. The discipline committee established under section 128 of the Real Estate Brokerage Act (R.S.Q., c. C-73.1) is deemed to be, as of 1 May 2010, established under section 93 of the Real Estate Brokerage Act (2008, c. 9).

The members, appointed under section 131 of the Real Estate Brokerage Act (R.S.Q., c. C-73.1), of the discipline committee established under section 128 of that Act, in office on 30 April 2010, become the members of the discipline committee established under section 93 of the Real Estate Brokerage Act (2008, c. 9), without further formalities, until they are replaced or reappointed in accordance with the Real Estate Brokerage Act (2008, c. 9). Despite the foregoing, the substitute chair appointed under section 131 of the Real Estate Brokerage Act (R.S.Q., c. C-73.1) becomes one of the vice-chairs of the discipline committee established under the Real Estate Brokerage Act (2008, c. 9).

19. The professional inspection committee established under section 107 of the Real Estate Brokerage Act (R.S.Q., c. C-73.1) becomes, on 1 May 2010, the inspection committee established under section 73 of the Real Estate Brokerage Act (2008, c. 9).

The members, appointed under section 110 of the Real Estate Brokerage Act (R.S.Q., c. C-73.1), of the professional inspection committee established under section 107 of the Real Estate Brokerage Act (R.S.Q., c. C-73.1), in office on 30 April 2010, become the members of the inspection committee established under section 73 of the Real Estate Brokerage Act (2008, c. 9), without further formalities, until they are replaced or reappointed in accordance with the Real Estate Brokerage Act (2008, c. 9) and the Regulation respecting records, books and registers, trust accounting and inspection of brokers and agencies.

20. The committee established under section 25.2 of the Regulation respecting the Association des courtiers et agents immobiliers du Québec approved by Order in Council 1865-93 dated 15 December 1993 becomes, on 1 May 2010, the committee referred to in section 42 of the Real Estate Brokerage Act (2008, c. 9).

The members, appointed under section 25.2 of the Regulation respecting the Association des courtiers et agents immobiliers du Québec approved by Order in Council 1865-93 dated 15 December 1993, of the committee established under that section, in office on 30 April 2010, become the members of the committee referred to in section 42 of the Real Estate Brokerage Act (2008, c. 9), without further formalities, until they are replaced or

reappointed in accordance with the Regulation respecting the issue of broker's and agency licences approved by Order in Council 295-2010 dated 31 March 2010.

21. The Financing fund of the Association des courtiers et agents immobiliers du Québec for public information, established under section 148 of the Regulation respecting the Association des courtiers et agents immobiliers du Québec approved by Order in Council 1865-93 dated 15 December 1993, becomes, on 1 May 2010, the Financing fund of the Organisme d'autoréglementation du courtage immobilier du Québec established under section 47 of the Real Estate Brokerage Act (2008, c. 9).

22. Business cards, signs or any other advertisement already used in accordance with the Real Estate Brokerage Act (R.S.Q., c. C-73.1) by a real estate broker or agent, before the coming into force of the Real Estate Brokerage Act (2008, c. 9), may be used for the 18 months following the coming into force of the Real Estate Brokerage Act (2008, c. 9).

23. The rules provided for in sections 26 and 27 of the Regulation respecting the application of the Real Estate Brokerage Act made by Order in Council 1865-93 dated 15 December 1993 and those provided for in sections 85, 86, 87, 89, 90, 94, 99, 100 and Schedules 1 to 5 to the Regulation respecting the Association des courtiers et agents immobiliers du Québec approved by Order in Council 1865-93 dated 15 December 1993 continue to apply for the 18 months following the coming into force of the Real Estate Brokerage Act (2008, c. 9), with the necessary modifications.

24. The licence applied for or held by a person who has held a certificate issued in accordance with the Real Estate Brokerage Act (R.S.Q., c. C-73.1) is subject, with the necessary modifications, to any suspension, cancellation, revocation or restriction of the right to practise affecting that certificate on 1 May 2010.

25. A person who, before the coming into force of the Real Estate Brokerage Act (2008, c. 9), has been the subject of a decision of the board of directors confirming a recommendation of the discipline committee of the Association des courtiers et agents immobiliers requiring that the person take a course or training, may not be issued a licence or maintain his or her licence unless the person shows that he or she has successfully completed, if applicable, the course or training that was recommended, or any other training considered equivalent by the Organization and, where applicable, obtains from the board of directors of the Organization an extension of the period for completing the course or training.

26. The effects on a certificate issued by the Association des courtiers et agents immobiliers du Québec of any decision or order of the discipline committee of the Association des courtiers et agents immobiliers du Québec or a court, resulting from a disciplinary complaint, becoming final before or after the coming into force of the Real Estate Brokerage Act (2008, c. 9), are deemed to continue for the licence held by the person or partnership concerned by the decision, with the necessary modifications.

27. Every decision of the discipline committee of the Association des courtiers et agents immobiliers du Québec or a court, resulting from a disciplinary complaint, becoming final before or after the coming into force of the Real Estate Brokerage Act (2008, c. 9), that orders a person or a partnership to perform an act, not to do or to cease doing something or that restricts the right to practise or the professional activities of a person or partnership, under the same terms and conditions, with the necessary modifications.

28. A person or partnership that has been the subject of a decision of the discipline committee or a court, resulting from a disciplinary complaint, becoming final before or after the coming into force of the Real Estate Brokerage Act (2008, c. 9), may not apply for the issue of a licence under the Real Estate Brokerage Act (2008, c. 9) until the end of the suspension or prohibition of issue imposed on the person by the discipline committee under the Real Estate Brokerage Act (R.S.Q., c. C-73.1).

29. A natural person who, on 30 April 2010, holds a chartered real estate broker's certificate issued by the Association des courtiers et agents immobiliers du Québec under the Real Estate Brokerage Act (R.S.Q., c. C-73.1), and carries on activities under a name other than the person's name, may continue to act on his or her account under that name or under another name.

30. Except for a document concerning additional training, the issue of a certificate or licence, obtaining and use of a specialist title, discipline, overseeing of the carrying on of the activities of brokers and agencies, professional inspection and indemnification, a document in the possession of the Association des courtiers et agents immobiliers du Québec on 30 April 2010 is deemed not to be a document of the Organization for the purposes of section 61 of the Real Estate Brokerage Act (2008, c. 9).

31. This Regulation comes into force on 1 May 2010.

Gouvernement du Québec

O.C. 303-2010, 31 March 2010

An Act respecting the Ministère de l'Emploi et de la Solidarité sociale and the Commission des partenaires du marché du travail (R.S.Q., c. M-15.001)

An Act respecting the Ministère du Revenu (R.S.Q., c. M-31)

An Act respecting the Québec Pension Plan (R.S.Q., c. R-9)

Agreement on social security between the Gouvernement du Québec and the Government of the Kingdom of Morocco — Ratification of the Agreement and Regulation respecting the implementation

Ratification of the Agreement on social security between the Gouvernement du Québec and the Government of the Kingdom of Morocco, signed in Rabat on 25 May 2000, and making of the Regulation respecting the implementation of that agreement

WHEREAS on 25 May 2000, in Rabat, the Gouvernement du Québec and the Government of the Kingdom of Morocco signed an agreement on social security covering pension plans, under Order in Council 1291-99 dated 24 November 1999;

WHEREAS, under paragraph 3 of section 5 of the Act respecting the Ministère de l'Emploi et de la Solidarité sociale and the Commission des partenaires du marché du travail (R.S.Q., c. M-15.001), in the exercise of his functions the Minister may, in particular, enter into agreements in accordance with the law, with a government other than the Gouvernement du Québec, a department of such a government, an international organization, or a body under the authority of such a government or organization;

WHEREAS, under section 10 of that Act, notwithstanding any other legislative or regulatory provision, where an agreement in the area of income security and social benefits under paragraph 3 of section 5 of that Act extends the coverage of an Act or a regulation to a person defined in the agreement, the Government may, by regulation, enact the measures required to implement the agreement in order to give effect to the agreement; WHEREAS the Government may, by regulation made under section 96 of the Act respecting the Ministère du Revenu (R.S.Q., c. M-31), give effect to international agreements of a fiscal nature entered into under section 9 of that Act;

WHEREAS, under section 215 of the Act respecting the Québec Pension Plan (R.S.Q., c. R-9), the Government may make regulations respecting the manner in which that Act is to apply to any case affected by an agreement entered into with another country;

WHEREAS the Agreement is an international agreement within the meaning of section 19 of the Act respecting the Ministère des Relations internationales (R.S.Q., c. M-25.1.1);

WHEREAS the Agreement is also an important international commitment within the meaning of subparagraph 1 of the second paragraph of section 22.2 of that Act;

WHEREAS, under the third paragraph of section 20 of that Act, international agreements referred to in section 22.2 of that Act must, to be valid, be signed by the Minister of International Relations, approved by the National Assembly and ratified by the Government;

WHEREAS, under section 22.4 of that Act, the ratification of an international agreement or the making of an order referred to in the third paragraph of section 22.1 of that Act may not take place, where it concerns an important international commitment, until the commitment is approved by the National Assembly;

WHEREAS the Agreement was approved by the National Assembly on 18 December 2002;

WHEREAS, under Order in Council 1118-93 dated 11 August 1993, proposed regulations and regulations concerning the implementation of reciprocal agreements in matters of social security entered into by the Gouvernement du Québec are excluded from the application of the Regulations Act (R.S.Q., c. R-18.1);

IT IS ORDERED, therefore, on the recommendation of the Minister of International Relations, the Minister of Employment and Social Solidarity and the Minister of Revenue:

THAT the Agreement on Social Security between the Gouvernement du Québec and the Government of the Kingdom of Morocco, signed in Rabat on 25 May 2000, approved by the National Assembly on 18 December 2002 and whose text is attached to the implementation regulation mentioned below, be ratified;

THAT the Regulation respecting the implementation of the Agreement on Social Security between the Gouvernement du Québec and the Government of the Kingdom of Morocco, attached to this Order in Council, be made.

GÉRARD BIBEAU, Clerk of the Conseil exécutif

Regulation respecting the implementation of the Agreement on Social Security between the Gouvernement du Québec and the Government of the Kingdom of Morocco

An Act respecting the Ministère de l'Emploi et de la Solidarité sociale and the Commission des partenaires du marché du travail (R.S.Q., c. M-15.001, s. 10)

An Act respecting the Ministère du Revenu (R.S.Q., c. M-31, s. 96)

An Act respecting the Québec Pension Plan (R.S.Q., c. R-9, s. 215)

1. The Act respecting the Québec Pension Plan (R.S.Q., c. R-9) and the regulations thereunder apply to any person referred to in the Agreement on Social Security between the Gouvernement du Québec and the Government of the Kingdom of Morocco signed on 25 May 2000 and attached as Schedule 1.

2. That Act and the regulations apply in the manner stipulated in that Agreement and in the Administrative Arrangement for the application of the Agreement, attached as Schedule 2.

3. This Regulation comes into force on 1 December 2010.

AGREEMENT ON SOCIAL SECURITY BETWEEN QUÉBEC AND THE KINGDOM OF MOROCCO

THE GOUVERNEMENT DU QUÉBEC

AND

THE GOVERNMENT OF THE KINGDOM OF MOROCCO

Having resolved to co-operate in the social field,

Affirming the principle of equal treatment between all persons who are or were subject to the statutes of either State as regards the application of their social security statutes,

Wishing to guarantee the social insured of both States, as well as their rightful claimants, the rights acquired or in the process of being acquired with respect to old age insurance, retirement, disability insurance, survivors and life insurance,

Have decided to enter into an agreement intended to coordinate the application, to both States' social insured and their rightful claimants, of the statutes of Québec and the Kingdom of Morocco in the field of social security,

and

To that end, have agreed as follows:

TITLE 1 GENERAL

ARTICLE 1 DEFINITIONS

In the Agreement, unless a different meaning is indicated by the context, the following expressions mean:

(*a*) "competent authority": the Minister from Québec or the Minister from Morocco responsible for the administration of the legislation referred to in Article 2;

(b) "competent institution": for Québec, the Québec department or agency responsible for the administration of the legislation referred to in Article 2; for the Kingdom of Morocco, the fund or agency responsible for the administration of the legislation referred to in Article 2;

(c) "period of insurance": for Québec, any year for which contributions have been paid or for which a disability pension has been paid under the Act respecting the Québec Pension Plan or any other year considered as equivalent; and, for the Kingdom of Morocco, any period of contribution giving entitlement to benefits under the Moroccan legislation referred to in Article 2, or any other period recognized as equivalent or deemed to be a period of insurance;

(d) "benefit": a pension, an annuity, an allowance, a lump sum or any other benefit in cash provided under the legislation of each Party, including any complement, supplement or increase; (e) "national": for Québec, a person of Canadian citizenship residing in Québec and, for the Kingdom of Morocco, a person of Moroccan citizenship;

(f) "person": a worker, an insured under the legislation of either Party referred to in Article 2 or anyone who has gained rights under the statutes of either Party;

and

any term not defined in the Agreement has the meaning given to it under the applicable legislation.

ARTICLE 2 MATERIAL SCOPE

1. The Agreement shall apply:

(*a*) for Québec, to the legislation of Québec concerning the Québec Pension Plan;

(b) for the Kingdom of Morocco:

i. to the legislation concerning the social security plan as amended or completed, limited to long-term benefits and death allowance;

ii. to the legislation concerning the retirement allowance group plan;

iii. to the legislative, regulatory or statutory provisions approved by the public authority related to particular and special social security plans insofar as they cover employees or persons deemed to be employees and as they relate to common risks and benefits of the legislation respecting social security plans.

2. The Agreement shall also apply to any statutory or regulatory act which amends, adds to or replaces the legislation referred to in paragraph 1.

3. The Agreement shall also apply to a statutory or regulatory act of one Party which extends the existing plans to new categories of beneficiaries; notwithstanding the foregoing, that Party may, within three months of the date of official publication of that act, notify the other Party that the Agreement shall not apply to it.

4. The Agreement shall not apply to a statutory or regulatory act covering a new branch of social security, unless the Agreement is amended to that effect.

ARTICLE 3 PERSONAL SCOPE

Unless otherwise provided, the Agreement shall apply to persons who are or have been subject to the legislation of a Party, to their dependants and survivors within the meaning of the legislation of either Party, as well as to persons who have gained rights under the legislation of any Party.

ARTICLE 4 EQUALITY OF TREATMENT

Unless otherwise provided in the Agreement, the persons referred to in Article 3 shall, in the administration of the legislation of a Party, receive the same treatment as the nationals of that Party.

ARTICLE 5 EXPORT OF BENEFITS

1. Unless otherwise provided in the Agreement, benefits acquired under the legislation of one Party, or under the Agreement, shall not be subject to any reduction, modification, suspension, suppression or confiscation by reason only of the fact that the beneficiary resides or is staying in the territory of the other Party, and such benefits shall be payable in the territory of the other Party.

2. Benefits payable under the Agreement by one Party in the territory of the other Party shall also be payable outside the territory of both Parties, under the same conditions that the first Party applies to its nationals under its own legislation.

TITLE II APPLICABLE STATUTES

ARTICLE 6 GENERAL RULE

Unless otherwise provided in the Agreement and subject to Articles 7, 8, 9, 10 and 11, persons shall be subject only to the legislation of the Party in whose territory they are working.

ARTICLE 7 SELF-EMPLOYED PERSONS

Persons residing in the territory of one Party and working for their own account in the territory of the other Party or in the territory of both Parties shall, with respect to such work, be subject only to the legislation of their place of residence.

ARTICLE 8 DETACHED PERSONS

1. Persons subject to the legislation of one Party and temporarily detached by their employers, for a period not exceeding thirty-six months, to the territory of the other Party shall, with respect to such work, be subject only to the legislation of the first Party during the term of their detachment.

2. However, if the time required to complete the work extends over thirty-six months, with such extension not exceeding twenty-four months unless there are exceptional circumstances, the legislation of the first Party may continue to apply provided that the competent authority of Morocco and the competent institution of Québec give their approval.

3. The provisions of paragraph 1 apply to persons who are assigned to work in a facility located on the continental shelf of a Party for exploring the marine soil or subsoil of that region or for developing its natural resources.

ARTICLE 9

TRAVELLING PERSONNEL EMPLOYED BY AN INTERNATIONAL CARRIER

1. Persons who work in the territory of both Parties as travelling personnel for an international carrier which, on behalf of others or on its own account, transports passengers or goods by air or by sea, and which has its head office in the territory of one Party, shall be subject to the legislation of that Party.

2. Notwithstanding the preceding paragraph, if those persons are employed by a branch or permanent agency which the undertaking has in the territory of one Party other than the Party in whose territory it has its head office, they shall be subject only to the legislation of the Party in the territory of which the branch or permanent agency is located.

3. Notwithstanding the two preceding paragraphs, if the persons are employed wholly or mainly in the territory of the Party where they reside, they shall be subject to the legislation of that Party, even if the undertaking which employs them has neither its head office nor a branch or permanent agency in that territory.

4. A person who, in the absence of this Article, would be subject to the legislation of both Parties for work as a crew member of a ship or plane shall, with respect to such work, be subject only to the legislation of Québec if the person ordinarily resides in Québec and only to the legislation of the Kingdom of Morocco in any other case.

ARTICLE 10

PERSONS IN GOVERNMENT SERVICE

1. Persons in Government Service for one of the Parties and assigned to a posting in the territory of the other Party shall be subject only to the legislation of the first Party for all matters relative to that post.

2. Persons residing in the territory of one Party and being in that territory in Government Service for the other Party shall, with respect to that service, be subject only to the legislation applicable in that territory. However, if those persons are nationals of the Party employing them, they may, within six months from the start of the employment or the coming into force of the Agreement, elect to be subject only to the legislation of that Party.

3. For the purposes of this Article, a Canadian citizen who does not reside in Québec but who is or has been subject to the legislation of Québec is presumed to be a Québec national.

ARTICLE 11 DEROGATION FROM THE PROVISIONS ON COVERAGE

The competent authorities of both Parties may, by mutual agreement, derogate from the provisions of Articles 6, 7, 8, 9 and 10 with respect to any persons or categories of persons.

TITLE III BENEFITS

ARTICLE 12 PRINCIPLE OF TOTALIZATION

Where persons have completed periods of insurance under the legislation of both Parties and are not eligible for benefits by virtue of the periods of insurance completed solely under the legislation of one Party, the competent institution of that Party shall totalize, to the extent necessary for entitlement to benefits under the legislation applied by it, the periods of insurance completed under the legislation of each Party, provided that they do not overlap.

ARTICLE 13 BENEFITS UNDER QUÉBEC LEGISLATION

1. If persons who have been subject to the legislation of both Parties meet the requirements for entitlement to benefits, for themselves or for their dependants, survivors or other rightful claimants, under Québec legislation without having recourse to the totalization mentioned in Article 12, the competent institution of Québec shall determine the amount of benefits in accordance with the provisions of the legislation it applies.

2. If the persons referred to in paragraph 1 do not fulfill the requirements for entitlement to benefits without having recourse to totalization, the competent institution of Québec shall proceed as follows:

(a) it shall recognize one year of contributions when the competent institution of the Kingdom of Morocco certifies that a period of insurance of at least 78 days has been credited in a calendar year under the legislation of the Kingdom of Morocco, provided that the year is included in the contributory period as defined in Québec legislation;

(b) years recognized under subparagraph a shall be totalized with periods of insurance completed under Québec legislation, in accordance with Article 12.

3. When the totalization prescribed in paragraph 2 entitles persons to benefits, the competent institution of Québec shall determine the amount payable as follows:

(a) that part of the benefit which is related to earnings is calculated according to the provisions of Québec legislation;

(b) the amount of the flat-rate portion of the benefit is adjusted in proportion to the period for which contributions were paid under the legislation of Québec in relation to the contributory period defined in that legislation.

ARTICLE 14

BENEFITS UNDER THE LEGISLATION OF THE KINGDOM OF MOROCCO

1. When persons who have been subject to the legislation of both Parties meet the requirements for entitlement to benefits, for themselves or for their dependants, survivors or other rightful claimants, under the legislation of the Kingdom of Morocco without having recourse to the totalization mentioned in Article 12, the competent institution of the Kingdom of Morocco shall determine the amount of benefits in accordance with the provisions of the legislation it applies.

2. If the persons referred to in paragraph 1 do not fulfill the requirements for entitlement to benefits without totalization, the competent institution of the Kingdom of Morocco shall proceed as follows: (a) it shall recognize, as regards any year beginning on or after 1 January 1966, three hundred twelve (312)days of contribution under the statutes of the Kingdom of Morocco where the competent institution of Québec certifies that the person was credited a period of insurance under the legislation of Québec for each of those years;

(b) if the total number of days required to receive benefits is not reached having applied the preceding subparagraph, a day that is a period eligible for the purposes of the Old Age Security Act which applies in the territory of Québec and that is not part of a period of insurance under the legislation of Québec shall be considered a day of contribution under the legislation of the Kingdom of Morocco, up to a maximum of 312 days per year;

(c) days recognized under subparagraphs a and b shall be totalized with the periods of insurance completed under the legislation of the Kingdom of Morocco, in accordance with Article 12.

3. Where the totalization prescribed in paragraph 2 entitles persons to benefits, the competent institution of Morocco shall determine the amount payable as follows:

(*a*) it shall first determine the amount of benefits that the insured person could claim if all the periods of insurance or eligible periods had been completed under its own legislation only;

(b) the benefits due shall be determined by reducing the amount of benefits determined in the preceding subparagraph in proportion to the actual or deemed periods of insurance completed under the legislation of the Kingdom of Morocco in relation to all the periods of insurance totalized pursuant to Article 12.

4. For the purposes of the preceding paragraph, where entitlement to benefits is acquired by totalizing only the periods of insurance in accordance with subparagraph a of paragraph 2 of this Article, the eligible periods under the Old Age Security Act which applies in the territory of Québec shall not be taken into account to calculate the benefits due.

ARTICLE 15 SPECIAL PLANS

1. Where the legislation of the Kingdom of Morocco provides that the granting of benefits under a special plan is subject to the condition that the periods of insurance be completed in a specific profession or employment, the periods completed under the legislation of Québec shall be taken into account to determine whether a person in entitled to benefits if the periods were completed in the same profession or the same type of employment.

2. If a person does not fulfil the conditions required to be entitled to the said benefits even with the totalization provided for in paragraph 1, the periods completed under the special plan shall be taken into account in order to grant benefits under the general plan.

ARTICLE 16

AMOUNT OF THE SURVIVORS' PENSION

1. Where the death giving rise to a survivors' pension occurs before the worker's old age pension is determined, the benefits due to rightful claimants shall be liquidated on the conditions set in Article 14 or 15.

2. A widow's pension shall be paid to the beneficiaries according to the conditions provided by the personal status of the deceased insured person.

ARTICLE 17

PERIODS COMPLETED UNDER THE LEGISLATION OF THIRD PARTIES

If a person is not entitled to benefits after the totalization provided for in Article 13, 14 or 15, the periods of insurance completed under the legislation of a third party that is related to both Parties by a legal instrument respecting social security and making provisions for the totalization of periods of insurance shall be taken into account to determine if the person is entitled to benefits, in accordance with the provisions of this Title.

TITLE IV

MISCELLANEOUS

ARTICLE 18

ADMINISTRATIVE ARRANGEMENT

1. The terms and conditions for the application of the Agreement shall be set out in an administrative arrangement to be agreed to by the competent authorities.

2. The liaison agency of each Party shall be designated in the Administrative Arrangement.

ARTICLE 19 CLAIM FOR BENEFITS

1. To be entitled to a benefit under the Agreement, a person must file a claim in accordance with the terms and conditions set out in the Administrative Arrangement.

2. A claim for a benefit filed under the legislation of one Party after the date of coming into force of the Agreement shall be deemed to be a claim for a corresponding benefit under the legislation of the other Party

(a) where a person asks that the claim be considered as a claim under the legislation of the other Party; or

(b) where a person indicates, at the time of the claim, that periods of insurance have been completed under the legislation of the other Party.

The date of the receipt of such a claim shall be presumed to be the date on which that claim was received under the legislation of the first Party.

3. The presumption set out in the preceding paragraph shall not prevent a person from requesting that a claim for benefits under the legislation of the other Party be deferred.

ARTICLE 20 PAYMENT OF BENEFITS

1. Cash benefits shall be payable directly to a beneficiary without any deduction for administrative charges or for any other expenses incurred in paying the benefits.

2. Benefits under that Agreement shall be paid by the competent institutions of Québec and of the Kingdom of Morocco in tender that is legal in the place of residence of the beneficiary.

3. For the purposes of paragraph 2, where an exchange rate is required, the rate shall be the official exchange rate in force on the day payment is made.

ARTICLE 21

DEADLINE FOR FILING

1. A request, a declaration or an appeal which, under the legislation of one Party, must be filed within a prescribed time with the authority or institution of that Party shall be accepted if filed within the same time period with the corresponding authority or institution of the second Party shall immediately forward the request, declaration or appeal to the authority or institution of the first Party.

2. The date on which the request, declaration or appeal is filed with the authority or institution of one Party shall be considered the date of filing with the authority or institution of the other Party.

ARTICLE 22

MEDICAL EXAMINATION REPORTS

1. At the request of the competent institution of one Party, the competent institution of the other Party shall make the necessary arrangements to provide the medical examination reports required for persons residing or staying in the territory of the latter Party.

2. The medical examination reports referred to in paragraph 1 shall not be considered invalid solely because they have been made in the territory of the other Party.

ARTICLE 23

EXEMPTION OF FEES AND AUTHENTICATION

1. Any reduction or exemption of fees provided for in the legislation of one Party with respect to the issuing of a certificate or document required for the purposes of that legislation shall be extended to the certificates and documents required for the purposes of the legislation of the other Party.

2. Any document required for the application of the Agreement shall be exempt from authentication by the competent authorities or from any other similar procedure.

ARTICLE 24

PROTECTION OF PERSONAL INFORMATION

1. In this Article, "information" means any information from which the identity of a natural or a legal person may be easily established.

2. Unless disclosure is required under the legislation of one Party, any information communicated by an institution of one Party to an institution of the other Party shall be confidential and shall be used exclusively for the application of the Agreement.

3. Access to a file containing personal information shall be subject to the legislation of the Party in whose territory the file is located.

ARTICLE 25

MUTUAL ASSISTANCE

The competent authorities, institutions or liaison agencies shall

(a) communicate to each other any information required for the application of the Agreement;

(b) assist each other free of charge in any matter concerning the application of the Agreement;

(c) forward to each other any information on measures adopted for the application of the Agreement or on amendments to their legislation to the extent that such amendments affect the application of the Agreement;

(d) notify each other of the difficulties encountered in the interpretation or in the application of the Agreement.

ARTICLE 26

REIMBURSEMENT BETWEEN INSTITUTIONS

1. The competent institution of one Party shall reimburse to the competent institution of the other Party the costs related to each medical examination report produced in accordance with Article 22. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the transmission of medical information or other information already in the possession of the competent institutions shall constitute an integral part of administrative assistance and shall be performed without charge.

2. The Administrative Arrangement shall provide for the terms and conditions of the reimbursement of costs referred to in the previous paragraph.

ARTICLE 27 COMMUNICATION

1. The competent authorities and institutions and the liaison agencies of both Parties may communicate with each other in their official language.

2. A decision of a tribunal or of an institution may be communicated directly to a person residing in the territory of the other Party.

ARTICLE 28 SETTLEMENT OF DISPUTES

Disputes concerning the interpretation or the application of the Agreement shall be settled, to the extent possible, by the competent authorities of both Parties.

TITLE V

TRANSITIONAL AND FINAL

ARTICLE 29

TRANSITIONAL

1. The Agreement shall not confer any right to the payment of benefits for a period preceding the date of its coming into force.

2. Subject to the provisions of paragraph 1,

(a) a period of insurance completed prior to the date of the coming into force of the Agreement shall be taken into consideration for the purposes of determining entitlement to benefits under the Agreement; (b) a benefit, other than a death benefit, is due under the Agreement even if it is related to an event prior to the date of its coming into force;

(c) where benefits are payable pursuant to Article 12 and when the claim for such benefits is made within two years from the date of the coming into force of the Agreement, rights arising from the Agreement shall be acquired from that date or from the date of retirement, death or invalidity as confirmed by a medical report creating the right to benefits if such date follows, notwithstanding the provisions of the legislation of both Parties relative to the forfeiture of rights;

(d) benefits granted before the date of the coming into force of the Agreement shall be revised, at the request of the person in question. It may also be revised *ex officio*. If the revision leads to benefits lower than those which were paid before the coming into force of the Agreement, the amount of benefits previously paid shall be maintained;

(e) if a request referred to in subparagraph d is filed within two years of the date of the coming into force of the Agreement, rights arising from the Agreement shall be acquired from that date, notwithstanding the provisions of the legislation of both Parties relative to the forfeiture of rights;

(f) if a request referred to in subparagraph d is filed after the limit of two years following the coming into force of the Agreement, rights which are not forfeited shall be acquired from the date of the request, unless there are more favourable provisions in the applicable legislation.

3. For the purposes of Article 8, a person already detached at the date of the coming into force of the Agreement shall be deemed to have become detached on that date.

ARTICLE 30 EXTENSION OF SCOPE

This Agreement may be extended to other branches of social security. If so, the extension shall be the subject

ARTICLE 31

COMING INTO FORCE AND TERM

of complementary Agreements.

1. Each contracting Party shall notify the other when the internal procedures required for the coming into force of the Agreement have been completed. 2. The Agreement is entered into for an indefinite term as of the date of its coming into force, which shall be fixed by an exchange of letters between the contracting Parties. It may be denounced by either Party by notifying the other Party. The Agreement shall expire on the 31st day of December which follows the date of notification by at least twelve months.

3. If the Agreement is terminated following a denunciation, all rights acquired by a person under the provisions of the Agreement shall be maintained and negotiations shall be entered into so as to rule on the rights in the process of being acquired under the Agreement.

Done at Rabat on 25 May 2000, in two copies, in French and in Arab, both texts being equally authentic.

For the Gouvernement du Québec	For the Government of the Kingdom of Morocco
LOUISE BEAUDOIN,	KHALID ALIOUA,
Minister of International	Minister of Social
Relations	Development, Solidarity,
	Employment and
	Professional Training

9764

Gouvernement du Québec

O.C. 305-2010, 31 March 2010

An Act respecting the conservation and development of wildlife (R.S.Q., c. C-61.1)

Fees to be paid under section 106.6 of the Act — Amendments

Regulation to amend the Regulation respecting the fees to be paid under section 106.6 of the Act respecting the conservation and development of wildlife

WHEREAS, under the first and second paragraphs of section 106.6 of the Act respecting the conservation and development of wildlife (R.S.Q., c. C-61.1) the Government determines, by regulation, the part of the fees that devolve to an agency that is a party to a memorandum of agreement and that must be paid by the agency as a contribution toward the financing of the legal person certified by the Minister to act as the agency's representative as well as the terms and conditions of payment, for a period of three years from the date determined by the Government; WHEREAS, under the third paragraph of section 106.6 of the Act, the Government may extend the period during which the financing requirement provided for in the first paragraph of that section is applicable;

WHEREAS it is expedient to extend the period for three additional years, on the terms and conditions determined by the Government;

WHEREAS, under section 9 of the Act to again amend the Act respecting the conservation and development of wildlife (1997, c. 95), a regulation made under section 106.6 of the Act respecting the conservation and development of wildlife is not subject to the publication requirement set out in section 8 of the Regulations Act (R.S.Q., c. R-18.1);

WHEREAS it is expedient to make the Regulation to amend the Regulation respecting the fees to be paid under section 106.6 of the Act respecting the conservation and development of wildlife;

IT IS ORDERED, therefore, on the recommendation of the Minister of Natural Resources and Wildlife and the Minister for Natural Resources and Wildlife:

THAT the financing period provided for in the first paragraph of section 106.6 of the Act respecting the conservation and development of wildlife (R.S.Q., c. C-61.1) be extended by three additional years, on the terms and conditions determined by the Government;

THAT the Regulation to amend the Regulation respecting the fees to be paid under section 106.6 of the Act respecting the conservation and development of wildlife, attached to this Order in Council, be made.

GÉRARD BIBEAU, Clerk of the Conseil exécutif

Regulation to amend the Regulation respecting the fees to be paid under section 106.6 of the Act respecting the conservation and development of wildlife

An Act respecting the conservation and development of wildlife (R.S.Q., c. C-61.1, s. 106.6)

L• The Regulation respecting the fees to be paid under section 106.6 of the Act respecting the conservation and development of wildlife (R.R.Q., c. C-61.1, r.17) is amended by replacing section 2 by the following:

"2. Every agency must, in accordance with section 106.6 of the Act, pay the non-profit legal person referred to in section 106.3 of that Act, for 2010, 2011 and 2012, a sum representing the total of the following amounts:

(1) a basic amount of \$1,100, plus 1.1% of the amount collected as membership fees by the agency, to travel about the territory under its management or to hunt, fish or carry on another recreational activity, during the fiscal year of the year preceding the current year by 2 years. That amount may not exceed \$4,850 for the year 2010; and

(2) an amount of \$2 multiplied by the number of the agency's members in good standing.

The total of those 2 amounts may not exceed \$8,000 for the year 2010.

The amounts in subparagraph 1 of the first paragraph and the second paragraph are adjusted on 1 April of the subsequent years by applying to their value for the preceding year the annual percentage change in the Consumer Price Index (CPI) calculated for the month of June of the preceding year and published by Statistics Canada. If the percentage is negative, no adjustment is made.

The Minister is to publish the results of the adjustment in Part 1 of the *Gazette officielle du Québec* and may publicize more broadly using any other appropriate means.".

2. Section 3 is replaced by the following:

"3. The amount established pursuant to section 2 is paid by the agency in 2 equal annual instalments, on 1 June and on 1 October.".

3. This Regulation comes into force on the date of its publication in the *Gazette officielle du Québec*.

9765

Gouvernement du Québec

O.C. 318-2010, 31 March 2010

An Act respecting labour standards (R.S.Q., c. N-1.1)

Labour standards — Amendments

Regulation to amend the Regulation respecting labour standards

WHEREAS, under the first paragraph of section 40, paragraph 1 of section 89 and the first paragraph of section 91 of the Act respecting labour standards (R.S.Q., c. N-1.1), the Government may, by regulation, fix labour standards respecting the minimum wage; WHEREAS the Government made the Regulation respecting labour standards (R.R.Q., c. N-1.1, r.3);

WHEREAS it is expedient to amend the Regulation;

WHEREAS, in accordance with sections 10 and 11 of the Regulations Act (R.S.Q., c. R-18.1), a draft of the Regulation to amend the Regulation respecting labour standards was published in Part 2 of the *Gazette officielle du Québec* of 16 December 2009 with a notice that it could be made by the Government on the expiry of 45 days following that publication;

WHEREAS the 45-day period has expired;

WHEREAS it is expedient to make the Regulation with amendments;

IT IS ORDERED, therefore, on the recommendation of the Minister of Labour:

THAT the Regulation to amend the Regulation respecting labour standards, attached to this Order in Council, be made

GÉRARD BIBEAU Clerk of the Conseil exécutif

Regulation to amend the Regulation respecting labour standards

An Act respecting labour standards (R.S.Q., c. N-1.1, s. 40, 1st par., s. 89, par. 1, and s. 91, 1st par.)

1• The Regulation respecting labour standards (c. N-1.1, r.3) is amended in section 3 by replacing "\$9.00" by "\$9.50".

2. Section 4 is amended by replacing "\$8.00" by "\$8.25".

3. Section 4.1 is amended

(1) by replacing the first paragraph by the following:

"The minimum wage payable to an employee assigned mainly to non-mechanized operations relating to the picking of raspberries or strawberries is established on the basis of yield according to the following rules:

(1) for an employee assigned to the picking of raspberries: \$2.80 per kilogram;

(2) for an employee assigned to the picking of strawberries: \$0.74 per kilogram.";

(2) by striking out the last paragraph.

4. Paragraph 6 of section 2 of the Regulation, as it read before ceasing to have effect pursuant to section 3 of the Regulation to amend the Regulation respecting labour standards, made by Order in Council 283-2007 dated 28 March 2007, is made again and will cease to have effect on 1 January 2011.

5. This Regulation comes into force on 1 May 2010.

9766

Gouvernement du Québec

O.C. 319-2010, 31 March 2010

An Act respecting labour standards (R.S.Q., c. N-1.1)

Clothing industry

Labour standards specific to certain sectors Amendment

Regulation to amend the Regulation respecting labour standards specific to certain sectors of the clothing industry

WHEREAS, under section 92.1 of the Act respecting labour standards (R.S.Q., c. N-1.1), the Government may by regulation, after consulting with the most representative employees' and employers' associations in the clothing industry, in respect of all employers and employees in certain sectors of the clothing industry, fix labour standards respecting, among other matters, the minimum wage;

WHEREAS the Government made the Regulation respecting labour standards specific to certain sectors of the clothing industry (R.R.Q., c. N-1.1, r.4);

WHEREAS it is expedient to amend the Regulation;

WHEREAS, in accordance with sections 10 and 11 of the Regulations Act (R.S.Q., c. R-18.1), a draft of the Regulation to amend the Regulation respecting labour standards specific to certain sectors of the clothing industry was published in Part 2 of the *Gazette officielle du Québec* of 16 December 2009 with a notice that it could be made by the Government on the expiry of 45 days following that publication;

WHEREAS the 45-day period has expired;

WHEREAS the consultations required by law have been held;

WHEREAS it is expedient to make the Regulation without amendment;

IT IS ORDERED, therefore, on the recommendation of the Minister of Labour:

THAT the Regulation to amend the Regulation respecting labour standards specific to certain sectors of the clothing industry, attached to this Order in Council, be made.

GÉRARD BIBEAU, Clerk of the Conseil exécutif

Regulation to amend the Regulation respecting labour standards specific to certain sectors of the clothing industry

An Act respecting labour standards (R.S.Q., c. N-1.1, s. 92.1, 1st par., subpar. 1)

1• The Regulation respecting labour standards specific to certain sectors of the clothing industry (c. N-1.1, r.4) is amended in section 3 by replacing "\$9.00" by "\$9.50".

2. This Regulation comes into force on 1 May 2010.

9767

Gouvernement du Québec

O.C. 320-2010, 31 March 2010

An Act respecting collective agreement decrees (R.S.Q., c. D-2)

Solid waste removal – Montréal — Amendment

Decree to amend the Decree respecting solid waste removal in the Montréal region

WHEREAS, under section 2 of the Act respecting collective agreement decrees (R.S.Q., c. D-2), the Government made the Decree respecting solid waste removal in the Montréal region (R.R.Q., c. D-2, r.5);

WHEREAS the contracting parties to the Decree have, under section 6.1 of the Act, applied to the Minister of Labour for amendments to the Decree;

WHEREAS the Government may amend a collective agreement decree under sections 2 and 6.1 of the Act;

WHEREAS, under section 7 of the Act, notwithstanding section 17 of the Regulations Act (R.S.Q., c. R-18.1), a decree comes into force on the day of its publication in the *Gazette officielle du Québec* or on any later date fixed therein;

WHEREAS, in accordance with sections 10 and 11 of the Regulations Act and sections 5 and 6.1 of the Act respecting collective agreement decrees, a draft of the Decree to amend the Decree respecting solid waste removal in the Montréal region was published in Part 2 of the *Gazette officielle du Québec* of 16 December 2009 and, on the same date, in a French language newspaper and an English language newspaper, with a notice that it could be made by the Government on the expiry of the 45-day period following that publication;

WHEREAS no comments were received in respect of the draft Decree;

WHEREAS it is expedient to make the draft Decree without amendment;

IT IS ORDERED, therefore, on the recommendation of the Minister of Labour:

THAT the Decree to amend the Decree respecting solid waste removal in the Montréal region, attached hereto, be made.

GÉRARD BIBEAU, Clerk of the Conseil exécutif

Decree to amend the Decree respecting solid waste removal in the Montréal region

An Act respecting collective agreement decrees (R.S.Q., c. D-2, ss. 2 and 6.1)

L• The Decree respecting solid waste removal in the Montréal region (c. D-2, r.5) is amended by replacing section 6.01 by the following:

"6.01. The minimum hourly wage is the following:

Class of employment	As of 2010 07 04	As of 2011 07 04	As of 2012 07 04
1. Full-time employee:			
A) driveri. self-loading truck:ii. side-loading truck:iii. other vehicle:	\$19.00 \$19.89 \$18.79	\$19.50 \$20.39 \$19.29	\$20.00 \$20.89 \$19.79

Class of employment	As of 2010 07 04	As of 2011 07 04	As of 2012 07 04
B) helper:	\$18.47	\$18.97	\$19.47
2. Part-time employee:			
A) truck driver any category:	\$18.21	\$18.71	\$19.21
B) helper:	\$17.93	\$18.43	\$18.93

2. This Decree comes into force on the day of its publication in the *Gazette officielle du Québec*.

9768

Gouvernement du Québec

O.C. 321-2010, 31 March 2010

An Act respecting collective agreement decrees (R.S.Q., c. D-2)

Security guards — Amendments

Decree to amend the Decree respecting security guards

WHEREAS, under section 2 of the Act respecting collective agreement decrees (R.S.Q., c. D-2), the Government made the Decree respecting security guards (R.R.Q., c. D-2, r.1);

WHEREAS the contracting parties to the Decree have, under section 6.1 of the Act, applied to the Minister of Labour for amendments to the Decree;

WHEREAS the Government may amend a collective agreement decree under sections 2 and 6.1 of the Act;

WHEREAS, under section 7 of the Act, notwithstanding section 17 of the Regulations Act (R.S.Q., c. R-18.1), a decree comes into force on the day of its publication in the *Gazette officielle du Québec* or on any later date fixed therein;

WHEREAS, in accordance with sections 10 and 11 of the Regulations Act and sections 5 and 6.1 of the Act respecting collective agreement decrees, a draft of the Decree to amend the Decree respecting security guards was published in Part 2 of the *Gazette officielle du Québec* of 16 December 2009 and, on the same date, in a French language newspaper and an English language newspaper, with a notice that it could be made by the Government on the expiry of the 45-day period following that publication; WHEREAS no comments were received in respect of the draft Decree;

WHEREAS it is expedient to make the draft Decree without amendment;

IT IS ORDERED, therefore, on the recommendation of the Minister of Labour:

THAT the Decree to amend the Decree respecting security guards, attached hereto, be made.

GÉRARD BIBEAU, Clerk of the Conseil exécutif

Decree to amend the Decree respecting security guards

An Act respecting collective agreement decrees (R.S.Q., c. D-2, ss. 2 and 6.1)

1• The Decree respecting security guards (c. D-2, r.1) is amended in section 4.07

(1) by inserting the following after the first paragraph:

"A Class B employee entrusted with the direction or supervision of one or several Class B employees receives \$0.25 per hour in addition to the hourly rate set in the first paragraph for a Class B employee.";

(2) by striking out the fourth and fifth paragraphs.

2. Schedule I to the Decree is revoked.

3. This Decree comes into force on the day of its publication in the *Gazette officielle du Québec*.

9769

Draft Regulations

Draft regulation

Professional Code (R.S.Q., c. C-26)

Pharmacists

- Professional activities that may be engaged in by persons other than pharmacists

Notice is hereby given, in accordance with sections 10 and 11 of the Regulations Act (R.S.Q., c. R-18.1), that the Regulation respecting the professional activities that may be engaged in by persons other than pharmacists, made by the board of directors of the Ordre des pharmaciens du Québec, may be submitted to the Government which may approve it with or without amendment on the expiry of 45 days following this publication.

The purpose of this Regulation is to

(1) determine, among the professional activities that may be engaged in by pharmacists, those that may be engaged in by a person registered in a program of study leading to a diploma giving access to the permit, a person admitted to the internship, a person who must successfully complete courses or internships to obtain a diploma equivalence, training, or an equivalence of additional conditions, or a person registered in the program Maîtrise en pharmacie d'hôpital of Université Laval or the program Maîtrise en pratique pharmaceutique of the Université de Montréal; and

(2) specify the terms and conditions according to which those professional activities may be engaged in by those persons.

The Order advises that the Regulation has no impact on enterprises, including small and medium-sized businesses.

Further information may be obtained by contacting Manon Lambert, Director General and Secretary of the Ordre des pharmaciens du Québec, 266, rue Notre-Dame Ouest, bureau 301, Montréal (Québec) H2Y 1T6; telephone: 514 284-9588 or 1 800 363-0324; fax: 514 284-2285.

Any person wishing to comment on the draft Regulation is requested to submit written comments within the 45-day period to the Chair of the Office des professions du Québec, 800, place D'Youville, 10^e étage, Québec (Québec) G1R 5Z3. The comments will be forwarded by the Office to the Minister of Justice; they may also be sent to the professional order that made the Regulation as well as to interested persons, departments and bodies.

JEAN PAUL DUTRISAC, Chair of the Office des professions du Québec

Regulation respecting the professional activities that may be engaged in by persons other than pharmacists

Professional Code (R.S.Q., c. C-26, s. 94, par. *h*)

1. The purpose of this Regulation is to determine, among the professional activities that may be engaged in by members of the Ordre des pharmaciens du Québec, those that, on the terms and conditions set out herein, may be engaged in by the following persons:

(1) a person registered in a program of study in pharmacy leading to a diploma giving access to the permit issued by the Order;

(2) a person admitted to the internship within the meaning of the Regulation respecting the terms and conditions for the issue of permits by the Ordre des pharmaciens du Québec (O.C. 231-93, 93-02-24);

(3) a person whose training or internship equivalence is granted in part, as the case may be, under the Regulation respecting diploma and training equivalence standards for the issue of a pharmacist's permit (O.C. 541-2008, 08-05-28) or the Regulation respecting the terms and conditions for the issue of permits by the Ordre des pharmaciens du Québec and who must successfully complete courses or internships to obtain full equivalence;

(4) a pharmacy resident, namely a person registered in the program Maîtrise en pharmacie d'hôpital of Université Laval or the program Maîtrise en pratique pharmaceutique of the Université de Montréal.

2. Among the activities that may be engaged in by members of the Order, a person referred to in section 1 may engage in those that are required to complete a program of study, internship or training, as the case may be, on the following conditions:

Part 2

(1) be registered in the register kept for that purpose by the Order;

(2) engage in the activities under the supervision of a pharmacist present in the pharmacy or in the centre operated by a health institution within the meaning of the Act respecting health services and social services (R.S.Q., c. S-4.2) or the Act respecting health services and social services for Cree Native persons (R.S.Q., c. S-5) where the activities are engaged in, who is available to intervene on short notice; and

(3) engage in the activities in keeping with the rules applicable to members of the Order, in particular those regarding ethics and recognized standards in the practice of pharmacy.

3. A person referred to in paragraphs 1 to 3 of section 1 who has the required knowledge and skills may, outside the framework of a program of study, internship or training, engage in the activities set out in subparagraphs 1 to 4 of the second paragraph of section 17 of the Pharmacy Act (R.S.Q., c. P-10) on the conditions set out in section 2.

4. A person referred to in paragraph 4 of section 1 who has the required knowledge and skills may, outside the framework of a program of study, internship or training, engage in the activities described in subparagraphs 1 to 5 of the second paragraph of section 17 of the Pharmacy Act on the conditions set out in section 2.

5. A person referred to in section 1 who has completed an undergraduate or graduate program of study, an internship or training, or who has been granted equivalence may, on the conditions set out in section 2, continue to engage in the activities described in sub-paragraphs 1 to 5 of the second paragraph of section 17 of the Pharmacy Act for 3 months following the date of completion of the program of study, internship or training, or the date on which equivalence was granted.

6. This Regulation comes into force on the fifteenth day following the date of its publication in the *Gazette officielle du Québec*.

9753

Draft Regulation

An Act respecting transportation services by taxi (R.S.Q., c. S-6.01)

Transportation services by taxi — Amendment

Notice is hereby given, in accordance with sections 10 and 11 of the Regulations Act (R.S.Q., c. R-18.1), that the Regulation to amend the Taxi Transportation Regulation, appearing below, may be made by the Minister of Transport on the expiry of 45 days following this publication.

The draft Regulation provides that the holder of a taxi owner's permit must use a vehicle which is no more than 6 years old as of the date of the application to the Commission des transports du Québec in order to have a disabled accessible taxi attached to the permit.

Further information may be obtained by contacting France Dompierre, Direction du transport terrestre des personnes, Ministère des Transports du Québec, 700, boulevard René-Lévesque Est, 25^e étage, Québec (Québec) G1R 5H1; telephone: 418 644-0324, extension 2207; fax: 418 646-4904.

Any person wishing to comment on the draft Regulation is requested to submit written comments within the 45-day period to the Minister of Transport, 700, boulevard René-Lévesque Est, 29^e étage, Québec (Québec) G1R 5H1.

JULIE BOULET, *Minister of Transport*

Regulation to amend the Taxi Transportation Regulation^{*}

An Act respecting transportation services by taxi (R.S.Q., c. S-6.01, s. 88, par. 5)

I. The Taxi Transportation Regulation is amended in section 22

(1) by replacing "permis propriétaire de taxi" in the French text of the first paragraph by "permis de propriétaire de taxi";

^{*} The Taxi Transportation Regulation, made by Order in Council 690-2002 dated 5 June 2002 (2002, *G.O.* 2, 2602), was last amended by Order in Council 886-2008 dated 10 September 2008 (2008, *G.O.* 2, 4641). For previous amendments, refer to the *Tableau des modifications et Index sommaire*, Québec Official Publisher, updated to 1 November 2009.

(2) by inserting ", as of the date of the application to the Commission to have it attached to a taxi owner's permit, be no more than 6 years old, and" after "may" in the last paragraph.

2. This Regulation comes into force on the fifteenth day following the date of its publication in the *Gazette officielle du Québec*.

9754

Index

Abbreviations: A: Abrogated, N: New, M: Modified

	Page	Comments
Agreement on social security between the Gouvernement du Québec and the Government of the Kingdom of Morocco — Ratification of the Agreement and Regulation respecting the implementation (An Act respecting the Ministère de l'Emploi et de la Solidarité sociale and establishing the Commission des partenaires du marché du travail, R.S.Q., c. M-15.001)	857	Ν
Agreement on social security between the Gouvernement du Québec and the Government of the Kingdom of Morocco — Ratification of the Agreement and Regulation respecting the implementation	857	Ν
Agreement on social security between the Gouvernement du Québec and the Government of the Kingdom of Morocco — Ratification of the Agreement and Regulation respecting the implementation (An Act respecting the Québec Pension Plan, R.S.Q., c. R-9)	857	Ν
Brokerage requirements, professional conduct of brokers and advertising (Real Estate Brokerage Act, 2008, c. 9)	837	Ν
Clothing industry — Labour standards specific to certain sectors	867	М
Collective agreement decrees, An Act respecting — Security guards (R.S.Q., c. D-2)	868	М
Collective agreement decrees, An Act respecting — Solid waste removal – Montréal	867	М
Conservation and development of wildlife, An Act respecting the — Fees to be paid under section 106.6 of the Act	865	М
Contracts and forms	850	Ν
Disciplinary proceedings of the Organisme d'autoréglementation du courtage immobilier du Québec	829	Ν
Enact transitional measures for the application of the Act	852	Ν
Fees to be paid under section 106.6 of the Act	865	Μ
Issue of broker's and agency licences	811	Ν
Labour standards	866	М
Labour standards, An Act respecting — Clothing industry — Labour standards specific to certain sectors	867	М

Labour standards, An Act respecting — Labour standards	866	М
Ministère de l'Emploi et de la Solidarité sociale and establishing the Commission des partenaires du marché du travail, An Act respecting the — Agreement on social security between the Gouvernement du Québec and the Government of the Kingdom of Morocco — Ratification of the Agreement and Regulation respecting the implementation	857	N
Ministère du Revenu, An Act respecting the — Agreement on social security between the Gouvernement du Québec and the Government of the Kingdom of Morocco — Ratification of the Agreement and Regulation respecting the implementation	857	N
Pension plans in the public sector, An Act to amend various legislative provisions concerning — Coming into force of certain provisions of the Act	809	
Pharmacists — Professional activities that may be engaged in by persons other than pharmacists	871	Draft
Professional Code — Pharmacists — Professional activities that may be engaged in by persons other than pharmacists	871	Draft
Québec Pension Plan, An Act respecting the — Agreement on social security between the Gouvernement du Québec and the Government of the Kingdom of Morocco — Ratification of the Agreement and Regulation respecting the implementation	857	N
Real Estate Brokerage Act — Brokerage requirements, professional conduct of brokers and advertising	837	N
Real Estate Brokerage Act — Coming into force of certain provisions	809	
Real Estate Brokerage Act — Contracts and forms	850	Ν
Real Estate Brokerage Act — Disciplinary proceedings of the Organisme d'autoréglementation du courtage immobilier du Québec	829	N
Real Estate Brokerage Act — Enact transitional measures for the application of the Act	852	N
Real Estate Brokerage Act — Issue of broker's and agency licences	811	Ν
Real Estate Brokerage Act — Real Estate Indemnity Fund and determination of the professional liability insurance premium	835	N
Real Estate Brokerage Act — Records, books and registers, trust accounting and inspection of brokers and agencies	820	Ν

Real Estate Indemnity Fund and determination of the professional liability insurance premium	835	Ν
Records, books and registers, trust accounting and inspection of brokers and agencies	820	Ν
Securities Act and other legislative provisions, An Act to amend the — Coming into force of certain provisions	809	
Security guards	868	М
Solid waste removal – Montréal	867	М
Transportation services by taxi	872	Draft
Transportation services by taxi, An Act respecting — Transportation services by taxi	872	Draft
Various legislative provisions principally to tighten the regulation of the financial sector, An Act to amend — Coming into force of certain provisions	809	